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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

THE COMPANY
Apogee Enterprises, Inc. is a holding company incorporated under the laws of
the State of Minnesota in 1949. The Company, through its operating subsidiaries,
is primarily engaged in the fabrication, distribution and installation of

value-added glass products and window and curtainwall systems. Approximately
sixty percent of the Company's revenues are generated from the architectural and
nonresidential construction markets, with the other forty percent coming from
operations serving the auto glass market. Three business segments comprise
Apogee's operations: Glass Technologies (GT) serves the construction and imaging
and display markets. Auto Glass (AG) serves the automotive glass replacement and
repair market. Building Products & Services (BPS) serves certain sectors of the
commercial and institutional, detention and security building markets. Financial
information about the Company's segments can be found at Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements of Apogee Enterprises, Inc. contained in a
separate section of this report. See "Index of Financial Statements and
Schedules".
Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms "Company" and "Apogee" as
used herein refer to Apogee Enterprises, Inc. and its subsidiaries.
GLASS TECHNOLOGIES

The businesses of the Glass Technologies segment add value to ordinary glass
through fabrication of high-technology coatings products which provide strength,
energy efficiency in high-rise structures and optical clarity for mirrors, glare
filter screens and picture frame glass. The operating units in this segment
include Viracon, an architectural glass unit, Viratec Thin Films (Viratec), a
producer of coated glass for computer anti-glare screens and other optical
devices and Tru Vue, a picture framing glass unit.
Viracon fabricates finished glass products and provides glass coating
services. The operating unit purchases flat, unprocessed glass in bulk
quantities from which a variety of glass products are fabricated, including
insulated, heat processed and laminated architectural glass; security glass and
laminated industrial glass.

Laminated glass consists of two or more pieces of glass fused with a plastic
interlayer and is used primarily for strength and safety in skylights and in
security applications. Sales of laminated safety glass products have increased
with the adoption of federal and state safety glazing standards. Glass is heated
to its softening point then cooled very quickly to create heat-processed glass.
The heating and cooling strengthen the glass to withstand impact and wind or
snow loads. This process is used in architectural glass. Insulating glass,
comprised of two or more pieces of glass separated by a sealed air space, is
used in architectural and residential applications for thermal control.
Viracon's reflective and low-emissivity coatings reduce energy costs and provide
innovative design features for window and curtainwall systems. Low-emissivity
coatings are an invisible, metallic film deposited on glass which selectively
limits the transfer of heat through the glass. Low-emissivity coated glass
represents a fast-growing segment of both residential and nonresidential glass
markets.
The Viracon unit is able to fabricate all types of architectural glass
(insulating, laminated and combinations of both) at its Owatonna, Minnesota
facility. Combined with its glass coating capabilities, the unit is able to
provide a full range of products from these facilities. In March 1998, Viracon
announced that it will invest $35 million to build a new facility in Statesboro,
Georgia. The new facility, together with the planned expansion at the Owatonna
facility, are expected to add approximately 80 percent of production capacity
over the next few years.
Viracon markets its products nationally and overseas to glass distributors,
contractors (including BPS) and industrial glass fabricators. A substantial
portion of its glass products is delivered to customers by Viracon's fleet of
company-owned trucks, providing "backhaul" capability for its raw materials,
thereby reducing shipping time, transportation costs and breakage expense.

Viratec develops advanced, optical-display and imaging coatings for glass and
other surfaces. These products are used in anti-glare computer screens, highquality optical components and high performance mirror products for the imaging
industry. Viratec markets optical display and imaging products to both domestic

and overseas customers. These customers provide further assembly, marketing and
distribution to end users. In February 1998, Viratec's Optium(TM) (formerly
known as CaRT(R)) business, which coats the curved glass surfaces of cathode ray
tubes (CRTs) used inside computer monitors, announced plans to move its
operation near to its customers' facilities and the natural flow of CRTs. By
bringing the coater nearer to its customers, Viratec hopes to maximize the
utility of its Optium operation and reduce two critical cost elements that
hampered demand and profitability -- shipping and logistical cycle time. The new
Optium facility is expected to be operating by the end of calendar 1998.
Tru Vue is one of the largest domestic manufacturers of picture framing glass.
Tru Vue provides its customers with a full array of picture framing glass
products, including clear, reflection control, which diminishes reflection, and
conservation glass, which blocks ultraviolet rays. Tru Vue is also a
manufacturer of conservation picture framing matboard, which complements the
unit's glass product offerings. The products are distributed primarily through
independent distributors which, in turn, supply local picture framing markets.
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AUTO GLASS

The Auto Glass (AG) segment is engaged in the auto glass replacement and
repair business through its Harmon AutoGlass service centers (retail), Glass
Depot wholesale centers (wholesale) and Curvlite fabrication center.
Harmon AutoGlass operates auto glass service centers in 43 states. The centers
replace and repair auto glass on the premises and also provide mobile
installation service. Primary customers include insurance companies (on behalf
of their insured clients), fleet owners and car owners. The service centers also
carry limited inventories of flat glass, which are sold at retail for such
purposes as home window repair and table tops. Some automotive accessories are
also sold and installed at certain service centers. Quality service is
emphasized in all service centers. The Company believes Harmon AutoGlass is the
second-largest auto glass retailer in the United States. The unit also operates
two call centers (Centers) for handling auto glass claims. The Centers, on
behalf of their insurance company and fleet customers, handle replacement glass
claims made by policyholders or fleet owners. Calls are placed through a
toll-free number and then routed to one of the Centers located in Orlando,
Florida or Eau Claire, Wisconsin. Customer service agents arrange for the prompt
replacement or repair of auto glass by either a Harmon AutoGlass service center
or an affiliated shop member of the Center's network and begin the process of
filing the claim electronically with the applicable insurance company. The
Center subcontracts for replacement and repair services with over 3,300 auto
glass stores nationwide. The unit seeks to maximize the electronic exchange of
information, which reduces claim costs and eliminates errors. This type of
service is an essential requirement to become one of the few choice providers
for insurance companies.

The AG wholesale centers, known as "Glass Depot", supply the Harmon AutoGlass
service centers with auto and flat glass and related products as well as selling
wholesale to other glass installers. Due to the variety of makes and models of
automobiles, auto glass service centers typically stock only windshields for the
most popular models. As a result, there is a demand for distributors to maintain
inventories of auto glass and to provide prompt delivery. Through the segment's
National Distribution Center (NDC), a mega-distribution center offering other
manufacturers' products as well as its own for both domestic and foreign
vehicles, the segment is able to maintain a broad selection of automotive glass.
The NDC also offers AutoGlass Express, a delivery system which allows the unit
to fill customers' orders on an individual basis versus the industry norm of
truckload orders. Purchases of fabricated automotive glass are made from several
primary glass manufacturers and fabricators, including the segment's Curvlite
unit.
Curvlite fabricates replacement windshields for foreign and domestic
automobiles and laminated glass parts for the transportation industry. It
fabricates approximately 800 types of replacement windshields which are marketed

nationally to distributors and glass shops, including the Glass Depot wholesale
centers. Curvlite seeks to offer a broad selection of windshields by promptly
adding new windshields as new models are introduced.

On February 28, 1998, the AG segment had 73 wholesale locations and 340
service centers. The segment evaluates opportunities to expand both its retail
and wholesale auto glass locations, while closely monitoring existing units'
profitability.
Under a franchise agreement with Midas International Corporation, the segment
operates eight Midas Muffler locations in Minnesota, South Dakota, North Dakota
and Wisconsin.
BUILDING PRODUCTS & SERVICES

The Company's Building Products & Services (BPS) segment operates principally
in the design, engineering and installation of custom and standard curtainwall
and window systems for commercial, institutional as well as specialized
detention and security building products and services. BPS' four operating units
are Detention & Security, Full Service, New Construction and Architectural
Products.
BPS competes in the detention and security market through its Norment
operating unit, which is a leader in the design, manufacture and installation of
institutional and governmental security and detention systems in the United
States. The unit's products include complex windows, doors and monitoring
systems for high-security buildings such as prisons, jails, convenience stores,
hospitals, schools and other governmental facilities.

BPS' Full Service group has ten locations operating as Harmon, Inc. located in
major metropolitan areas. The locations offer complete design, engineering,
installation and replacement or glazing services for commercial, institutional
and other buildings. In addition, this unit offers 24-hour replacement service
for storm or vandalism damage. In-house engineering capabilities allow Full
Service to duplicate the original design or create a completely new appearance
for renovated buildings.

BPS' New Construction unit, known as Harmon, Ltd., is one largest designers
and installers of curtainwall and window systems for nonresidential construction
in the United States. During fiscal 1998, the segment made the strategic
decision to exit its European and Asian international curtainwall operations.
The unit has offices in several major metropolitan areas in the United States.
All of the offices typically design, assemble and install a building's exterior
"skin" or curtainwall. Curtainwall is an exterior multi-story wall consisting of
an aluminum framing system anchored to steel or concrete, "glazed" (filled) with
glass in the vision areas and with panels in the nonvision (spandrel) areas.
Panels are
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usually made from aluminum, precast concrete or natural stone. The segment
procures its materials from a number of independent fabricators, including the
BPS' Architectural Products group and Glass Technology's Viracon unit. Harmon,
Ltd. also sometimes serves as a stone subcontractor, setting stone on both the
exterior and interior of buildings.
The Architectural Products unit of BPS designs and manufactures high-quality,
thermally-efficient aluminum window and curtainwall systems under the "Wausau
Metals" (Wausau) trade name. These products meet high standards of wind load
capacity and resistance to air and moisture seepage. Wausau's aluminum window
frame designs are engineered to be thermally efficient, utilizing high-strength
polyurethane to limit the transfer of heat or cold through the window frame.
Products are marketed through a nationwide network of distributors and a direct
sales staff. Sales are made to building contractors, including BPS' New
Construction unit, and to building owners for retrofitting older buildings.
Wausau maintains design and product engineering staffs to prepare aluminum

window and curtainwall system designs to fit customers' needs and to originate
new product designs. Wausau occasionally joins the New Construction unit in
pursuing certain projects, as many architects and general contractors prefer to
work with an experienced curtainwall subcontractor and manufacturer team.
Operating under the "Linetec" name, the Architectural Products unit also has
two metal coating facilities which provide anodized and fluoropolymer coatings
to metal. Anodizing is the electrolytic process of putting a protective, often
colored, oxide film on light metal, typically aluminum. Fluoropolymer coatings
are high quality paints which are sometimes preferred over anodizing because of
the wide color selection. Coatings are applied to window and curtainwall
components for industrial metal fabricators (including Wausau Metals), as well
as other companies' metal, plastic, wood or glass products.
Harmon, Ltd. and Harmon, Inc. are subject to normal subcontractor's risks,
including material and wage increases, construction and transportation work
stoppages and contractor credit worthiness. In addition, office vacancy rates,
tax laws concerning real estate and interest rates are important factors which
affect nonresidential construction markets.

COMPETITION
The Company's businesses are in industries that are, in general, fairly mature
and highly competitive. The Glass Technologies segment competes with several
large integrated glass manufacturers and numerous smaller specialty fabricators.
Product pricing and service are the primary competitive factors in this market.
The Auto Glass segment competes with other auto glass shops, glass warehouses,
car dealers, body shops and fabrication facilities on the basis of pricing and
customer service. Its competition consists of national and regional chains as
well as significant local competition. The curtainwall subcontractor business is
primarily price competitive, although BPS' New Construction's reputation for
quality engineering and service is an important factor in receiving invitations
to bid on large complex projects. BPS' Architectural Products unit competes
against several major aluminum window manufacturers and primarily serves the
custom portion of the construction market in which the primary competitive
factors are product quality, reliable service and the ability to provide
technical engineering and design services.
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MARKETS

GT services the architectural glass, computer, optical imaging and picture
framing glass markets in which coated glass is becoming the industry standard.
These markets are very competitive, highly responsive to new products and can be
price sensitive. The Company believes that GT possesses one of the world's
largest coating capacities for glass and is a leading fabricator and global
distributor of high-performance architectural glass. Its fully integrated, glass
fabrication and coating capabilities allow the segment to meet customer needs
and react quickly to market demands while improving margins and developing new
products.

AG services the automotive glass aftermarket, which is influenced by a variety
of factors, including new car sales, speed limits, road conditions, the economy,
weather and average number of miles driven. A transformation of the industry's
pricing structure has intensified competition. In recent years, major purchasers
of auto glass, such as insurance companies, have increasingly requested volume
pricing and insurance claims processing on a national scale. As a result,
margins have narrowed at the retail level and, to a lesser extent, at wholesale
and manufacturing levels.

BPS serves the domestic nonresidential construction market, which tends to be
cyclical and has been on a slow to moderate recovery, both in terms of dollars
and square feet of new contract awards. This market was hard hit due to
overbuilding in past years, tax law changes, tightening credit standards,
business restructuring and other factors. The resulting contraction in demand

for building materials and construction services has intensified competition,
squeezed profit margins and contributed to some business failures in the market
sectors served by the Company. In response to these circumstances, BPS has
consolidated manufacturing facilities, closed offices and reduced personnel and
discretionary expenses. It has also redirected its marketing focus to sectors
with relative strength, including remodeling, institutional, detention and
security markets.
SOURCES AND AVAILABILITY OF RAW MATERIALS

None of the Company's operating units are significantly dependent upon any one
supplier. The Company believes a majority of its raw materials (bulk flat glass,
aluminum extrusions, automotive glass and related materials) are available from
a variety of domestic sources.

TRADEMARKS AND PATENTS
The Company has several nationally recognized trademarks and trade names which
it believes have significant value in the marketing of its products. Harmon
AutoGlass(R), Harmon Contract(R), Norment(R), Airteq(R), Viratec(R), Tru Vue(R),
and Linetec(R) are registered trademarks and Glass Depot(R) and Optium(R) are
listed trademarks of the Company. Viratec Thin Films has obtained several
patents pertaining to its glass coating methods. However, no single patent is
considered to be materially important to the Company.
FOREIGN OPERATIONS AND EXPORT SALES
During the years ended February 28, 1998, March 1, 1997 and March 2, 1996, the
Company's export sales, principally from GT operations, amounted to
approximately $71,821,000, $61,855,000 and $38,348,000, respectively.
During fiscal 1998, the BPS segment decided to close or exit its European and
Asian international curtainwall operations. Sales for those operations were
approximately $29,834,000, $120,318,000 and $114,305,000 for the years ended
February 28, 1998, March 1, 1997 and March 2, 1996, respectively. Operating
losses for 1998, 1997 and 1996, were $115,709,000, $5,716,000 and $1,983,000,
respectively. At February 28, 1998, March 1, 1997 and March 2, 1996, the
identifiable assets of foreign operations totaled $11,417,000, $86,866,000 and
$58,753,000, respectively. At February 28, 1998, the backlog of work for
Asian projects was approximately $15 million.
EMPLOYEES
The Company employed 6,672 persons at February 28, 1998, of whom 1,010 were
represented by labor unions. The Company is a party to 132 collective bargaining
agreements with several different unions. Approximately 33% of the collective
bargaining agreements will expire during fiscal 1999. The number of collective
bargaining agreements to which the Company is a party will vary with the number
of cities with active nonresidential construction contracts. The Company
considers its employee relations to be very good and has not recently
experienced any significant loss of work days due to strike.
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BACKLOG

The backlog of orders is significant in the Company's construction-related BPS
segment. At February 28, 1998, the Company's total backlog of orders considered
to be firm was $308,234,000 compared with $358,169,000 at March 1, 1997. This
amount included $114 million related to BPS' curtainwall operations,
approximately $35 million of which is not expected to be reflected as revenue in
fiscal 1999.

ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

The following table lists, by division, the Company's major facilities, the
general use of the facility and whether it is owned or leased by the Company.
Facility
- --------

Location
--------

Owned/Leased Function
------------ --------

Glass Technologies
- ------------------

Viracon
Viracon - Coatings Bldg
Viratec Thin Films, Inc.
Tru Vue

Owatonna, MN
Owatonna, MN
Faribault, MN
Chicago, IL

Owned
Owned
Owned
Owned

Mfg./Admin.
Mfg.
Mfg./Admin.
Mfg./Admin.

Owatonna, MN
Owatonna, MN

Owned
Owned

Mfg./Admin.
Warehouse/Admin.

Minneapolis, MN
Orlando, FL
Eau Claire, WI

Leased
Owned
Leased

Administrative
Administrative
Administrative

Minneapolis, MN
Montgomery, AL
Wausau, WI
Wausau, WI
Wausau, WI
Wausau, WI
Wausau, WI

Leased
Owned
Owned
Owned
Owned
Owned
Owned

Administrative
Mfg./Admin.
Mfg./Admin.
Mfg.
Mfg.
Mfg./Admin.
Mfg.

Minneapolis, MN

Leased

Administrative

Auto Glass
- ---------Curvlite
National Distribution Center
Harmon AutoGlass and Glass
Depot headquarters
Call Center
Call Center
Building Products & Services
- ----------------------------

New Construction headquarters
Norment
Architectural Products
Architectural Products - Plant II
Architectural Products - Plant III
Linetec (Painting)
Linetec (Anodizing)
Other
- -----

Apogee Corporate Office

The Glass Technologies segment has four fabrication facilities located in the
Midwest.
The Automotive Glass segment has 413 retail and distribution locations
nationally and eight Midas Muffler franchises located in the Midwest. The
majority of such locations are leased.

The Building Products & Services segment's New Construction sales offices,
Full Service locations and fabrication facilities are located in the United
States. Except as noted above, all such locations are leased.

The Curvlite plant, an Architectural Products facility, the Linetec paint
facility, and the Call Center in Florida were constructed with the use of
proceeds from industrial revenue bonds issued by those cities. These properties
are considered owned, since at the end of the bond term, title reverts to the
Company.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Apogee has been a party to various legal proceedings incidental to its normal
operating activities. In particular, like others in the construction industry,
its construction business is routinely involved in various disputes and claims

arising out of construction projects, sometimes involving significant monetary
damages. Although it is impossible to predict the outcome of such proceedings,
the Company believes, based on facts currently available to us, that none of
such claims will result in losses that would have a material adverse effect on
its financial condition.
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth
quarter ended February 28, 1998.
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
------------------------------------

NAME
----

AGE
---

POSITION
--------

Donald W. Goldfus

64

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Russell Huffer

48

President and Chief Executive Officer

James L. Martineau

57

Executive Vice President

Richard Gould

58

Senior Vice President

Robert G. Barbieri

42

Vice President - Finance and
Chief Financial Officer

Michael Bevilacqua

41

Treasurer/Senior Director
Business Development

Martha L. Richards

35

General Counsel and Secretary

Executive officers are elected annually by the Board of Directors and serve
for a one-year period. With the exception of Richard Gould, who has an
employment contract with the Company that covers the period through 2000, no
other officers have employment contracts with the Company. None of the executive
officers or directors of the Company are related.

Messrs. Goldfus, Huffer and Mr. Martineau have been employees of the Company
for more than the last five years. Mr. Gould joined the Company in May 1994.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Gould was president of Gould Associates, a
strategic management consulting firm to a wide range of companies. Mr. Barbieri
joined the Company in 1997. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Barbieri held
several financial management positions at Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. in
Allentown, Pennsylvania. Mr. Bevilacqua joined the Company in April 1998. Prior
to joining the Company, Mr. Bevilacqua held several financial management
positions at Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. in Allentown, Pennsylvania. Ms.
Richards joined the Company in March 1997. Prior to joining the Company, Ms.
Richards was a Partner with the law firm, Jenner & Block, Chicago, Illinois.
PART II
------ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS
MARKET INFORMATION

Apogee common stock is traded in the NASDAQ National Market System, under the
ticker symbol APOG. Stock price quotations are printed daily in major
newspapers. During the fiscal year ended February 28, 1998, the average trading
volume of Apogee common stock was 4,065,000 shares per month, according to
NASDAQ.
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As of March 31, 1998, there were 27,511,168 shares of common stock
outstanding, of which about 6.5 percent were owned by officers and directors of
Apogee. At that date, there were approximately 1,992 shareholders of record and
7,300 shareholders for whom securities firms acted as nominees.

The following chart shows the quarterly range and year-end close of the
Company's common stock price per share over the past five fiscal years, as
adjusted to reflect the two-for-one stock split effected in the form of a stock
dividend paid on February 14, 1997 (the February Stock Dividend).

1994

QUARTER
QUARTER
QUARTER
QUARTER
YEAR
I
II
III
IV
END
---------------------------------------------------------------------5 1/8-6 1/4
5 3/4-7 1/8
5 5/8-7 1/4
6 3/4-8 7/8
7 1/4

1995

5 3/4-7 5/8

5 7/8-7 7/8

7 3/8-9 1/8

7 3/8-9 1/4

8 5/8

1996

8 1/4-9

7 1/4-9 1/8

7 1/8-7 7/8

6 1/2-9 7/8

9 13/16

1997

9 5/8-14 1/4

13 1/4-18 1/4

15 1/4-22 5/8

17 1/4-23 3/4

19 7/8

1998

14-21 1/4

17 3/4-22 5/8

21 1/8-25 1/4

10 3/8-23

12 15/16

DIVIDENDS

It is Apogee's policy, subject to Board review and approval, to pay quarterly
cash dividends in May, August, November and February. Cash dividends have been
paid each quarter since 1974, and have been increased each year since then. The
chart below shows quarterly cash dividends per share for the past five years, as
adjusted to reflect the February Stock Dividend.

1994
1995
1996
1997
1998

QUARTER
QUARTER
QUARTER
QUARTER
I
II
III
IV
YEAR
-------------------------------------------------0.035
0.035
0.038
0.038
0.140
0.038
0.038
0.040
0.040
0.155
0.040
0.040
0.043
0.043
0.165
0.043
0.043
0.045
0.045
0.175
0.045
0.045
0.050
0.050
0.190
9

ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following information should be read in conjunction with Item 7 Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations and Item 8 - Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Dollar amounts in thousands,
except per share data**
1998
1997
1996
1995
1994*
- ------------------------------------------ ------------- -------------- ------------ -------------- -------------OPERATING RESULTS
Net sales
Gross profit
Operating income (loss)
Net earnings (loss)
Earnings (loss) per share - basic
Earnings (loss) per share - diluted
Effective tax rate - %
OPERATING RATIOS
Gross margin - %
Operating margin - %
Net margin - %
Return on
Average shareholders' equity - %
Average invested capital - %
Average total assets - %

$

912,831
179,401
(55,267)
(51,055)
(1.84)
(1.84)
(19.9)

950,777
151,801
46,496
26,220
0.96
0.93
34.9

871,147
118,523
32,457
17,835
0.66
0.65
36.9

756,549
105,889
24,262
13,050
0.49
0.48
40.2

688,233
83,895
7,058
3,833
0.14
0.14
60.9

19.7
(6.1)
(5.6)

16.0
4.9
2.8

13.6
3.7
2.0

14.0
3.2
1.7

12.2
1.0
0.6

(36.2)
(16.7)
(10.6)

16.9
9.2
5.9

13.5
7.6
4.8

10.9
6.7
3.9

3.4
2.4
1.4

FUNDS FLOW DATA
Cash flow before changes in operating
assets and liabilities
Depreciation and amortization
Capital expenditures
Dividends
YEAR-END DATA
Total assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Working capital
Current ratio
Long-term debt
% of invested capita
Shareholders' equity
% of invested capital
Backlog
INVESTMENT INFORMATION
Dividends per share
Book value per share
Price range during year:
High
Low
Close
Price/earnings ratio at year-end
Dividend yield at year-end - %
Shares outstanding at year end
Average monthly trading volume

$35,521
23,990
38,214
5,251

57,997
20,458
35,613
4,806

31,514
16,528
22,615
4,453

27,192
15,131
24,957
4,155

20,470
15,724
14,046
3,841

464,121
262,244
177,768
84,476
1.5
$151,967
53.1
$109,601
38.3
$308,234

500,964
305,194
176,621
128,573
1.7
127,640
39.4
172,149
53.1
358,169

386,136
258,559
142,477
116,082
1.8
79,102
32.5
138,921
57.0
404,737

361,928
256,820
135,719
121,101
1.9
80,566
35.6
124,629
55.1
363,751

306,188
221,286
140,846
80,440
1.6
35,688
21.6
114,063
69.0
405,223

0.190
3.99

0.175
6.17

0.165
5.14

0.155
4.64

0.145
4.28

25
10 3/8
12 15/16

233/4
9 5/8
19 7/8

9 7/8
6 1/2
9 13/16

91/4
53/4
8 5/8

8 7/8
5 1/8
7 1/4

NM
1.5
27,453,000
4,065,092

21
0.9
27,882,000
4,795,244

15
1.7
27,034,000
1,775,740

18
1.9
26,886,000
1,613,012

50
2.0
26,624,000
518,900

* Fiscal 1994 figures reflect the cumulative effect of a change in accounting
for income taxes, which increased net earnings by $525,000, or 4 cents per
share.
** Share and per share data have been adjusted for the fiscal 1997 stock
dividend.
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Dollar amounts in thousands,
except per share data
1993
1992
1991
1990
1989
1988
- --------------------------------------- ------------ -------------- ------------ ----------- ----------- ------------OPERATING RESULTS
Net sales
Gross profit
Operating income (loss)

596,281
101,580
19,249

599,525
100,097
33,267

589,657
93,718
32,033

433,740
72,214
24,134

312,051
57,350
20,211

8,505
0.32
0.31
39.6

17,017
0.63
0.62
37.1

14,095
0.52
0.52
37.1

13,421
0.50
0.50
38.2

11,615
0.43
0.43
41.8

13.7
1.1
0.8

17.0
3.2
1.4

16.7
5.5
2.8

15.9
5.4
2.4

16.6
5.6
3.1

18.4
6.5
3.7

4.0
3.0
1.8

7.6
5.7
3.4

16.6
11.5
6.9

15.7
9.8
6.2

17.2
11.4
7.6

17.3
13.2
9.0

FUNDS FLOW DATA
Cash flow before changes in operating
assets and liabilities
Depreciation and amortization
Capital expenditures
Dividends

$ 19,187
15,110
9,166
3,584

31,256
16,305
12,974
3,505

34,284
13,309
12,798
3,248

31,030
12,141
16,985
2,693

23,145
8,987
23,680
2,140

18,167
6,586
11,311
1,807

YEAR-END DATA
Total assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Working capital
Current ratio
Long-term debt

251,456
169,029
99,787
69,242
1.7
$ 28,419

249,509
166,376
101,011
65,365
1.6
25,267

250,343
162,676
102,492
60,184
1.6
29,398

244,103
154,845
94,948
59,897
1.6
41,366

207,686
126,881
68,921
57,960
1.8
46,277

143,487
86,026
47,652
38,374
1.8
17,899

% of invested capital
Shareholders' equity
% of invested capital
Backlog

18.7
$112,335
74.1
$322,323

17.0
113,781
76.6
231,949

19.9
109,050
73.8
245,000

27.7
95,754
64.2
299,810

33.3
83,871
60.4
333,240

18.7
72,062
75.2
228,532

0.135
4.26

0.130
4.23

0.120
4.05

0.100
3.56

0.080
3.13

0.068
2.70

6 3/8
4 1/8
5 13/16

9
4 3/4
6 1/8

10 1/16
6 5/8
9

9 3/8
6 1/2
7 3/8

7 1/8
5
6 13/16

6 1/8
33/4
51/2

Net earnings (loss)
Earnings (loss) per share - basic
Earnings (loss) per share - diluted
Effective tax rate - %
OPERATING RATIOS
Gross margin - %
Operating margin - %
Net margin - %
Return on
Average shareholders' equity - %
Average invested capital - %
Average total assets - %

INVESTMENT INFORMATION
Dividends per share
Book value per share
Price range during year:
High
Low
Close

$ 572,450
78,201
6,369
4,514
0.17
0.17
42.3

Price/earnings ratio at year-end
Dividend yield at year-end - %
Shares outstanding at year end
Average monthly trading volume

34
2.3
26,354,000
644,294

19
2.1
26,922,000
1,386,058

14
1.3
26,954,000
1,212,682

14
1.4
26,934,000
1,722,972

14
1.2
26,828,000
1,440,082

13
1.2
26,698,000
1,266,986

11

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

In fiscal 1998, we continued our focus on company-wide efforts to improve
margins, productivity, working capital usage and capital allocation. For most of
our businesses, we achieved improved profitability on increased net sales in
fiscal 1998. However, the success of these efforts was significantly
overshadowed by operating losses and nonrecurring charges related to
international curtainwall construction activities. During the year, we made the
strategic decision to close or exit our European and Asian curtainwall
operations and to focus more selectively on higher margin domestic curtainwall
business. Related to these actions, European operations have been
deconsolidated, reflecting our ceding of control over those entities.
Consequently, the net operating results of European operations for fiscal 1998
have been included in our "Consolidated Results of Operations" under the caption
"Unusual items," which also includes two nonrecurring charges related to
international curtainwall operations. The net liability associated with these
businesses was included in accrued expenses in our "Consolidated Balance Sheet"
at February 28, 1998. The closure of these European and Asian curtainwall
operations will permit the Company to focus on other business markets that
management believes will provide opportunity for greater returns on capital
invested. A more detailed description of our results for 1998 and financial
position is provided in this financial review.
PERFORMANCE
FISCAL 1998 COMPARED TO FISCAL 1997
The following table illustrates the relationship between various components of
operations, stated as a percent of net sales, for each of the fiscal years in
the three-year period ended February 28, 1998.

Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Selling, general and
Administrative expenses
Unusual items
Operating income (loss)
Interest and other expense, net
Earnings (loss) before income
taxes and other items
Income taxes
Equity in net loss (earnings)
of affiliated companies
Minority interest
Net earnings (loss)

1996
-------100.0
86.4
13.6

PERCENT OF NET SALES
1997
1998
---------------100.0
100.0
84.0
80.3
16.0
19.7

9.9
-3.7
0.7

11.1
-4.9
0.7

15.2
10.5
(6.1)
0.8

3.1
1.1

4.2
1.5

(6.9)
(1.4)

(0.1)
(0.1)
2.0

-(0.1)
2.8

0.1
-(5.6)

Consolidated net sales decreased 4% to $913 million in fiscal 1998. If European
curtainwall net sales were excluded from fiscal 1997 results, comparative net
sales would have grown by 4%. Our Glass Technologies (GT) and Auto Glass (AG)
segments reported net sales gains of 18% and 13%, respectively. GT's net sales
grew primarily due to continued strong demand for its fabricated glass products,
particularly the Viracon unit's high-performance architectural glass. AG
increased net sales by combining nominal retail same-store net sales growth, the
addition of retail and wholesale locations, and the full-year inclusion of

Portland Glass, which the segment acquired in the fourth quarter of fiscal 1997.
Building Products & Services (BPS) net sales dropped 24%, nearly two-thirds
related to the deconsolidation of European curtainwall operations. Domestic and
Asian curtainwall net sales fell 33%, while net sales of BPS noncurtainwall
businesses grew 8%.
On a consolidated basis, cost of sales, as a percentage of net sales, fell to
its lowest figure this decade, dropping 3.7%. The deconsolidation of European
curtainwall results accounted for two-thirds of the margin improvement.
Productivity gains at most of our fabrication operations, most notably Viracon
and Viratec Thin Films (Viratec), and a shift in net sales mix away from
low-margin curtainwall construction business combined to produce the remainder
of this positive variance. BPS reported improved margins for all but its
international operations. These factors were partly offset by higher costs
experienced by the AG segment's Retail and Distribution operations.
Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses grew by $33.2 million, or
32%. As a result, SG&A costs increased as a percent of net sales. The primary
factors were higher salaries, outside services, increased information systems
and marketing costs, particularly at our
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AG segment. SG&A expenses in fiscal 1998 also included $3.4 million in foreign
currency translation losses in BPS' Asian curtainwall unit, a $3.0 million
write-off of certain information systems assets, primarily in AG, and severance
costs associated with certain management changes.
In fiscal 1998, pre-tax charges of $96.1 million were included in our
"Consolidated Results of Operations" under the caption "Unusual items." The
above amount included nonrecurring charges of $26.0 million and $35.9 million
recorded in the third and fourth quarter, respectively, related to our
international curtainwall operations. In addition, unusual items included
operating losses totaling $34.2 million, representing the net operating results
for European curtainwall operations which were deconsolidated as described in
the above introductory paragraph.
Net interest expense rose nominally in fiscal 1998. Increased interest income
from investments held by the Company's captive insurance subsidiary and lower
interest rates offset nearly all of the effect of higher borrowings under our
revolver and uncommitted credit lines. We expect higher debt levels and interest
expense for fiscal 1999 due to the financing of higher capital investments.
Our income tax benefit amounted to 19.9% of our net loss before income taxes.
The unusually low effective rate was primarily due to foreign operating activity
for which no tax benefit was recognized.

Our share of net losses recorded by various affiliated companies in which we
have a 50% or less equity interest amounted to $879,000 in fiscal 1998 compared
to $337,000 last year.

Apogee's fiscal 1998 net loss was $51.1 million, or $1.84 diluted loss per
share. This compared to net earnings of $26.2 million, or $0.93 diluted earnings
per share, a year ago. The negative return on average shareholders' equity was
36.2% in fiscal 1998 versus a positive return of 16.9% for fiscal 1997.

At February 28, 1998, our consolidated backlog stood at $308 million, down 14%
from a year ago. This reduction was primarily attributable to the closure of our
international curtainwall business. Approximately $35 million of the February
1998 backlog will not be reflected as net sales in fiscal 1999.
SEGMENT ANALYSIS
The following information provides a more detailed look at each of our three
business segments. Also see Note 19-Business Segment Information on page 29 for
a three-year history of each segment's net sales, operating income (loss),

identifiable assets, capital expenditures, and depreciation and amortization.

(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

1996
------------

1997
------------

1998
-----------

Glass Technologies
Net sales
Operating income

$ 150,457
16,431

$ 192,827
19,908

$ 227,203
27,330

Auto Glass
Net sales
Operating income

273,133
18,069

307,935
20,149

347,191
15,046

Building Products & Services
Net sales
Operating income (loss)

462,102
(2,073)

460,714
5,557

348,892
(96,433)

GLASS TECHNOLOGIES (GT) posted record net sales and operating income for the
fifth consecutive year. Net sales rose by 18%, while operating income improved
37% to $27.3 million. The net sales increase reflected improvements by each of
the segment's units.

Most of the segment's earnings improvement came from Viracon, our
high-performance architectural glass fabrication unit. Viracon posted net sales
and operating income growth of 14% and 29%, respectively. The gains were due to
strong demand for its architectural glass products, improved product mix, and
improved productivity. Viracon ran near full capacity during the year, even as
expanded production capacity was added. In response to continued strong demand
for its segment's high-performance architectural glass products, Viracon will
begin construction of a new architectural glass fabrication complex in
Statesboro, Georgia. This facility, expected to be operational in fiscal 2000,
together with enhancements at Viracon's existing facility, will eventually
increase Viracon's capacity by over 80%.
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Viratec reported improved results in fiscal 1998. Viratec, which applies
optical-grade coatings to glass and other substrates, saw its net sales grow by
33%, while operating earnings nearly quadrupled. Both improvements were
primarily due to Viratec's Optium (TM) cathode ray tube coating operation
(formerly known as CaRT). Optium net sales more than doubled for the year and
the unit reported a small operating profit versus a sizable loss in the prior
year. Viratec's flat glass operations had a double-digit net sales gain, but
industry pricing pressure and production downtime related to an ongoing capacity
expansion caused the operation to report lower earnings. At February 28, 1998,
Viratec's backlog was 43% lower than last year's year-end backlog, primarily due
to the suspension of the Optium business related to its expected relocation.
During fiscal 1999, Viratec's Optium line is expected to be moved to a location
closer to the flow of customers' computer monitor supply chains, reducing
shipping costs and breakage risks.

The segment's Tru Vue unit, our custom picture framing glass and matboard
fabricator, also posted improved net sales and operating earnings for the year.
These results occurred despite somewhat soft industry sales, as the unit again
successfully controlled its production costs. Tru Vue plans to move to a new
facility in fiscal 1999. This should allow for increased capacity and improved
productivity for both its picture-framing glass and matboard operations.
Based on current order rates and industry conditions, GT expects to report
higher net sales and solid operating results in fiscal 1999. However, each of
the segment's operating units will be affected by the start-up costs and
disruptions associated with significant capital projects, making earnings
improvements difficult to project. The extent of earnings gains will be highly
dependent on the ability of its business units to reach operational status for
each project as planned.

AUTO GLASS (AG) operates retail stores under the Harmon AutoGlass (Harmon) name
and distribution centers under the Glass Depot name. Due to an industry merger
in 1997, AG became the second largest company in the auto glass repair and
replacement industry.
AG reported 13% net sales improvement in fiscal 1998 despite lower unit sales
demand in the replacement auto glass industry. Approximately one-third of the
net sales growth was due to the fourth quarter fiscal 1997 acquisition of
Portland Glass. The segment's net sales growth continued to outpace the
industry. Market data indicated that unit demand for replacement auto glass in
the U.S. fell from 1996.

Despite the net sales increase, AG's operating income fell to $15.0 million, a
25% decline. Margin pressures intensified throughout the year due to intense
competition, particularly at the retail level. Lower margins, and higher selling
and administrative costs were the primary factors behind the decline. The
segment also recorded a $2.4 million write-off of certain information systems
assets. Same-location retail net sales rose by 1.5%, while unit net sales
declined 1.2%.
The segment's Curvlite operation fabricates auto glass for the replacement auto
glass aftermarket. Curvlite increased net sales in fiscal 1998 by about 25%. The
unit's National Distribution Center, which offers other manufacturers' products
as well as its own for both domestic and foreign vehicles, and the AutoGlass
Express program, a delivery system to fill customer orders more quickly and
completely, accounted for much of the unit's net sales growth. About 68% of
Curvlite's net sales were made to Glass Depot units in fiscal 1998.
During the year, AG completed four small acquisitions. These acquisitions,
combined with other locations added during the year, increased the number of
locations to 340 Harmon retail locations and 73 Glass Depot distribution
centers. The segment continues to explore opportunities to expand the reach of
its businesses.

The merger of the industry's two largest companies may provide AG with an
enhanced position as insurance companies adjust their allocations of business to
maintain their own flexibility and access to competitive pricing. Insurance
companies, which make up about 50% of the replacement auto glass market, prefer
vendors who can expedite claims processing and other administrative efforts
related to auto glass replacement and repair. The segment has the ability to
offer comprehensive claims processing services to these customers on a
nationwide basis.
Partly due to the aforementioned factors, AG expects to report higher net sales
in fiscal 1999 with unit growth from market penetration and start-up or acquired
locations. Meanwhile, the segment is taking actions to reduce its cost structure
and improve productivity, particularly in its retail operations. However, the
continued uncertainty of industry unit sales and pricing makes it difficult to
project operating earnings for fiscal 1999.
BUILDING PRODUCTS & SERVICES (BPS) posted a $96.4 million operating loss in
fiscal 1998, compared with operating income of $5.6 million a year ago. Other
than the segment's international curtainwall operations, BPS operating units
recorded solid results, with operating income for those units 71% higher than a
year ago.
As expected, segment net sales decreased 24% to $349 million, or 38% of
consolidated net sales, which represented BPS' lowest percentage contribution to
Apogee's total net sales in over 17 years. Two-thirds of the decrease related to
the deconsolidation of European
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curtainwall operations. Adjusting for this factor, BPS net sales would have
fallen 11%. Domestic and Asian curtainwall net sales fell by 30% and 40%,
respectively, due primarily to our decision to focus more selectively on higher
margin domestic curtainwall business and the closure of our Asian curtainwall

business. Net sales of BPS noncurtainwall businesses grew 8%.

The operating loss was primarily due to international curtainwall operations and
included two nonrecurring pre-tax charges amounting to $61.9 million related to
exit activities and other unusual items. A $26.0 million pre-tax provision for
restructuring and other unusual items was recorded in the third quarter. The
provision also included amounts for the estimated loss associated with certain
disputed construction contract receivables in Europe, including the accrual of
certain penalty amounts, and the accrual of costs associated with the resolution
of legal proceedings related to organizational changes in its European
curtainwall unit. In the fourth quarter, we recorded a $35.9 million pre-tax
provision for exiting all European curtainwall and related operations, including
the completion of certain remaining projects.
In addition to the nonrecurring charges, international curtainwall operations
posted an operating loss of $53.8 million, reflecting significant cost overruns
at certain projects in Europe and Asia. The operations also sustained sizable
foreign currency translation losses on Asian assets, particularly those held in
Malaysia. Despite a decline in net sales, our domestic curtainwall unit produced
sharply higher profits, aided by the completion of the Getty Museum project as
well as by reductions in overhead and operating costs.
BPS noncurtainwall businesses posted another year of solid results. Net sales
for these units rose 8%, while operating profits totaled $9.6 million. The
segment's Full Service business had another solid year, generating slightly
higher net sales. A favorable shift in net sales mix towards higher-margin
service business helped the unit's profitability. The Detention & Security unit
also reported slightly higher net sales. However, operating income fell as
improved earnings from contracting were offset by losses from a start-up
operation. The Wausau Architectural Products unit leveraged higher net sales
into sharply higher profitability as the unit improved its engineering and
fabrication productivity. These businesses enter fiscal 1999 with backlog 46%
higher than a year earlier.

At February 28, 1998, BPS' backlog was $264 million. Of this amount, curtainwall
operations accounted for $114 million. The domestic curtainwall backlog was
essentially unchanged from a year ago, while the Asian backlog fell by 67%.

The absence of significant operating losses from international curtainwall
activities should enable BPS to report favorable earnings comparisons in fiscal
1999. The segment anticipates lower net sales from domestic curtainwall
operations with better overall project margins, but the smaller domestic net
sales base makes it unlikely that operating income for that unit can match
fiscal 1998 levels. Overall, BPS noncurtainwall businesses are expected to post
another year of improved results. Ultimate outcomes will continue to depend on
BPS' ability to control costs, effectively manage projects, maintain margins
inherent in the segment's backlog and book additional contracts.
FISCAL 1997 COMPARED TO FISCAL 1996
Consolidated net sales grew 9% to $951 million in fiscal 1997, largely
reflecting gains by our GT and AG segments. GT's net sales grew primarily due to
continued strong demand and firm pricing for its fabricated architectural glass
products and the addition of net sales from the newly acquired Viratec Thin
Films (Viratec) unit. Despite a very challenging industry environment, our AG
segment increased net sales by combining retail same-store net sales growth of
10% with additional retail and wholesale locations and strong net sales growth
at Curvlite. BPS net sales were essentially unchanged from the prior year.
Fiscal 1996 comprised 53 weeks, the additional week accounting for approximately
2% of the consolidated net sales that year, while fiscal 1997 comprised 52
weeks.

Overall, cost of sales, as a percent of net sales, fell 2.4% from the previous
year. Slight productivity gains at most of our operations, sharply lower
insurance costs due to reserve reductions and a significant change in net sales
mix away from the low-margin curtainwall construction activity of BPS' New
Construction unit combined to produce this positive variance.
SG&A expenses grew 22%, reflecting increased information systems and marketing

costs, particularly at our AG segment, and higher profit-sharing and commission
expense related to higher net sales and improved profitability. As a result,
SG&A costs as a percent of net sales rose, despite the moderate net sales gain
and productivity measures undertaken by our operating segments.
Net interest expense rose 22%, primarily due to the impact of interest paid
associated with the settlement of outstanding tax matters.

Our effective tax rate dropped to 34.9% from 36.9% in fiscal 1996. The decrease
was primarily due to the tax benefits related to higher export net sales levels
and the resolution of prior years' tax examinations. These items were partially
offset by foreign operating losses for which no tax benefit was recognized.
As explained below, the inclusion of 100% of the results of Marcon Coatings
(Marcon) and Viratec in our consolidated financial statements means that equity
in net earnings of affiliates in 1997 no longer included a 50% interest in those
units. The $337,000 charge to earnings in fiscal 1997 reflected our share of net
losses recorded by various affiliated companies in which we have a 50% or less
equity stake. Minority interest rose due to a larger loss at Harmon Europe S.A.,
a 70%-owned French subsidiary.
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Consolidated net earnings advanced 47% in fiscal 1997 to $26.2 million, or $0.93
a share, from $17.8 million, or $0.65 a share, in fiscal 1996. Return on
shareholders' equity rose to 16.9% from 13.5% a year earlier. The aforementioned
per share figures reflect the two-for-one stock split, effected in the form of a
100% stock dividend, paid to shareholders on February 14, 1997.
Apogee ended fiscal 1997 with a $358 million backlog, down 12% from $405 million
at the end of fiscal 1996.

SEGMENT ANALYSIS
The following information provides a more detailed look at each of our three
segments. Also see Note 19-Business Segment Information on page 29 for a
three-year history of each segment's net sales, operating income (loss),
identifiable assets, capital expenditures, and depreciation and amortization.
GLASS TECHNOLOGIES (GT) included Viracon, our architectural glass fabricator,
Tru Vue, our picture framing glass and matboard fabricator, and Viratec, which
applies optical-grade coatings to glass and other substrates. As described
below, Viratec was acquired along with Marcon, which applies coatings to
architectural and residential building glass, and was merged into Viracon's
operations. Beginning in March 1996, Marcon and Viratec were consolidated with
our other majority-owned business units. Through fiscal 1996, our 50% equity in
Marcon's and Viratec's net earnings was included in the Consolidated Results of
Operations under the caption "Equity in net earnings of affiliated companies."

In January 1997, we agreed to pay our 50% joint venture partner (JV Partner) $41
million for its interest in Marcon/Viratec and certain leased assets. This
agreement also included the irrevocable release of both parties from all
outstanding claims related to the litigation as described hereafter. In November
1995, our 50% JV Partner in Marcon/Viratec commenced litigation against us,
alleging claims for damages and seeking to have the Court order us to sell our
50% interest to the JV Partner. We filed counterclaims seeking to have the JV
Partner's 50% interest sold to us. In March 1996, the Court ordered the JV
Partner to sell the shares of stock representing its 50% interest in
Marcon/Viratec to us upon payment by us of fair value for those shares as
determined by the Court after further proceedings. As a result of the Court
order, the JV Partner's rights and status as shareholder and directors were
terminated and Marcon/Viratec was consolidated in our financial statements
beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 1997. The JV Partner's claims against
us for damages were still pending and the Court also was considering a motion
brought by the JV Partner to add a claim for punitive damages until agreement
was reached by the parties in January 1997.
GT improved net sales and earnings for the fifth consecutive year, exceeding

fiscal 1996's record results. Net sales rose 28%, while operating income
improved 21% to $19.9 million. The net sales increase was due to continued
strong demand and firm pricing for its fabricated architectural glass products
and the addition of net sales from the acquired Viratec unit. While the segment
contributed 20% of consolidated net sales, it provided 43% of our consolidated
operating income.

Viracon experienced continued strong demand for its architectural glass
products. This unit ran at or near full capacity for most of the year. Viracon's
operating income grew 21%. Further production capacity was added in 1997 and
additional increases were planned for 1998.

Tru Vue posted marginally improved net sales and operating income in fiscal
1997. These results occurred against a backdrop of soft industry net sales. The
unit was successful in controlling costs and made progress toward integrating
its matboard operations with its picture-framing glass business.

On a pro forma basis, Viratec saw its net sales fall 9%, although year-end
activity reflected high incoming order rates. In fiscal 1997, industry pricing
pressure for its flat glass coated products and the unit's inability to reach
operating profitability for its direct-coat business combined to reduce
operating income when compared to fiscal 1996. At March 1, 1997, Viratec's
backlog of $17 million was more than double the prior year's $8 million year-end
backlog.

AUTO GLASS (AG) reported modestly improved results in fiscal 1997. The segment
net sales grew 13% during the year despite intense competition and lower unit
movement in the replacement auto glass industry. Operating income increased 12%.
This increase resulted mainly from the above-mentioned increase in net sales,
which more than offset the increase in information systems and marketing expense
associated with the segment's drive to expand market coverage and develop new
services to meet customers' needs. AG, which operates retail stores under the
Harmon AutoGlass (Harmon) name and distribution centers under the Glass Depot
name, possessed the third-largest market share in the auto glass repair and
replacement industry during fiscal 1997.

Insurance companies continued to prefer vendors who could expedite claims
processing and other administrative efforts related to auto glass replacement
and repair. The segment's significant investment in information systems provided
Harmon the means to offer comprehensive claims processing and management
services to these customers on a nationwide basis.
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Curvlite, AG's auto glass fabricator, increased net sales in fiscal 1997 by 32%.
The unit's National Distribution Center, which in fiscal 1996 began to offer
other manufacturers' products as well as its own for both domestic and foreign
vehicles, and AutoGlass Express program, a new delivery system which allowed
Curvlite to fill customer orders more quickly and completely, accounted for much
of the unit's net sales growth. About 63% of Curvlite's net sales were made to
Glass Depot units.
In January 1997, Harmon completed its acquisition of Portland Glass, a
46-location auto glass replacement chain operating in the Northeast U.S. This
acquisition, combined with other locations added during the year, increased the
number of locations to 319 Harmon retail locations and 66 Glass Depot
distribution centers. At March 1, 1997, AG also had 8 Midas Muffler franchises.
BUILDING PRODUCTS & SERVICES (BPS) posted its first operating profit in five
years in fiscal 1997, recording earnings of $5.6 million. Overall net sales were
flat compared to a year earlier. Higher net sales by our Detention & Security,
Full Service and Architectural Products units were offset by lower domestic
curtainwall net sales and the absence of net sales from the Nanik Window
Coverings businesses sold in fiscal 1996. Overseas net sales grew marginally for
the year. Other than the segment's European operations, each of BPS' operating
units recorded solid operating earnings improvement compared to fiscal 1996.
Harmon, Ltd., BPS' domestic and international curtainwall unit, experienced flat

results as the domestic and Asian operations' improved earnings were offset by a
large operating loss in Europe. The European loss reflected high-risk projects
taken and executed at unacceptably low margins. The improvement in operating
earnings by our domestic and Asian curtainwall units was achieved through
overhead and operating cost reductions, and improved management of projects.
The segment's Full Service unit had another solid year, generating 6% higher net
sales and healthy operating income. The Detention & Security unit reported 38%
higher net sales and significantly greater income in fiscal 1997. However, its
fiscal 1997 year-end backlog was down 19% from a year earlier. The Architectural
Products unit leveraged its higher net sales into sharply higher profitability
as the unit improved its engineering and fabrication productivity.
At the end of fiscal 1997, BPS' backlog was $315 million, which represented
almost 88% of the consolidated total.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
FINANCIAL CONDITION
NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES In May 1998, we obtained a five-year,
committed secured credit facility in the amount of $275 million. This new credit
facility requires us to maintain minimum levels of net worth and certain
financial ratios. This facility replaced a $150 million five-year,
multi-currency committed credit facility which had been obtained in May 1996.
This previous credit facility also required us to maintain minimum levels of net
worth and certain financial ratios. As a result of our losses and exit charges
relating to our international curtainwall businesses in fiscal 1998, we were not
in compliance with certain financial covenants of the previous credit facility.
As we are in compliance with all of the financial covenants of the new credit
facility, all bank borrowings at February 28, 1998 were classified as long-term
debt.

Long-term debt, including current installments of $1.7 million, stood at $153.6
million at February 28, 1998, up $24.3 million from a year earlier. Most of the
Company's long-term debt consisted of bank borrowings. The additional borrowings
were required to finance capital spending and the repurchase of common stock
under the Company's share repurchase program.
For fiscal 1999, we expect outstanding borrowings will increase to fund the
amount by which estimated capital spending and dividend requirements exceed the
anticipated cash flow from operations. We believe efforts to reduce working
capital relative to net sales growth plus our available credit facilities will
enable us to maintain adequate liquidity.

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES Cash provided by operating activities
in fiscal 1998 fell to $34.0 million from $41.6 million in fiscal 1997. The
decrease primarily reflected lower net earnings, which were partly offset by
favorable changes in working capital. Net receivables dropped $28.2 million,
primarily reflecting lower receivables in our remaining curtainwall operations,
after accounting for the effect of removing European curtainwall operations from
Apogee's consolidation. Receivables growth at AG, GT and BPS' noncurtainwall
businesses generally tracked sales growth in the last quarter of the fiscal
year. Most of our $5.8 million increase in inventories was due to GT, reflecting
the segment's higher activity level. The change in costs and earnings in excess
of billings was essentially offset by the change in billings in excess of costs
and earnings on uncompleted contracts. Accounts payable changed nominally after
accounting for the removal of European curtainwall operations from
consolidation. Year-end accrued expenses were $48.6 million higher than a year
earlier, mainly due to accruals associated with the nonrecurring charges
recorded during the year.
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES New capital investment in fiscal 1998
totaled $39.0 million, versus $86.2 million and $29.0 million in fiscal 1997 and
1996, respectively. Additions to property, plant and equipment totaled $38.2
million, and consisted primarily of
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expenditures for manufacturing equipment, facility expansion and upgrading of
information systems throughout the Company. The AG segment completed four small
acquisitions of retail auto glass replacement stores for $0.8 million.
In fiscal 1999, we intend to invest an estimated $100 million in capital
expenditures, primarily in our GT businesses. GT plans include expenditures for
the construction of an architectural glass fabrication facility in Statesboro,
Georgia, a new Tru Vue facility in Chicago, Illinois and the move of Viratec's
Optium cathode ray tube coating line to a new location.

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
At February 28, 1998, Apogee's shareholders' equity stood at $109.6 million,
down 36% from a year ago. Our net loss, dividends paid, and the repurchase of
common stock primarily accounted for the decrease slightly offset by the effect
of common stock issued in connection with our stock-based compensation plans.
Apogee pays a quarterly dividend of 5.0 cents per share. For the year, the
Company repurchased 933,000 shares of common stock for $13.5 million, while
issuing 504,000 common shares under its stock-based incentive plans. In February
1998, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to an additional
1,000,000 shares of the Company's common stock.
IMPACT OF INFLATION
Our financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis, which does not
completely account for the effects of inflation. However, since the cost of many
of our inventories is determined using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method of
accounting, cost of sales, except for depreciation expense included therein,
generally reflects current costs.

Year-end prices were essentially unchanged from a year ago for the cost of
glass, one of our primary raw materials. We expect the cost of glass to remain
essentially unchanged in fiscal 1999. Aluminum prices at year end were slightly
lower than a year ago. While our construction and supply contracts are at fixed
prices, the material components are usually based on firm quotes obtained from
suppliers. Labor cost increases, including taxes and fringe benefits, rose
moderately in fiscal 1998 and a moderate increase also can be reasonably
anticipated for fiscal 1999. Other costs are managed to minimize the
inflationary pressures that exist in markets for goods and services our business
operations require.
IMPACT OF YEAR 2000
We are reviewing the potential impact of the "Year 2000" date change which
involves the inability of certain software and systems to properly recognize and
process date information relating to the Year 2000. We have assigned a team to
evaluate the nature and extent of the work required to make our systems,
products and infrastructure Year 2000 compliant. A number of existing systems
projects are either underway or under review within our various business units
to incorporate Year 2000 compliance, the cost of which has not been determined.
We continue to evaluate the estimated costs associated with our efforts to
ensure that our systems, products and infrastructure are Year 2000 compliant.
While these on-going efforts will involve additional costs, we believe, based on
available information, that we are and will continue to effectively manage our
Year 2000 transition without any material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations or financial condition.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT
This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. A number of factors should be
considered in conjunction with the report's forward-looking statements,
including changes in economic and market conditions, factors related to
competitive pricing, commercial building market conditions, management of growth
or restructuring of business units, expected cost savings from the restructuring
cannot be fully realized or realized within the expected timeframe, net sales
following the restructuring are lower than expected, costs or difficulties
related to the operation of the businesses or execution of restructuring or exit
activities are greater than expected, the impact of foreign currency markets,
the integration of acquisitions, the realization of expected economies gained
through expansion and information systems technology and other factors as set

forth in the cautionary statements included in Exhibit 99 to our 10-K filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The information called for by this Item is contained in a separate section of
this report. See "Index of Financial Statements and Schedules".
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

PART III
-------ITEMS 10, 11, 12 and 13. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT;
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION; SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN
BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT; AND CERTAIN
RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.

The information required by these Items, other than the information set forth
in Part I above in "Executive Officers of the Registrant," is included on pages
1 to 5 and 10 to 12 of the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held June 23, 1998, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

PART IV
-------

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
(a) and (d) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules -

The consolidated financial statements and schedules of the Registrant
listed in the accompanying "Index of Financial Statements and Schedules"
together with the report of KPMG Peat Marwick LLP, independent auditors, are
filed as part of this report.
(b) Reports on Form 8-K

During the quarter ended February 28, 1998, two reports on Form 8-K dated
January 12, 1998 and February 27, 1998 were filed.
(c) Exhibits -

The information called for by this Item is contained in a separate section of
this report. See "Exhibit Index".
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- SIGNATURES Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Date:

May 29, 1998
APOGEE ENTERPRISES, INC.

By: /s/ Donald W. Goldfus
-----------------------------

Donald W. Goldfus
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this
report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

SIGNATURE
TITLE
------------/s/ Donald W. Goldfus
Chairman of the Board of Directors
- ---------------------------------

DATE
---5-29-98

Donald W. Goldfus

/s/ Russell Huffer
President and CEO, Director
- --------------------------------Russell Huffer

5-29-98

/s/ Harry A. Hammerly
Director
- --------------------------------Harry A. Hammerly
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Director
- --------------------------------Laurence J. Niederhofer
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- --------------------------------James L. Martineau
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/s/ D. Eugene Nugent
Director
- --------------------------------D. Eugene Nugent

5-29-98

/s/ Barbara B. Grogan
Director
- --------------------------------Barbara B. Grogan

5-29-98
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SIGNATURE
--------/s/ Stephen C. Mitchell
Director
- --------------------------------Stephen C. Mitchell

TITLE
-----

DATE
---5-29-98

/s/ Jerome B. Cohen
Director
- --------------------------------Jerome B. Cohen

5-29-98

/s/ Michael E. Shannon
Director
- --------------------------------Michael E. Shannon

5-29-98
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit (3A)

Restated Articles of Incorporation
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3A to Registrant's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for year ended February 27, 1988.

Exhibit (3B)

Restated By Laws of Apogee Enterprises, Inc., as amended to date.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3C to Registrant's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for year ended February 29, 1992.

Exhibit (4A)

Specimen certificate for shares of common stock of Apogee
Enterprises, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4A to
Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for year ended February
29, 1992.

Exhibit (10A) Deferred Incentive Compensation Plan dated February 27, 1986
between Registrant and certain executive officers. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10N to Registrant's Annual Report on Form
10-K for year ended March 1, 1986.
Exhibit (10B) Amended and Restated 1987 Apogee Enterprises, Inc. Partnership
Plan is incorporated by reference to Registrant's S-8 registration
statement (File No. 33-60400)
Exhibit (10C) Rights Agreement between Registrant and American Stock Transfer
Co. dated October 19, 1990. Incorporated by reference to
Registrant's Form 8-A on October 19, 1990.

Exhibit (10D) Consulting Agreement between Registrant and Laurence J.
Niederhofer dated November 1, 1993. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10I to Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for year
ended February 26, 1994.
Exhibit (10E) Employment Agreement between Registrant and Richard Gould dated
May 23, 1994. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10I to
Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for year ended February
25, 1995.

Exhibit (10F) 1987 Apogee Enterprises, Inc. Stock Option Plan is incorporated by
reference to Registrant's S-8 registration statement (File No.
33-35944)

Exhibit (10G) $275 million Multi-currency Credit Agreement dated as of May 21,
1998 between Apogee Enterprises, Inc. and banks party to the
agreement, including related security, pledge, contribution and
subsidiary guaranty agreements.
Exhibit (10H) 1997 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference to
Registrant's S-8 registration statement (File No. 333-32437)

Exhibit (21)

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Exhibit (23)

Consent of KPMG Peat Marwick LLP

Exhibit (27)

Financial Data Schedule (EDGAR filing only)

Exhibit (99)

Litigation Reform Act of 1995 - Cautionary Statement
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Apogee Enterprises, Inc.:
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Apogee Enterprises,
Inc. and subsidiaries as listed in the accompanying index. These consolidated
financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of
the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Apogee
Enterprises, Inc. and subsidiaries as of February 28, 1998 and March 1, 1997 and
the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended February 28, 1998 in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein.

KPMG Peat Marwick LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
April 8, 1998, except as to Note 6 which is as of May 22, 1998
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

February 28,
March 1,
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)
1998
1997
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------- ---------------ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
$ 7,853
$
4,065
Receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts
145,121
204,259
Inventories
64,183
58,261
Costs and earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts
6,796
25,653
Refundable income taxes
16,533
1,004
Deferred tax assets
14,218
4,486
Other current assets
7,540
7,466
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------- ---------------Total current assets
262,244
305,194
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------- ---------------Property, plant and equipment, net
129,937
118,799
Other assets
Marketable securities available for sale
18,706
19,656
Investments
709
738
Intangible assets, at cost less accumulated
amortization of $12,323 and $9,480, respectively
50,500
52,451
Deferred tax assets
-1,090
Other
2,025
3,036
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------- ---------------201,877
76,971
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------- ---------------Total assets
$464,121
$500,964
======================================================================= ================ ================
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
$ 44,055
$ 73,325
Accrued expenses
108,893
61,435
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on uncompleted contracts
23,141
40,154
Current installments of long-term debt
1,679
1,707
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------- ---------------Total current liabilities
177,768
176,621
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------- ---------------Long-term debt, less current installments
Other long-term liabilities

151,967
24,785

127,640
24,554

Commitments and contingent liabilities (Notes 6, 14 and 15)
Shareholders' equity
Common stock of $.33-1/3 par value; authorized 50,000,000 shares;
issued and outstanding, 27,453,000 and 27,882,000, respectively
9,151
9,294
Additional paid-in capital
38,983
34,686
Retained earnings
61,899
129,424
Unearned compensation
(686)
-Net unrealized gain on marketable securities
254
22
Cumulative translation adjustment
-(1,277)
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------- ---------------Total shareholders' equity
109,601
172,149
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------- ---------------Total liabilities and shareholders' equity
$464,121
$ 500,964
======================================================================= ================ ================

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT
Year Ended
Year Ended
Year Ended
PER SHARE DATA)
February 28, 1998
March 1, 1997
March 2, 1996
- --------------------------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- ---------------Net sales
$912,831
$950,777
$871,147
Cost of sales
733,430
798,976
752,624
- --------------------------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------Gross profit
179,401
151,801
118,523
Selling, general and administrative
138,537
105,305
86,066
expenses

Provision for restructuring and other
unusual items
- --------------------------------------Operating income (loss)
Interest expense, net
Other expense, net
- --------------------------------------Earnings (loss) before income
taxes and
Other items below
Income taxes
Equity in net loss (earnings) of
affiliated companies
Minority interest
- --------------------------------------Net earnings (loss)
- --------------------------------------Earnings (loss) per share - Basic
Earnings (loss) per share - Diluted
- ---------------------------------------

96,131

--

--

--------------------- --------------------- ---------------(55,267)
46,496
32,457
7,334
6,964
5,697
--149
--------------------- --------------------- ---------------(62,601)

39,532

(12,425)
879

13,802
337

26,611
9,820
(528)

-(827)
(516)
--------------------- --------------------- ----------------$(51,055)
$26,220
$17,835
--------------------- --------------------- ----------------$(1.84)
$0.96
$0.66
$(1.84)
$0.93
$0.65
---------------------- -------------------- -----------------
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common
Additional
Cumulative
Unrealized
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN
Shares
Common
Paid-In
Retained
Unearned
Translation
Gain on
THOUSANDS)
Outstanding
Stock
Capital
Earnings
Compensation
Adjustment
Investments
- -------------------------- ------------ ------------- ------------- --------- -------------- ------------ -----------Balance at February 25, 1995
13,443
Net earnings
-Common stock issued
88
Common stock
repurchased and
(14)
retired
(5)
Cash dividends
-- ---------------------------- --------Balance at March 2, 1996
13,517
Net earnings
-Common stock issued
478
Tax benefit
associated with
-stock plans
Common stock
repurchased and
(1,303)
retired
(85)
Cash dividends
-100% stock dividend,
at par
13,972
Translation adjustments
-Net change in unrealized
gains on marketable
-securities
- ---------------------------- --------Balance at March 1, 1997
27,882
Net loss
-Common stock issued
504
Tax benefit
associated with
-stock plans
Common stock
repurchased and
(933)
retired
Cash dividends
-Translation adjustments
-Net change in
unrealized gains on
marketable securities
-Unearned compensation
-- ---------------------------- --------Balance at February 28, 1998
$27,453
============================ =========

$

4,481
-30
(215)
(20)
---------4,506
-159

$

19,345
-1,120

$ 100,803
17,835
--

--

--

---------20,445
-12,871

--

1,445

-(28)
--

(4,453)
--------113,970
26,220
--

$

----

-------------

--

--

--

--

--

4,657
--

---

---

---

--

--

--

--

--

1,503

(311)

(1,960)

------------$
9,151
=========

------------$ 38,983
=========

--------129,424
(51,055)
--

------------

--

------------

--

--

--------34,686
-4,754

----

$----

--

-(75)
--

--------9,294
-168

$

-(1,277)
---------(1,277)
---

--------------

-22
--------22
---

--

--

--

(11,219)

--

--

--

(5,251)
--

---

-1,277

---

----------$ 61,899
=========

-(686)
--------$
(686)
==========

----------$
-=========

232
---------$
254
=========

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended
Year Ended
Year Ended
(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)
February 28, 1998 March 1, 1997
March 2, 1996
- ------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------------

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net earnings (loss)
$(51,055)
$26,220
$17,835
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
23,990
20,458
16,528
Provision for losses on accounts receivable
1,428
2,917
1,983
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense
(7,849)
9,452
1,807
Gain on sale of Nanik Window Coverings
--(4,166)
Provision for restructuring and other unusual items
61,887
--Foreign currency translation loss
3,422
--Equity in net loss (earnings) of affiliated companies
879
337
(528)
Minority interest
-(827)
(516)
Other, net
2,819
(560)
(1,429)
- ------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------ -------------- --------------Cash flow before changes in operating assets and
35,521
57,997
31,514
liabilities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of
---acquisitions:
Receivables
25,364
(46,461)
2,134
Inventories
(5,795)
55
(3,286)
Cost and earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted
15,859
(202)
(6,670)
contracts
Other current assets
(60)
(960)
(1,220)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
(5,472)
16,606
14,494
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on uncompleted
(17,013)
20,684
1,753
contracts
Refundable income taxes and accrued income taxes
(12,338)
(7,061)
(2,820)
Other long-term liabilities
(2,061)
959
4,593
- ------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------ -------------- --------------Net cash provided by operating activities
34,005
41,617
40,492
- ------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------ -------------- --------------INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures
(38,214)
(35,613)
(22,615)
Acquisition of Marcon Coatings, net of cash acquired
-(40,161)
-Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired
(810)
(1,365)
(3,793)
Decrease (increase) in marketable securities
1,306
(7,555)
(12,231)
Investment in and advances to affiliated companies
(850)
(464)
(889)
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
874
3,146
301
Proceeds from sale of Nanik Window Coverings
--17,550
Other, net
(506)
(277)
(1,991)
- ------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------ -------------- --------------Net cash used in investing activities
(38,200)
(82,289)
(23,668)
- ------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------ -------------- --------------FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments on notes payable
-(5,350)
(7,065)
Payments on long-term debt
(1,704)
(6,120)
(5,576)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
26,003
51,100
3,855
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
4,922
3,930
1,150
Repurchase and retirement of common stock
(13,490)
(1,406)
(240)
Dividends paid
(5,251)
(4,806)
(4,453)
- ------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------ -------------- --------------Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
10,480
37,348
(12,329)
- ------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------ -------------- --------------(Increase) decrease in cash and cash equivalents before effect of
exchange rate changes on cash
6,285
(3,324)
4,495
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
(2,497)
--- ------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------ -------------- --------------(Increase) decrease in cash and cash equivalents
3,788
(3,324)
4,495
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
4,065
7,389
2,894
- ------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------ -------------- --------------Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
$ 7,853
$ 4,065
$ 7,389
=================================================================== ================== ============== ===============
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Common stock issued in acquisition of business
$
-$ 9,100
$
--

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND RELATED DATA
PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION Our consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of Apogee and all majority-owned subsidiaries except, for fiscal 1998
only, for our formerly 70%-owned European operations. In March 1998, in
accordance with a February 26, 1998 resolution of our Board of Directors, five
operating companies comprising our European curtainwall operations filed for
bankruptcy or commercial liquidation, effectively relinquishing our control over
those entities. Accordingly, such entities were deconsolidated and net operating
results were included as a single component in our 1998 Consolidated Results of
Operations under the caption "Unusual items" and the net liability was included
in accrued expenses in our Consolidated Balance Sheet. We use the equity method
to account for 50%-owned joint ventures. Intercompany transactions have been
eliminated. Certain amounts from prior-years' financial statements have been
reclassified to conform with this year's presentation.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Investments with an original maturity of three months

or less are included in cash and cash equivalents.
INVENTORIES Inventories, which consist primarily of purchased glass and
aluminum, are valued at the lower of cost or market. Approximately 47% of the
inventories are valued by use of the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method, which
does not exceed market. If the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method had been used
for all inventories, our inventories would have been $3,000,000 and $2,615,000
higher than reported at February 28, 1998 and March 1, 1997, respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost.
Significant improvements and renewals are capitalized. Repairs and maintenance
are charged to expense as incurred. Depreciation is computed on a straight-line
basis, based on estimated useful lives of 20 to 40 years for buildings and 2 to
15 years for equipment.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND AMORTIZATION Intangible assets consist principally of the
excess of cost over the fair value of net assets acquired (goodwill) and are
amortized on a straight-line basis, primarily over 40 years. The carrying value
of intangible assets is reviewed when circumstances suggest that it has been
impaired. If this review indicates that intangible assets will not be
recoverable based on the estimated undiscounted cash flows over the remaining
amortization period, the carrying value of intangible assets must be reduced to
estimated fair value. Amortization expense amounted to $2,011,000, $1,503,000
and $665,000 in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.

INSURANCE SUBSIDIARY We established a wholly-owned insurance subsidiary, Prism
Assurance, Inc. (Prism), in 1996 to insure our workers' compensation, general
liability and automobile liability risks. Prism invests in fixed maturity
investments which we classify as "available-for-sale" and are carried at market
value as prescribed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No.
115. Reserve requirements are established based on actuarial projections of
ultimate losses. Apogee also has accruals for losses incurred prior to Prism's
formation. Losses estimated to be paid within twelve months are classified as
accrued expenses, while losses expected to be payable in later periods are
included in other long-term liabilities.
NET SALES RECOGNITION We recognize net sales from construction contracts on a
percentage-of-completion basis, measured by the percentage of costs incurred to
date to estimated total costs for each contract. Contract costs include
materials, labor, project management and other direct costs related to contract
performance. We establish provisions for estimated losses, if any, on
uncompleted contracts in the period in which such losses are determined. Amounts
representing contract change orders, claims or other items are included in net
sales only when they have been approved by our customers. Net sales from the
sale of products and the related cost of sales are recorded upon shipment.
INCOME TAXES We account for income taxes as prescribed by SFAS No. 109, which
requires use of the asset and liability method. This method recognizes deferred
tax assets and liabilities based upon the future tax consequences of temporary
differences between financial and tax reporting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE We compute basic and diluted earnings per share as prescribed
by SFAS No. 128 as described below under the caption NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS.
Share figures reflect the two-for-one stock split effective February 1997.
FOREIGN OPERATIONS The financial statements of foreign operations have been
translated to U.S. dollars, using the rules of SFAS No. 52. Balance sheet
accounts are stated in U.S. dollars, generally at the year-end exchange rate.
Results of operations are translated at average exchange rates for the
respective period.
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We periodically enter into forward currency exchange contracts
specific foreign currency exposures related to foreign construction
receivables, and bank borrowings denominated in foreign currencies.
February 28, 1998, we had forward contracts maturing in 1999 with a

to manage
contracts,
As of
value of

approximately $25.6 million. Gains and losses on forward contracts related to
receivables are recognized currently, while gains and losses related to
construction projects are deferred and accounted for as a part of the related
transaction.

ACCOUNTING PERIOD Our fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to February 28.
Fiscal year 1998 and 1997 consisted of fifty-two weeks and 1996 was fifty-three
weeks.
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of net sales and
expenses during the reporting period. Amounts subject to significant estimates
and assumptions include, but are not limited to, insurance reserves and net
sales recognition for construction contracts, including the status of
outstanding disputes and claims. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.
NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS In February 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 128, EARNINGS PER SHARE, which simplifies the
standards for computing earnings per share. SFAS No. 128 replaces the
presentation of primary earnings per share with a presentation of basic earnings
per share, which excludes dilution. SFAS No. 128 also requires dual presentation
of basic and diluted earnings per share on the face of the income statement for
all entities with complex capital structures, and requires a reconciliation.
Diluted earnings per share is computed similarly to fully diluted earnings per
share pursuant to APB No. 15. SFAS No. 128 was required for financial statements
issued for periods ending after December 15, 1997, including interim periods;
earlier application was not permitted. Accordingly, we adopted SFAS No. 128 in
the fourth quarter of 1998. SFAS No. 128 requires restatement of all
prior-period earnings-per-share data presented. The adoption of SFAS No. 128 did
not have a material impact on the Company's financial statement disclosures.

In February 1997, the FASB issued SFAS No. 129, DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION
ABOUT CAPITAL STRUCTURES, which was adopted by us in the fourth quarter of 1998.
SFAS No. 129 requires companies to disclose certain information about their
capital structure. SFAS No. 129 did not have a material impact on our financial
statement disclosures.
In June 1997, the FASB issued SFAS No. 130, REPORTING COMPREHENSIVE INCOME,
which establishes standards for reporting and display of comprehensive income
and its components (net sales, expenses, gains, and losses) in a full set of
general-purpose financial statements. We will adopt SFAS No. 130 in 1999.
In June 1997, the FASB issued SFAS No. 131, DISCLOSURE ABOUT SEGMENTS OF AN
ENTERPRISE AND RELATED INFORMATION, which changes the way public companies
report information about operating segments. SFAS No. 131, which is based on the
management approach to segment reporting, establishes requirements to report
selected segment information quarterly and to report entity-wide disclosures
about products and services, major customers, and the material countries in
which the entity holds assets and reports net sales. Management has not yet
evaluated the effects of this change on its reporting of segment information. We
will adopt SFAS No. 131 in 1999.

2. RECEIVABLES

(In thousands)
1998
1997
- -------------------------------------- ------------ ----------Trade accounts
$
89,924 $
78,991
Construction contracts
35,244
86,709
Contract retainage
25,271
32,609
Other receivables
1,633
13,247
- -------------------------------------- ------------ ----------Total receivables
152,072
211,556
Less allowance for doubtful accounts
(6,951)
(7,297)

- -------------------------------------- ------------ ----------Net receivables
$145,121
$ 204,259
====================================== ============ ===========
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We provide products and services to the commercial and institutional new
construction and remodeling markets, the automotive replacement glass market and
selected consumer markets. We do not believe a concentration of credit risk
exists, due to the diversity of our markets and channels of distribution, and
the geographic location of our customers. Allowances are maintained for
potential credit losses and such losses have been within management's
expectations. The provision for bad debt expense was $1,428,000, $2,917,000 and
$1,983,000 in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.
3. INVENTORIES
(In thousands)
1998
1997
- -------------------------------------- ------------ ---------Raw materials
$20,017
$14,760
Work-in process
4,749
3,863
Finished
39,417
39,638
- -------------------------------------- ------------ ---------Total inventories
$64,183
$58,261
====================================== ============ ==========

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(In thousands)
1998
1997
- -------------------------------------- ------------ ---------Land
$
2,686 $
2,488
Buildings and improvements
66,274
58,358
Machinery and equipment
130,938
115,026
Office equipment and furniture
54,720
44,431
Construction in progress
9,506
22,975
- -------------------------------------- ------------ ---------Total property, plant and
264,124
243,278
equipment
Less accumulated depreciation
(134,187)
(124,479)
- -------------------------------------- ------------ ---------Net property, plant and
$129,937
$118,799
equipment
====================================== ============ ==========

Depreciation expense was $21,979,000, $18,955,000 and $15,863,000 in 1998,
1997 and 1996, respectively.
5. ACCRUED EXPENSES
(In thousands)
1998
1997
- -------------------------------------- ---------- -----------Payroll and related benefits
$22,088
$25,263
Insurance
13,677
10,956
Taxes, other than income taxes
4,612
8,643
Pension
5,377
4,192
Interest
1,205
2,091
Costs and expenses related to exit
from
47,163
-European curtainwall operations
Other
14,771
10,290
- -------------------------------------- ---------- -----------Total accrued expenses
$108,893
$61,435
====================================== ========== ============

6. LONG-TERM DEBT

(In thousands)
1998
1997
- -------------------------------------- ------------ -----------Borrowings under revolving credit
and other bank agreements,
interest ranging from 3.77% to
$150,503
$124,500
8.50%
Other
3,143
4,847
- -------------------------------------- ------------ -----------Total long-term debt
153,646
129,347
Less current installments
(1,679)
(1,707)
- -------------------------------------- ------------ -----------Net long-term debt
$151,967
$127,640
====================================== ============ ============
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Long-term debt maturities are as follows:
FISCAL YEAR
(In thousands)
- ------------------------------- -------------------1999
$
1,679
2000
1,082
2001
182
2002
100
2003
150,603
Thereafter
-- ------------------------------- -------------------Total
$153,646
=============================== ====================

In May 1998, we obtained a five-year, committed secured credit facility in the
amount of $275 million. This new credit facility requires us to maintain minimum
levels of net worth and certain financial ratios. This facility replaced a $150
million five-year, multi-currency committed credit facility which had been
obtained in May 1996. This previous credit facility also required us to maintain
minimum levels of net worth and certain financial ratios. As a result our losses
and exit charges relating to our international curtainwall businesses in fiscal
1998, we were not in compliance with certain financial covenants of the previous
credit facility. As we are in compliance with all of the financial covenants of
the new credit facility, all bank borrowings under the revolving credit
agreement at February 28, 1998 were classified as long-term debt.

We also had access to short-term credit on an uncommitted basis with several
major banks. At February 28, 1998 and March 1, 1997, respectively, $24.9 million
and $10.0 million in bank borrowings were outstanding under these agreements. We
may refinance these short-term borrowings on a long-term basis under the
revolving credit agreements discussed above. Accordingly, our short-term bank
borrowings, which were not expected to be paid within one year, were classified
as long-term debt. The interest rate on the year-end bank borrowings under
uncommitted credit facilities was 6.0%.
Selected information related to bank borrowings is as follows:
(Dollar amounts in thousands)
1998
1997
- ----------------------------------------- ----------- -----------Average daily borrowings during the year
$133,158
$ 79,420
Maximum borrowings outstanding during
158,294
126,400
the year
Weighted average interest rate during
5.6%
6.1%
the year
========================================= =========== ============
In 1998 and 1996, we entered into interest rate swap agreements that
effectively converted a portion of our variable rate borrowings into fixed rate
obligations. Under these agreements, which expire in 2001, we receive payments

at variable rates while we make payments at fixed rates ranging from 5.7% to
6.3%. The net interest paid or received is included in interest expense. The
amount of borrowings effectively converted at February 28, 1998 and March 1,
1997 was $70 million and $20 million, respectively.

In 1992, we entered into three interest rate swap agreements that effectively
converted $25 million of our fixed rate, long-term borrowings into variable rate
obligations. During 1993, we sold two of the swap agreements at net gains. The
gains were recognized as reductions in interest expense through 1997. The third
agreement expired in 1995.
The net book value of property and plant pledged as collateral under
industrial development bonds was approximately $1.1 million at February 28,
1998.
7. INTEREST AND OTHER EXPENSE, NET
(In thousands)
1998
1997
1996
- ------------------------------ ---------- ---------- --------Interest on debt
$ 8,986
$ 6,713 $ 6,747
Other interest expense
460
1,367
273
- ------------------------------ ---------- ---------- --------Total interest expense
9,446
8,080
7,020
Less interest income
(2,112)
(1,116)
(1,323)
- ------------------------------ ---------- ---------- --------Interest expense, net
$ 7,334
$ 6,964 $ 5,697
============================== ========== ========== =========
Interest payments were $ 8,223,000, $6,180,000 and $7,095,000 in 1998, 1997
and 1996, respectively.
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In 1996, other expense, net, consisted of charges totaling $4.3 million
primarily related to write-off of a minority investment in a research and
development venture and an adjustment to our insurance reserves, offset by the
$4.2 million gain from the sale of the Nanik Window Coverings unit discussed in
Note 12.
8. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND STOCK OPTION PLANS

During 1997, the Board of Directors approved a two-for-one stock split, in the
form of a 100% stock dividend, payable to shareholders in February 1997. All
share and per share data have been restated accordingly.

A class of 200,000 shares of junior preferred stock with a par value of $1.00
is authorized, but unissued.
We have a Shareholders' Rights Plan, under which each share of our outstanding
common stock has an associated preferred share purchase right. The rights are
exercisable only under certain circumstances, including the acquisition by a
person or group of 10% of the outstanding shares of the Company's common stock.
Upon exercise, the rights would allow holders of such rights to purchase common
stock of Apogee or an acquiring company at a discounted price, which generally
would be 50% of the respective stock's current fair market value.

The 1997 Stock Option Plan and 1987 Stock Option Plan (the "Plans") each
provide for the issuance of up to 2,500,000 options to purchase Company stock.
Options awarded under these Plans, either in the form of incentive stock options
or nonstatutory options, are exercisable at an option price equal to the fair
market value at the date of award. The 1987 Plan has expired and no new grants
of stock options may be made under this Plan.
The 1987 Partnership Plan, a Plan designed to increase the ownership of Apogee
stock by key employees, allows participants selected by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors to use earned incentive compensation to

purchase Apogee common stock. The purchased stock is then matched by an equal
award of restricted stock, which vests over a predetermined period. 2,200,000
common shares are authorized for issuance under the Plan. As of February 28,
1998, 1,937,000 shares have been issued under the Plan. We expensed $1,141,000,
$2,145,000 and $666,000 in conjunction with the Partnership Plan in1998, 1997
and 1996, respectively.

A summary of option transactions under the Plans for 1998, 1997 and 1996
follows:
OPTIONS OUTSTANDING
NUMBER OF
AVERAGE
OPTION PRICE
SHARES
EXERCISE PRICE
RANGE
- ----------------------------- ------------ -- ---------------- -- -------------Balances, February 25, 1995
1,156,000
$
6.00
$
4.48- 9.46
Options granted
490,000
8.64
7.25- 8.80
Options exercised
(174,000)
6.52
5.38- 8.13
Options canceled
(68,000)
5.94
5.38- 7.94
- ----------------------------- ------------ -- ---------------- -- -------------Balances, March 2, 1996
1,404,000
6.87
4.48- 9.46
Options granted
587,000
15.08
10.50-17.75
Options exercised
(368,000)
5.83
5.38- 8.69
Options canceled
(22,000)
7.53
5.38-15.06
- ----------------------------- ------------ -- ---------------- -- -------------Balances, March 1, 1997
1,601,000
10.11
4.48-17.75
Options granted
485,000
16.09
11.31-25.00
Options exercised
(372,000)
6.86
5.38-16.50
Options canceled
(230,000)
12.38
5.38-16.75
- ----------------------------- ------------ -- ---------------- -- -------------Balances, February 28, 1998
1,484,000
$12.53
4.48-25.00
- ----------------------------- ------------ -- ---------------- -- --------------
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and
exercisable at February 28, 1998.

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING
OPTIONS EXERCISABLE
---------------------------------------------- -----------------------------RANGE OF
REMAINING
EXERCISE PRICES
NUMBER
CONTRACTUAL
WEIGHTED-AVG
NUMBER
WEIGHTED-AVG
OUTSTANDING
LIFE
EXERCISE PRICE
EXERCISABLE
EXERCISE PRICE
- ---------------- ------------- -------------- ----------------- -------------- --------------$4.48 - $10.00
553,000
2.4 years
$7.36
401,000
$ 7.14
10.01 - 16.00
512,000
6.8 years
14.43
126,000
14.88
16.01 - 25.00
419,000
8.5 years
17.01
37,000
19.25
- ---------------- ------------- -------------- ----------------- -------------- --------------1,484,000
5.7 years
$12.53
564,000
$ 9.66
================ ============= ============== ================= ============== ===============

We have adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, ACCOUNTING FOR
STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized
with respect to our 1987 Stock Option Plan. Had compensation cost for the Plan
been determined based on the fair value methodology prescribed by SFAS 123, our
net earnings (loss) and earnings (loss) per share would have been reduced to the
pro forma amounts indicated below:
(In thousands, except per
1998
1997
1996
share data)
- -------------------------------- --------- --------- --------Net earnings (loss) - as
($51,055) $26,220
$17,835
reported
Net earnings (loss) - pro forma (53,001)
25,221
17,493
Earnings (loss) per share

diluted
(1.84)
0.93
0.65
- as reported
Earnings (loss) per share
diluted
(1.91)
0.90
0.64
- pro forma
================================ ========= ========= =========

The above pro forma amounts may not be representative of the effects on
reported net earnings (loss) for future years. The fair value of each option
grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in 1998,
1997 and 1996:
1998
1997
1996
- -------------------------------- --------- ---------- ---------Dividend yield
1.2%
1.1%
1.5%
Expected volatility
60.0%
60%
60%
Risk-free interest rate
7.0%
7.0%
6.0%
Expected lives
10 years 7.5 years
5 years
================================ ========= ========== ==========

9. UNUSUAL ITEMS

During 1998, we recorded a pre-tax charges of $96.1 for unusual items in our
Building Products & Services segment. This is presented separately as a
component of income from operations in the Consolidated Results of Operations.
The amount included nonrecurring charges of $26.0 million and $35.9 million
recorded in the third and fourth quarter, respectively, related to our
international curtainwall operations. In addition, unusual items included
operating losses totaling $34.2 million, representing the net operating results
for European curtainwall operations which were deconsolidated as described in
Principles of Consolidation in Note 1. A summary of the items included is as
follows:
- ------------------------------ ------------Net operating loss of
European
$34,243
curtainwall operations
Estimated costs associated
with exit
from European
curtainwall,
34,858
including completion of
certain
projects
Estimated loss on
construction
13,972
contract, including
penalties
Estimated costs related to
resolution of legal
7,372
proceedings
Restructuring activities and
5,686
other
- ------------------------------ ------------Total
$96,131
============================== =============
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The $26.0 million charge included amounts for the estimated loss on a disputed
construction contracts in Europe, including the accrual of certain penalty
amounts, and a provision for the accrual of legal and related costs associated
with the resolution of legal proceedings related to organizational changes in
its majority-owned European curtainwall unit. In June 1997, the Company
reorganized its European management team and, subsequently, several lawsuits
were initiated between Apogee and the minority shareholder based on, among other

items, allegations of breach of contract and fiduciary duty, and
misrepresentation. Restructuring activities involved the closing of the
segment's Asian offices and the rationalization of its project management,
engineering and European manufacturing capacity. The charge for restructuring
included amounts for severance and termination benefits for employees in France,
Asia and the US. , the write-down of property and equipment and other long-term
assets to their estimated net salable value and other items such as lease
termination costs. We reduced manufacturing capacity in France and reduced
project management and engineering costs in France and the US.

The $35.9 million charges reflected the estimated costs associated with
exiting our European operations, including the completion of certain remaining
projects. In March 1998, in accordance with a February 26, 1998 resolution of
our Board of Directors, the five operating companies comprising our European
curtainwall operations filed for bankruptcy or commenced liquidation,
effectively relinquishing control over those entities. Accordingly, the net
operating results for European curtainwall operations are included as a single
figure as indicated above.
At February 1998, accruals totaling $47.2 million represented the estimated
future cash outflows associated with the exit from our European curtainwall
operations. These cash expenditures are expected to be made within the next one
to two years. The primary component of the accrual relates to the completion of
certain remaining projects. Other costs included in the above figure are
provisions for severance and termination benefits, and legal and related costs
associated with the proceedings noted above.

10. INCOME TAXES
The components of income tax expense (benefit) for each of the last three
fiscal years are as follows:
(In thousands)
1998
1997
1996
- ------------------------------ ---------- ---------- --------Current:
Federal
$
$ 1,866
$ 6,559
(4,164)
State and local
(412)
955
910
Foreign
-1,529
544
- ------------------------------ ---------- ---------- --------Total current
(4,576)
4,350
8,013
- ------------------------------ ---------- ---------- --------Deferred:
Federal
(8,233)
8,547
1,503
State and local
(316)
1,605
304
Foreign
700
(700)
-- ------------------------------ ---------- ---------- --------Total deferred
(7,849)
9,452
1,807
- ------------------------------ ---------- ---------- --------Total income tax
expense
$(12,425) $ 13,802
$ 9,820
============================== ========== ========== =========
Income tax payments, net of refunds, were $12,000,000, $11,520,000 and
$10,878,000 in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.

The differences between statutory federal tax rates and our consolidated
effective tax rates are as follows:

1998
1997
1996
- -------------------------------- ------------ ----------- ----------Statutory federal tax rate
(35.0%)
35.0%
35.0%
State and local income taxes,
net of federal tax benefit
(2.2)
5.1
3.0
Tax credits
(1.5)
(2.2)
(0.5)
Foreign items with no tax
1.8
8.3
0.8
benefit

Valuation allowance
18.1
-(0.6)
Resolution of Revenue Agent
-(10.8)
-Exams
Other, net
(1.1)
(0.5)
(0.8)
- -------------------------------- ------------ ----------- ----------Consolidated effective tax rate
(19.9%)
34.9%
36.9%
================================ ============ =========== ===========
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Tax benefits for deductions associated with the 1987 Stock Option Plan and the
1987 Partnership Plan were $1,503,000 and $1,445,000 in 1998 and 1997,
respectively. These benefits were added directly to additional paid-in capital
and were not reflected in the determination of income tax expense.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at February 28, 1998 and
March 1, 1997 are as follows:

1998
1997
-------------------------- -------------------------(In thousands)
CURRENT
NONCURRENT
CURRENT
NONCURRENT
- ------------------------- ------------ ------------- ------------- -----------Accounts receivable
$2,393
$
-$2,660
$
-Accrued insurance
-3,715
-2,991
Deferred compensation
(140)
4,071
191
4,447
Restructuring reserve
22,982
6
-26
Inventory
1,383
128
1,505
320
Depreciation
143
(6,235)
147
(6,522)
Employee benefit plans
(1,451)
-(1,451)
-Other
1,108
(3,291)
1,434
3,700
- ------------------------- ------------ ------------- ------------- -----------26,418
(1,606)
4,486
4,962
Less valuation allowance
(12,200)
--(3,872)
- ------------------------- ------------ ------------- ------------- -----------Deferred tax assets
(liability)
$14,218
$(1,606)
$4,486
$1,090
========================= ============ ============= ============= ============
Our valuation allowance increased by $8,328,000 in 1998 and related primarily
to a capital loss carryforward. The valuation allowances at February 28, 1998
and March 1, 1997 reflect amounts for foreign tax credits, general business tax
credits, net operating loss carryforwards and capital loss carryforwards.
11. INVESTMENT IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES

We were party to a 1985 joint venture agreement with our 50% partner (JV
Partner), forming Marcon Coatings, Inc. and its subsidiary, Viratec Thin Films,
Inc. (Marcon/Viratec). The joint venture operated glass coating facilities. In
November 1995, the JV Partner commenced litigation against us alleging claims
for damages and seeking to have the Court order us to sell our 50% interest in
the joint venture to the JV Partner. We filed counterclaims seeking to have the
JV Partner's 50% interest sold to us. In March 1996, the Court ordered the JV
Partner to sell the shares of stock representing its 50% interest in
Marcon/Viratec to us upon payment of fair value for the shares as determined by
the Court, or as agreed to by us and the JV Partner. In January 1997, we agreed
to a comprehensive settlement of all claims and completed our purchase of the
joint venture businesses from the JV Partner. We paid $41 million to the JV
Partner for its 50% interest in the businesses and certain leased assets. Both
parties agreed to irrevocably release each other from all outstanding claims
related to the litigation, other than certain trade accounts payable in the
ordinary course of business.
Reflecting the March 1996 Court order, Marcon/Viratec's assets, liabilities
and results of operations were included in Apogee's consolidated financial
statements beginning in 1997. Through 1996, our 50% ownership investment in
Marcon/Viratec was accounted for using the equity method. Our equity in
Marcon/Viratec's net earnings for 1996 is included in the accompanying

Consolidated Results of Operations. A summary of assets, liabilities and results
of operations for Marcon/Viratec for 1996 is presented below:
(In thousands)
1996
- ----------------------------- -----------Current assets
$ 11,950
Noncurrent assets
23,444
Current liabilities
19,098
Noncurrent liabilities
8,602
Net sales
46,297
Gross profit
8,981
Net earnings
1,183
- ----------------------------- ------------
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12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
We maintain a qualified defined contribution pension plan that covers
substantially all full-time, non-union employees. Contributions to the Plan are
based on a percentage of employees' base earnings. We deposit pension costs with
the trustee annually. All pension costs were fully funded or accrued as of year
end. Contributions to the Plan were $4,344,000, $4,023,000 and $3,687,000 in
1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.

We also maintain a 401(k) savings plan, which allows employees to contribute
1% to 13% of their compensation. Apogee matches 30% of the first 6% of the
employee contributions. Our contributions to the Plan were $1,958,000,
$1,805,000 and $1,495,000 in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.
13. ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES
In 1998, our AutoGlass Segment purchased the assets of 10 retail auto glass
stores in four separate transactions. The aggregate purchase price of the
acquisitions was $0.8 million, including $0.2 million recorded as goodwill.

In 1997, as indicated in Note 11, we purchased our joint venture partner's 50%
interest in Marcon Coatings, Inc. and its subsidiary, Viratec Thin Films, Inc.
and certain leased assets. The aggregate purchase price, net of cash acquired,
was $40.2 million. Liabilities of $11.8 million were assumed. The purchase price
exceeded the fair value of net assets acquired by $34.5 million, which was
recorded as goodwill and is being amortized over 40 years.
In 1997, our Auto Glass segment purchased the common stock of a 46-location
retail auto glass replacement and repair company. The aggregate purchase price,
net of cash acquired, was $10.4 million, consisting of $1.3 million in
acquisition related expenditures and 215,000 shares of common stock valued at
$9.1 million. Liabilities of $5.9 million were assumed. The purchase price
exceeded the fair value of net assets acquired by $9.4 million, which was
recorded as goodwill. The Auto Glass segment also made two smaller acquisitions
of retail auto glass stores in 1997, purchasing assets for $0.1 million.

In 1996, our Auto Glass segment purchased the assets of 12 retail auto glass
stores and one distribution center in five separate transactions. The aggregate
purchase price of the acquisitions was $3.8 million, including $0.7 million
recorded as goodwill. Promissory notes of $0.5 million were issued in connection
with the transactions.
No liabilities were assumed in the 1996 transaction. All of the above
transactions were accounted for by the purchase method. Accordingly, our
consolidated financial statements include the net assets and results of
operations from the dates of acquisition.

In 1996, we sold selected assets and liabilities of the Nanik Window Coverings
unit (Nanik) for $17.6 million, realizing a $4.2 million gain included in "Other
expense, net" in the accompanying Consolidated Results of Operations. Nanik
accounted for less than 4% of consolidated net sales in 1996.

14. LEASES

As of February 28, 1998, we were obligated under noncancelable operating
leases for buildings and equipment. Certain leases provide for increased rentals
based upon increases in real estate taxes or operating costs. Future minimum
rental payments under noncancelable operating leases are:
FISCAL YEAR
(In thousands)
- ------------------------------------ ---------------1999
$ 12,593
2000
9,950
2001
6,696
2002
4,688
2003
3,489
Thereafter
5,142
- ------------------------------------ ---------------Total minimum payments
$ 42,558
==================================== ================
Total rental expense was $27,484,000, $23,551,000 and $22,155,000 in 1998,
1997 and 1996, respectively.
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15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
We have ongoing letters of credit related to our risk management programs,
construction contracts and certain industrial development bonds. The total value
of letters of credit under which we are obligated as of February 28, 1998 was
approximately $ 16,328,000. We have entered into a number of noncompete
agreements. As of February 28, 1998, we were committed to make future payments
of $3,613,000 under such agreements.
We have been a party to various legal proceedings incidental to our normal
operating activities. In particular, like others in the construction industry,
our construction business is routinely involved in various disputes and claims
arising out of construction projects, sometimes involving significant monetary
damages. Although it is impossible to predict the outcome of such proceedings,
we believe, based on facts currently available to us, that none of such claims
will result in losses that would have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition.

16. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES
Estimated fair values of our financial instruments at February 28, 1998 and
March 1, 1997 are as follows:
CARRYING AMOUNT
ESTIMATED FAIR VALUE
(In thousands)
1998
1997
1998
1997
- ------------------------------ ---------- --------- ---------- ---------Long-term debt including
current installments
$153,646 $129,347
$153,629
$129,305
Interest rate swap
agreements in a net
--648
93
payable position
============================== ========== ========= ========== ==========

Estimated fair value amounts have been determined using available market
information and appropriate valuation methodologies. However, judgment is
required in developing the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, these estimates
are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be realized in a
current market exchange.
For cash and cash equivalents, receivables, marketable securities and accounts
payable, carrying value is a reasonable estimate of fair value. The carrying
value of long-term debt that has variable interest rates is a reasonable

estimate of fair value. For long-term debt with fixed interest rates, fair value
is based on discounted projected cash flows using the rate at which similar
borrowings could currently be made. The fair value of interest rate swaps is the
difference between the present value of our future interest obligation at a
fixed rate and the counterparty's obligation at a floating rate.

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The following table presents a reconciliation of the denominators used in the
computation of basic and diluted earnings per share.
(In thousands)
1998
1997
1996
- -------------------------------- ----------- ----------- ----------Basic earnings per share weighted common
shares
27,795
27,384
26,975
outstanding
Weighted common shares
assumed
-673
283
upon exercise of stock
option
- -------------------------------- ----------- ----------- ----------Diluted earnings per share weighted common shares
and
common shares equivalent
27,795
28,057
27,258
outstanding
================================ =========== =========== ===========
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18. QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED)

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)
NET SALES
QUARTER
1998
- ------------------------------ ---------First
$223,851
Second
246,015
Third
235,021
Fourth
207,944
- ------------------------------ ---------Total
$912,831
- ------------------------------ ---------GROSS PROFIT
QUARTER
1998
- ------------------------------ ---------First
$ 46,889
Second
60,435
Third
51,638
Fourth
20,439
- ------------------------------ ---------Total
$179,401
- ------------------------------ ---------NET EARNINGS (LOSS)
QUARTER
1998
- ------------------------------ ---------First
$ 6,774
Second
9,657
Third
(10,435)
Fourth
(57,051)
- ------------------------------ ---------Total
$ (51,055)
- ------------------------------ ---------EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
BASIC*

1997
1996
----------- ---------$228,608
$219,032
253,154
222,186
228,781
215,487
240,234
214,442
----------- ---------$950,777
$871,147
----------- ---------1997
1996
----------- ---------$ 36,387
$ 31,925
42,316
31,824
40,117
28,264
32,981
26,510
----------- ---------$151,801
$118,523
----------- ---------1997
1996
----------- ---------$ 4,976
$ 3,481
7,980
5,646
7,602
5,172
5,662
3,536
----------- ---------$ 26,220
$ 17,835
----------- ----------

QUARTER
1998
1997
1996
- ------------------------------ ---------- ----------- ---------First
$
0.24
$
0.18
$
0.13
Second
0.35
0.29
0.21
Third
(0.37)
0.28
0.19
Fourth
(2.06)
0.20
0.13
- ------------------------------ ---------- ----------- ---------Total
$
(1.84) $
0.96
$
0.66
- ------------------------------ ---------- ----------- ---------EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
DILUTED*
QUARTER
1998
1997
1996
- ------------------------------ ---------- ----------- ---------First
$
0.24
$
0.18
$
0.13
Second
0.34
0.28
0.21
Third
(0.37)
0.27
0.19
Fourth
(2.06)
0.20
0.13
- ------------------------------ ---------- ----------- ---------Total
$
(1.84) $
0.93
$
0.65
- ------------------------------ ---------- ----------- ----------

*Per share data adjusted to reflect the fiscal 1997 stock dividend.
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19. BUSINESS SEGMENTS DATA
(In thousands)
NET SALES
1998
1997
1996
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------Glass technologies
$227,203
$192,827
$150,457
Auto glass
347,191
307,935
273,133
Building products & services
348,892
460,714
462,102
Intersegment elimination
(10,455)
(10,699)
(14,545)
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------Net sales
$912,831
$950,777
$871,147
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
1998
1997
1996
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------Glass technologies
$ 27,330
$ 19,908
$ 16,431
Auto glass
15,046
20,149
18,069
Building products & services
(96,433)
5,557
(2,073)
Corporate and other
(1,210)
882
30
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------Operating income (loss)
$(55,267)
$46,496
$32,457
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------IDENTIFIABLE ASSETS
1998
1997
1996
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------Glass technologies
$150,044
$132,005
$ 67,606
Auto glass
127,950
123,804
108,342
Building products & services
110,468
199,050
172,019
Corporate and other
75,659
46,105
38,169
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------Total
$464,121
$500,964
$386,136
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
1998
1997
1996
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------Glass technologies
$19,737
$16,972
$ 4,171
Auto glass
11,955
15,340
12,954
Building products & services
4,770
3,194
5,096
Corporate and other
1,752
107
394
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------

Total
$38,214
$35,613
$22,615
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------

DEPRECIATION & AMORTIZATION
1998
1997
1996
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------Glass technologies
$ 10,581
$ 7,810
$ 3,700
Auto glass
9,038
7,036
6,522
Building products & services
4,121
5,406
6,146
Corporate and other
250
206
160
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------Total
$23,990
$20,458
$16,528
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------

Apogee's Building Products & Services segment has subsidiaries in Europe and
Asia. During 1998, 1997 and 1996, these foreign operations had net sales of
$29,834,000, $120,318,000 and $114,305,000, respectively. Foreign operating
losses for 1998, 1997 and 1996 were $115,709,000, $5,716,000 and $1,983,000,
respectively. At February 28, 1998, March 1, 1997 and March 2, 1996,
identifiable assets of the foreign subsidiaries totaled $11,417,000, $86,866,000
and $58,753,000, respectively. Foreign currency transaction gains or losses
included in net earnings for 1997 and 1996 were immaterial. Foreign currency
transaction losses for fiscal 1998 were $3.4 million.
Apogee's export net sales are less than 10% of consolidated net sales. No
single customer, including government agencies, accounts for 10% or more of
consolidated net sales. Segment operating income (loss) is net sales less cost
of sales and operating expenses. Operating income does not include provision for
interest expense or income taxes. "Corporate and other" includes miscellaneous
corporate activity not allocable to business segments.
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SCHEDULE II
APOGEE ENTERPRISES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Valuation and Quantifying Accounts
(In thousands)

Balance at
beginning of
period
---------------

Charged to
costs and
expenses
--------------

Deductions
from reserves
(1)
---------------

Balance at
end of
period
-------------

For the year ended February 28, 1998:
Allowance for
Doubtful receivables
$7,297
===============

$1,428
==============

$1,774
===============

$6,951
=============

$6,772
===============

$2,917
==============

$2,392
===============

$7,297
=============

$8,658
===============

$1,983
==============

$3,869
===============

$6,772
=============

For the year ended March 1, 1997:
Allowance for
Doubtful receivables
For the year ended March 2, 1996:
Allowance for
Doubtful receivables

(1)

Net of recoveries
F-19

EXHIBIT 10(g)
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------

$275,000,000

CREDIT AGREEMENT
dated as of
May 21, 1998

among

APOGEE ENTERPRISES, INC.
THE LENDERS FROM TIME TO TIME PARTIES HERETO

and
THE BANK OF NEW YORK,

as Administrative Agent,
Letter of Credit Issuer and
Swing Line Lender
-----------------------------U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
Syndication Agent
HARRIS TRUST AND SAVINGS BANK
Documentation Agent
-------------------BNY CAPITAL MARKETS, INC.
Arranger

------------------------------ -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of May 21, 1998, among Apogee Enterprises, Inc.,
a Minnesota corporation (the "BORROWER"), each of the lenders from time to time
parties to this Agreement (collectively, the "LENDERS"), and The Bank of New
York, as letter of credit issuer, administrative agent for the Lenders and swing
line lender.
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested the Lenders severally to commit to lend
to the Borrower up to $275,000,000 on a revolving basis for general corporate
purposes; and
WHEREAS, the Borrower also has requested the Lenders to establish a
procedure pursuant to which it may obtain as part of the Lenders' commitments to
lend, up to $25,000,000 in face amount of letters of credit for general
corporate purposes; and

WHEREAS, the Lenders are willing to make loans, and to establish such a
procedure, on the terms and conditions provided herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01 Definitions.
(a) Terms Generally. The definitions ascribed to terms in this Agreement
apply equally to both the singular and plural forms of such terms. Whenever the
context may require, any pronoun shall be deemed to include the corresponding
masculine, feminine and neuter forms. The words "include", "includes" and
"including" shall be deemed followed by the phrase "without limitation". The
phrase "individually or in the aggregate" shall be deemed general in scope and
not to refer to any specific Section or clause of this Agreement. All references
herein to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be deemed references
to Articles and Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, this Agreement
unless the context shall otherwise require. The table of contents, headings and
captions herein shall not be given effect in interpreting or construing the
provisions of this Agreement. All references herein to "dollars" or "$" shall be
deemed references to the lawful money of the United States of America. All
references to laws or regulations refer to such laws or regulations, and
interpretations thereof, as now in effect or as amended, modified or superceded
from time to time. All references to a specific Governmental Authority shall be
deemed to include a reference to any successor to such authority.
(b) Accounting Terms. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the
term "consolidated" and all other terms of an accounting nature shall be
interpreted and construed in accordance with GAAP, as in effect from time to
time; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that, for purposes of determining compliance with any
covenant set forth in Article VII, such terms shall be construed in accordance
with GAAP as in effect on the date of this Agreement, applied on a basis
consistent with the construction thereof applied in preparing the Borrower's
audited financial statements referred to in Section 5.01(h). If there shall
occur a change in GAAP which but for the foregoing proviso would affect the
computation used to determine compliance with any covenant set forth

in Article VII, the Borrower and the Lenders agree to negotiate in good faith in
an effort to agree upon an amendment to this Agreement that will permit
compliance with such covenant to be determined by reference to GAAP as changed
while affording the Lenders the protection originally intended by such covenant
(it being understood, however, that such covenant shall remain in effect in
accordance with its existing terms unless and until such amendment shall become
effective).
(c) Other Terms. The following terms are used herein with the meanings

assigned below:
"ABR LOANS" means Loans that bear interest at a rate or rates
determined by reference to the Alternate Base Rate.

"ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT" means The Bank of New York, acting in the
capacity of administrative agent for the Lenders, or any successor
administrative agent appointed pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

"ADMINISTRATIVE QUESTIONNAIRE" means an administrative details reply
form delivered by a Lender to the Administrative Agent, in substantially
the form provided by the Administrative Agent or the form attached to an
Assignment and Acceptance.
"AFFECTED LENDER" has the meaning assigned in Section 4.07.

"AFFILIATE" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that
controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person.
"AGREEMENT" means this credit agreement, as it may be amended,
modified or supplemented from time to time in accordance with Section
11.05.
"ALTERNATE BASE RATE" means, for any day, a rate per annum equal to
the greater of:

(i) the rate of interest from time to time publicly announced by
the Administrative Agent in The City of New York as its prime
commercial loan rate in effect on such day; and
(ii) the sum of (a) 1/2 of 1% per annum and (b) the Federal Funds
Rate in effect on such day.
The Alternate Base Rate shall change as and when the greater of the
foregoing rates shall change. Any change in the Alternate Base Rate shall
become effective as of the opening of business on the day of such change.

"APPLICABLE LENDING OFFICE" means, with respect to a Lender and a
Loan, the applicable office of the Lender for making such Loan, as
specified in SCHEDULE I or in an Administrative Questionnaire delivered to
the Administrative Agent as the office from which such Lender makes Loans
of the relevant type.

-2"APPLICABLE MARGIN" means, at any date and with respect to each Loan,
the applicable margin set forth below based upon the Debt/EBITDA Ratio as
of such date (it being understood that measurement of the Debt/EBITDA as of
any Measurement Date is sufficient for this purpose):
Applicable Margin
----------------------------Eurodollar
Debt/EBITDA Ratio
ABR Loans
Loans
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------4.00 or greater
0.250%
1.500%
3.50 or greater, but less than 4.00
0.000
1.250
3.00 or greater, but less than 3.50
0.000
1.125
2.50 or greater, but less than 3.00
0.000
0.750
2.00 or greater, but less than 2.50
0.000
0.625
Less than 2.00
0.000
0.500
Notwithstanding the foregoing:

(i) Prior to the date of final determination of EBITDA for the fiscal
quarter of the Borrower to end on May 31, 1998, the Applicable Margin for

Eurodollar Loans shall not be less than 1.125%; and
(ii) If the Subordinated Debt Transaction shall not have been
completed on or prior to the 180th day after the Effective Date, then the
Applicable Margin shall be 0.250% per annum above the rate otherwise
determined until the Security Release Date.

"ASSIGNEE" has the meaning assigned in Section 10.03.

"ASSIGNMENT AND ACCEPTANCE" has the meaning assigned in Section 10.03.

"AVAILABLE COMMITMENT" means, on any day, an amount equal to (i) the
Total Commitment on such day MINUS (ii) the aggregate outstanding principal
amount of Loans and L/C Obligations on such day.
"BORROWER" shall have the meaning assigned in the preamble.
"BORROWING DATE" means, (i) with respect to any Loan, the Business Day
set forth in the relevant Borrowing Request as the date upon which the
Borrower desires to borrow such Loan and (ii) with respect to any Letter of
Credit, the Business Day set forth in the relevant L/C Request as the date
upon which the Borrower desires the L/C Issuer to issue such Letter of
Credit.
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"BORROWING REQUEST" means a Revolving Credit Request, a Swing Line
Request or a L/C Request.
"BUSINESS DAY" means any day that is (i) not a Saturday, Sunday or
other day on which commercial banks in The City of New York are authorized
or required by law to close and (ii) with respect to any Eurodollar Loan, a
day on which commercial banks are open for domestic and international
business (including dealings in dollar deposits) in London and The City of
New York.
"CAPITAL EXPENDITURES" means, for any period, the aggregate of all
expenditures (whether paid in cash or accrued as liabilities, and including
that portion of Capital Lease Obligations that is capitalized on the
consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries) by the
Borrower and its Subsidiaries during such period that are included in the
property, plant or equipment reflected in the consolidated balance sheet of
the Borrower and its Subsidiaries.
"CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS" means, with respect to any Person, the
obligation of such Person to pay rent or other amounts under any lease with
respect to any property (whether real, personal or mixed) acquired or
leased by such Person that is required to be accounted for as a liability
on a consolidated balance sheet of such Person.

"CODE" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.

"COLLATERAL AGENT" means The Bank of New York, acting in its capacity
of agent for the Lenders under the various Security Documents.
"COMMITMENT" means, with respect to a Lender, (i) on the date hereof,
the amount set forth opposite such Lender's name under the heading
"Commitment" on SCHEDULE I, and (ii) after the date hereof, the amount
recorded as such in the records maintained by the Administrative Agent
pursuant to Section 10.01, as such amount may be reduced from time to time
pursuant to Section 2.03.
"COMMITMENT FEE" has the meaning assigned in Section 3.07(a).
"COMMITMENT TERMINATION DATE" means the earlier to occur of (i) May
21, 2003 and (ii) the date, if any, on which the Total Commitment is
otherwise terminated pursuant to this Agreement.

"CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATION" means, as to any Person, any provision of any
security issued by such Person or of any agreement, instrument or
undertaking to which such Person is a party or by which it or any of its
Property is bound.

"CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT" means a contribution agreement, dated as of
the date hereof, to be entered into in substantially the form of the
Existing Contribution Agreement.
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"CONVERSION DATE" means, with respect to a Revolving Credit Loan, the
date on which a conversion of interest rates on such Revolving Credit Loan
shall take effect.
"CONVERSION REQUEST" means a request by the Borrower to convert the
interest rate basis for all or portions of outstanding Revolving Credit
Loans, which shall specify (i) the requested Conversion Date, which shall
not be sooner than the third Business Day after the date of delivery of
such Conversion Request, (ii) the aggregate amount of such Revolving Credit
Loans, on and after the Conversion Date, which are to bear interest as ABR
Loans or Eurodollar Loans and (iii) the term of the Interest Periods
therefor, if any.

"CREDIT DOCUMENTS" means this Agreement, any Notes, if and when issued
in accordance with Section 10.01(d), any Letters of Credit and the related
applications and agreements, the Supplemental Credit Documents and the
Security Documents.
"DEBT" means, for any Person, Indebtedness of such Person of the types
described in clauses (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (vi), (vii) and (viii) of the
definition of such term but excluding any Indebtedness of such Person
consisting of (a) any surety bond or any other obligations of like nature,
including, without limitation, letters of credit serving the same function
as a surety bond, PROVIDED that such surety bond or other obligation has
been provided to such Person in the ordinary course of such Person's
business and PROVIDED, FURTHER, that if there has been a demand or drawing
made under any such surety bond or other obligation, then such surety bond
or other obligation shall be included as Indebtedness of such Person in an
amount equal to the unreimbursed amount of such demand or the unreimbursed
amount of such drawing and (b) any trade payable incurred in the ordinary
course of such Person's business so long as no note or similar instrument
has been executed by such Person in connection with such trade payable.

"DEBT/EBITDA RATIO" means, at any date of determination, the ratio of
consolidated Debt of the Borrower, as of such date, to EBITDA at the most
recent fiscal quarter-end for the preceding four fiscal quarters.
"DEFAULT" means any event or circumstance which, with the giving of
notice or the passage of time, or both, would be an Event of Default.

"EBITDA" means, for any period, the consolidated net income of the
Borrower for such period, before subtracting consolidated income taxes,
Interest Expense, depreciation, and amortization (including, without
limitation, amortization associated with goodwill, deferred debt expenses,
restricted stock and option costs and non-competition agreements) of the
Borrower for such period. For purposes of this Agreement, the parties
hereto agree that, for the avoidance of doubt, the calculation of EBITDA
for each quarter in the fiscal year ended February 28, 1998 is $15,925,000.
In addition, the parties agree that income, expenses and charges for
Harmon, Ltd. in future fiscal years beginning with fiscal year 1999
relating to discontinued operations or "unusual items", as listed on the
Borrower's consolidated income statements (subject to a maximum of
$5,000,000 per annum), shall be excluded from EBITDA.
"EFFECTIVE DATE" shall mean the day during which the Effective Time

occurs.
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"EFFECTIVE TIME" has the meaning assigned in Section 6.01.

"ELIGIBLE AFFILIATE" means an Affiliate that is (i) a commercial bank
organized or licensed under the laws of the United States, or any state
thereof, and having a combined capital and surplus of at least
$500,000,000; (ii) a commercial bank organized under the laws of any other
country which is a member of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and
Development, or a political subdivision of any such country, and having a
combined capital and surplus of at least $100,000,000, provided that such
bank is acting through a branch or agency located in the United States;
(iii) a Person that is primarily engaged in the business of commercial
banking and having a combined capital and surplus of at least $100,000,000;
or (iv) a special purpose corporation which is engaged in making,
purchasing or otherwise investing in commercial loans in the ordinary
course of business and having a combined capital and surplus of at least
$100,000,000.
"ENVIRONMENTAL CLAIM" means any claim, assertion, demand, notice of
violation, suit, administrative or judicial proceeding, regulatory action,
investigation, information request or order involving any hazardous
substance, Environmental Law, noise or odor pollution or any injury or
threat of injury to human health, property or the environment.
"ENVIRONMENTAL LAW" means any federal, state, local or foreign law,
regulation, order, decree, opinion or agency requirement relating to (i)
the handling, use, presence, disposal or release of any hazardous substance
or (ii) the protection, preservation or restoration of the environment,
natural resources or human health or safety.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

"ERISA GROUP" means the Borrower and all members of a controlled group
of corporations and all trades or businesses (whether or not incorporated)
under common control which, together with the Borrower, are treated as a
single employer under Section 414 of the Code or are considered to be one
employer under Section 4001 of ERISA.

"EURODOLLAR LOANS" means Revolving Credit Loans that bear interest at
a rate or rates determined by reference to LIBOR.
"EURODOLLAR RESERVE PERCENTAGE" means, for any day, the percentage
prescribed by the Federal Reserve Board for determining the maximum reserve
requirement (including any marginal, supplemental or emergency reserve
requirements) on such day for a member bank of the Federal Reserve System
in The City of New York with deposits exceeding one billion dollars in
respect of "eurocurrency liabilities" (as defined in Regulation D of the
Federal Reserve Board).

"EUROPEAN SUBSIDIARY" means a Subsidiary of the Borrower which, as of
the date hereof, exists and is organized under the laws of, and of which
the principal place of business is located in, a European country.
"EVENT OF DEFAULT" has the meaning assigned in Section 8.01.
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"EXCLUDED TAXES" means all present and future taxes, levies, imposts,
duties, deductions, withholdings, fees, liabilities and similar charges
imposed on or measured by the overall net income of any Lender (or any
office, branch or subsidiary of such Lender) or any franchise taxes, taxes
on doing business or taxes measured by capital or net worth imposed on any
Lender (or any office, branch or subsidiary of such Lender), in each case

imposed by the United States of America or any political subdivision or
taxing authority thereof or therein, or taxes on or measured by the overall
net income of any office, branch or subsidiary of a Lender or any franchise
taxes, taxes imposed on doing business or taxes measured by capital or net
worth imposed on any office, branch or subsidiary of such Lender, in each
case imposed by any foreign country or subdivision thereof in which such
Lender's principal office or Eurodollar Lending Office (as set forth in the
Administrative Questionnaire) is located.
"EXISTING CREDIT AGREEMENT" means the Credit Agreement, dated as of
April 29, 1996 and thereafter amended, by and among the Borrower, the banks
from time to time parties thereto, ABN AMRO Bank N.V., as agent, and First
Bank National Association, as co-agent.
"EXISTING CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT" means the Contribution Agreement,
dated as of the 23rd day of April, 1998, by and among the Borrower and each
of its Subsidiaries.

"EXISTING INTERCREDITOR AGREEMENT" means the Intercreditor Agreement,
dated as of the 23rd day of April, 1998, by and among ABN AMRO Bank N.V.,
the banks party to the Existing Credit Agreement and the other creditors
and lenders parties thereto.
"EXISTING PLEDGE AGREEMENT" means the Pledge Agreement, dated as of
April 23, 1998, by and among the Borrower, the other pledgors party thereto
and ABN AMRO Bank N.V., as administrative and collateral agent.

"EXISTING SECURITY AGREEMENT" means the Security Agreement, dated as
of April 23, 1998, by and among the Borrower, the other debtors party
thereto and ABN AMRO Bank N.V., as administrative and collateral agent.
"EXISTING SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY" means the Subsidiary Guaranty
Agreement, dated as of April 23, 1998, by the guarantors party thereto in
favor of ABN AMRO Bank N.V., as agent for the secured creditors identified
therein.

"FEDERAL FUNDS RATE" means, for any day, the rate per annum (rounded,
if necessary, to the next greater 1/16 of 1%) equal to the weighted average
of the rates on overnight federal funds transactions with members of the
Federal Reserve System arranged by federal funds brokers on such day, as
published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on the Business Day next
succeeding such day; PROVIDED that (i) if such day is not a Business Day,
the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be such rate on such transactions
on the next preceding Business Day, and (ii) if no such rate is so
published on such next succeeding Business Day, then the Federal Funds Rate
for such day shall be the average rate quoted to the Administrative Agent
on such day on such transactions, as determined by the Administrative
Agent.
-7"FEDERAL RESERVE BOARD" means the Board of Governors of the Federal
Reserve System.

"FINANCIAL COVENANTS" means, collectively, the covenants of the
Borrower contained in Section 7.03.
"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles, as set forth in
the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and
pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or in such other
statements by such other entities as may be approved by a significant
segment of the accounting profession of the United States of America.

"GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORITY" means any nation or government, any state or
other political subdivision thereof and any entity exercising executive,
legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or

pertaining to government.
"GUARANTY" means, with respect to any Person, any obligation,
contingent or otherwise, of such Person guaranteeing or having the economic
effect of guaranteeing any Indebtedness of any other Person (the "PRIMARY
OBLIGOR") in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, and including any
obligation of such Person, (i) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply
funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness or to purchase (or
to advance or supply funds for the purchase of) any security for the
payment of such Indebtedness, (ii) to purchase property, securities or
services for the purpose of assuring the holder of such Indebtedness of the
payment of such Indebtedness or (iii) to maintain working capital, equity
capital or the financial condition or liquidity of the primary obligor so
as to enable the primary obligor to pay such Indebtedness. The terms
"GUARANTEED", "GUARANTEEING" and "GUARANTOR" shall have corresponding
meanings.

"HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCE" means any substance, in any concentration or
mixture, that is (i) listed, classified or regulated pursuant to any
Environmental Law, (ii) petroleum product or by-product, asbestos
containing material, polychlorinated biphenyls, radioactive material or
radon or (iii) any waste or other substance regulated by any Governmental
Authority or any Environmental Law.

"INDEBTEDNESS" means, with respect to any Person, (i) all obligations
of such Person for borrowed money or for the deferred purchase price of
property or services (including all obligations, contingent or otherwise,
of such Person in connection with letters of credit, bankers' acceptances,
Interest Rate Protection Agreements (limited to the exposure) or other
similar instruments, including currency swaps) other than indebtedness to
trade creditors and service providers incurred in the ordinary course of
business and payable on usual and customary terms, (ii) all obligations of
such Person evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures or other similar
instruments, (iii) all indebtedness created or arising under any
conditional sale or other title retention agreement with respect to
property acquired by such Person (even though the remedies available to the
seller or lender under such agreement are limited to repossession or sale
of such property), (iv) all Capital Lease Obligations of such Person, (v)
all obligations of the
-8types described in clauses (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) above secured by (or
for which the obligee has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be
secured by) any Lien upon or in any property (including accounts, contract
rights and other intangibles) owned by such Person, even though such Person
has not assumed or become liable for the payment of such Indebtedness, (vi)
all preferred stock issued by such Person which is redeemable, prior to
full satisfaction of the Borrower's obligations under the Credit Documents
(including repayment in full of the Loans and all interest accrued
thereon), other than at the option of such Person, valued at the greater of
its voluntary or involuntary liquidation preference plus accrued and unpaid
dividends, (vii) all Indebtedness of others Guaranteed by such Person and
(viii) all Indebtedness of any partnership of which such Person is a
general partner.

"INDEMNITEE" has the applicable meaning assigned in Sections 4.06(b)
and 4.06(c).
"INTEREST EXPENSE" means, for any period, the sum of all interest
charges of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such period determined on
a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, including all commitment
fees, letter of credit fees and related charges.
"INTEREST PERIOD" means, with respect to any Eurodollar Loan, each
one, two, three or six-month period, such period being the one selected by
the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.02 or 3.01 or 3.03(b) and commencing on

the date such Loan is made or at the end of the preceding Interest Period,
as the case may be; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that:
(i) any Interest Period that otherwise would end on
not a Business Day shall, subject to clause (iii) below,
to the next Business Day, unless such Business Day falls
calendar month, in which case such Interest Period shall
next preceding Business Day;

a day that is
be extended
in another
end on the

(ii) any Interest Period that begins on the last Business Day of
a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically
corresponding day in the calendar month at the end of such Interest
Period) shall, subject to clause (iii) below, end on the last Business
Day of a calendar month; and
(iii) any Interest Period that otherwise would end after the
Commitment Termination Date shall end on such Termination Date.

"INTERCREDITOR AGREEMENT" means an intercreditor agreement, dated as
of the date hereof, to be entered into in substantially the form of the
Existing Intercreditor Agreement.
"INTEREST RATE PROTECTION AGREEMENT" means any interest rate swap
agreement, interest rate cap agreement or similar hedging arrangement used
by a Person to fix or cap a floating rate of interest on Indebtedness to a
negotiated maximum rate or amount.
"INVESTMENTS" has the meaning assigned in Section 7.02(d).
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"L/C ISSUER" means The Bank of New York, acting in the capacity of
issuer of Letters of Credit.
"L/C OBLIGATIONS" means, with respect to any Lender at any date of
determination, the sum of (i) such Lender's participating share of the
maximum aggregate amount which is or at any time thereafter may become
available for drawings under all Letters of Credit then outstanding AND
(ii) the aggregate amount such Lender is obligated to fund or has funded to
the L/C Issuer as a result of such Lender's participating share in all
drawings under Letters of Credit honored by the L/C Issuer and not yet
reimbursed by the Borrower; PROVIDED that the L/C Issuer's participating
share of such aggregate amounts shall be equal to the portions of such
undrawn amounts in which the other Lenders have not acquired participating
interests, or the portions of such drawings which the other Lenders are not
obligated to fund pursuant to Section 2.06.

"L/C REQUEST" means a request by the Borrower for a Letter of Credit,
which shall (i) specify (A) the requested Borrowing Date and (B) the
aggregate amount of the L/C Obligations with respect to the requested
Letter of Credit, (ii) certify that, after issuance of the requested Letter
of Credit, (A) the aggregate amount of the L/C Obligations of all the
Lenders then outstanding will not exceed $25,000,000, and (B) the sum of
the aggregate amount of the L/C Obligations of all the Lenders then
outstanding and the aggregate amount of the Loans of all the Lenders then
outstanding will not exceed the Total Commitment then in effect and (iii)
be accompanied by such application and agreement for letter of credit, and
such other documents, as the L/C Issuer may reasonably specify to the
Borrower from time to time, all in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to the L/C Issuer.
"LENDERS" has the meaning assigned in the preamble and includes the
Swing Line Lender, as applicable.

"LETTER OF CREDIT" has the meaning assigned in Section 2.06(a).
"LETTER OF CREDIT FEES" has the meaning assigned in Section 3.07(b).

"LIBOR" means, with respect to any Interest Period, the rate per annum
determined by the Administrative Agent to be the offered rate for dollar
deposits with a term comparable to such Interest Period that appears on the
display designated as Page 3750 on the Dow Jones Telerate Service (or such
other page as may replace such page on such service, or on another service
designated by the British Bankers' Association, for the purpose of
displaying the rates at which dollar deposits are offered by leading banks
in the London interbank deposit market) at approximately 11:00 A.M., London
time, on the second Business Day preceding the first day of such Interest
Period. If such rate does not appear on such page, "LIBOR" shall mean the
arithmetic mean (rounded, if necessary, to the next higher 1/16 of 1%) of
the respective rates of interest communicated by the LIBOR Reference Banks
to the Administrative Agent as the rate at which U.S. dollar deposits are
offered to the LIBOR Reference Banks by leading banks in the London
interbank deposit market at approximately 11:00 A.M., London time, on the
second Business Day preceding the first day of such Interest Period in an
amount

-10substantially equal to the respective LIBOR Reference Amounts for a term
equal to such Interest Period.
"LIBOR REFERENCE AMOUNT" means, with respect to any LIBOR Reference
Bank and Interest Period, the amount of the Eurodollar Loan of the Lender
which is, or is affiliated with, such LIBOR Reference Bank, scheduled to be
outstanding during that Interest Period without taking into account any
assignment or participation and rounded up to the nearest integral multiple
of $1,000,000.

"LIBOR REFERENCE BANK" means each of The Bank of New York, U.S. Bank
National Association and Harris Trust and Savings Bank; PROVIDED that if
any such LIBOR Reference Bank assigns its Commitment or all its Loans to an
unaffiliated institution, such Person shall be replaced as a LIBOR
Reference Bank by the Administrative Agent's appointment, in consultation
with the Borrower and with the consent of the Required Lenders, of another
bank which is a Lender (or an Affiliate of a Lender).
"LIEN" means, with respect to any asset of a Person, (i) any mortgage,
deed of trust, lien, pledge, encumbrance, charge or security interest in or
on such asset, (ii) the interest of a vendor or lessor under any
conditional sale agreement, capital lease or title retention agreement
relating to such asset, and (iii) in the case of securities, any purchase
option, call or similar right of any other Person with respect to such
securities.

"LOANS" means, collectively, the Revolving Credit Loans and the Swing
Line Loans outstanding hereunder from time to time.
"MARGIN REGULATIONS" means, collectively, Regulations G, T, U and X of
the Federal Reserve Board.
"MATERIAL ADVERSE EFFECT" means (i) any material and adverse effect on
the consolidated business, properties, condition (financial or otherwise)
or operations, present or prospective, of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries, (ii) any material and adverse effect on the ability of the
Borrower timely to perform any of its material obligations, or of the
Lenders to exercise any remedy, under any Credit Document or (iii) any
adverse effect on the legality, validity, binding nature or enforceability
of any Credit Document.
"MATERIAL PLAN" has the meaning assigned in Section 8.01(j).
"MEASUREMENT DATE" means any of the dates specified in Section
7.01(n).

"MULTIEMPLOYER PLAN" means a multiemployer plan as defined in Section
4001(a)(3) of ERISA to which any member of the ERISA Group is making or
accruing an obligation to make contributions or has within the preceding
five plan years made or accrued contributions.
"NET WORTH" means, as of any date of determination, the total
consolidated stockholders' equity (determined without duplication) of the
Borrower and its Subsidiaries at such date.

-11"NEW INDEBTEDNESS" means, with respect to any Person, (i) all
obligations of such Person for borrowed money, (ii) all obligations of such
Person evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures or other similar instruments,
and (iii) all preferred stock issued by such Person which is redeemable,
prior to full satisfaction of the Borrower's obligations under the Credit
Documents (including repayment in full of the Loans and all interest
accrued thereon), other than at the option of such Person, valued at the
greater of its voluntary or involuntary liquidation preference plus accrued
and unpaid dividends, PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that New Indebtedness shall not
include (a) new issuances of industrial revenue bonds or industrial
development bonds which do not exceed an aggregate amount of $10,000,000
per issuance, and (b) any New Indebtedness defined in clauses (i) through
(iii) having a maturity of six months or less.

"NOTES" means, collectively, the Revolving Credit Notes and the Swing
Line Note.
"PARTICIPANT" has the meaning assigned in Section 10.02.

"PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.
"PENSION PLAN"
plan, as defined in
and (ii) is subject
the minimum funding

means a Plan that (i) is an employee pension benefit
Section 3(3) of ERISA (other than a Multiemployer Plan)
to the provisions of Title IV of ERISA or is subject to
standards under Section 412 of the Code.

"PERMITTED LIENS" has the meaning assigned in Section 7.02(b).

"PERSON" means any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, joint
venture, limited liability company trust, unincorporated organization,
association, corporation, institution, public benefit corporation, entity
or government (whether federal, state, county, city, municipal or
otherwise, including any instrumentality, division, agency, body or
department thereof).
"PLAN" means an employee benefit plan as defined in Section 3(3) of
ERISA (other than a Multiemployer Plan) which is maintained or contributed
to by the Borrower or any member of the ERISA Group.

"PLEDGE AGREEMENT" means a pledge agreement, dated as of the date
hereof, to be entered into in substantially the form of the Existing Pledge
Agreement.

"PRESCRIBED FORMS" has the meaning assigned in Section 4.04(a).
"PRO RATA SHARE" means, with respect to any Lender at any time of
determination, the proportion of such Lender's Commitment to the Total
Commitment then in effect or, after the Commitment Termination Date, the
proportion of such Lender's Loans and L/C Obligations to the aggregate
amount of Loans and L/C Obligations then outstanding.

-12-

"PROPERTY" means any interest in any kind of property or asset,
whether real, personal or mixed, or tangible or intangible, whether now

owned or hereafter acquired.

"REQUIRED LENDERS" means, at any date of determination, Lenders having
at least 51% of the Total Commitment then in effect or, if the Total
Commitment has been cancelled or terminated, holding at least 51% of the
aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Loans then outstanding; PROVIDED
that to the extent there is more than one Lender, Required Lenders shall
include at least two Lenders.
"RESPONSIBLE OFFICER" means the chief executive officer, president,
chief financial officer, chief accounting officer, treasurer or any vice
president, senior vice president or executive vice president of the
Borrower.
"REVOLVING CREDIT LOANS" means, collectively, the loans outstanding
pursuant to Section 2.01 from time to time.

"REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES" means, collectively, promissory notes of the
Borrower, issued in accordance with Section 10.01(d), in order to evidence
Revolving Credit Loans and substantially in the form of EXHIBIT C-1.
"REVOLVING CREDIT REQUEST" means a request by the Borrower for
Revolving Credit Loans, which shall specify (i) the requested Borrowing
Date, (ii) the aggregate amount of such Revolving Credit Loans, (iii)
whether such Revolving Credit Loans are to bear interest initially as ABR
Loans or Eurodollar Loans and (iv) if applicable, the initial Interest
Period therefor.

"SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"SECURITY AGREEMENT" means a security agreement, dated as of the date
hereof, to be entered into in substantially the form of the Existing
Security Agreement.
"SECURITY DOCUMENTS" means, collectively, the Contribution Agreement,
the Intercreditor Agreement, the Pledge Agreement, the Security Agreement
and the Subsidiary Guaranty, as well as any financing statements filed or
to be filed in connection therewith.

"SECURITY RELEASE DATE" means the earlier to occur of (i) completion
of the Subordinated Debt Transaction and (ii) delivery by the Borrower of a
certificate, signed by a Responsible Officer, to the effect that during two
consecutive fiscal quarters the Debt/EBITDA Ratio has been below 2.50.
"SENIOR DEBT" means all Debt of the Borrower or its Subsidiaries that
is not by its terms subordinated to any other Debt of the Borrower or its
Subsidiaries.
"SENIORDEBT/EBITDA RATIO" means, at any date of determination, the
ratio of consolidated Senior Debt of the Borrower, as of such date, to
EBITDA at the most recent fiscal quarter-end for the preceding four fiscal
quarters.
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subordinated notes having an aggregate initial offering price of at least
$100,000,000 in an underwritten transaction, either registered under the
Securities Act of 1933 or exempt from such registration pursuant to Rule
144A thereunder, on terms and conditions satisfactory to the Administrative
Agent, and the application of up to $100,000,000 of the net proceeds
thereof to prepay Loans and reduce the Total Commitment.
"SUBSIDIARY" means, at any time and with respect to any Person, any
other Person the shares of stock or other ownership interests of which
having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors
or other matters of such Person are at the time owned, or the management or

policies of which is otherwise at the time controlled, directly or
indirectly through one or more intermediaries (including other
Subsidiaries) or both, by such first Person. Unless otherwise qualified or
the context indicates clearly to the contrary, all references to a
"Subsidiary" or "Subsidiaries" in this Agreement refer to a Subsidiary or
Subsidiaries of the Borrower.

"SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY" means a Guaranty, dated as of the date hereof,
to be entered into in substantially the form of the Existing Subsidiary
Guaranty.
"SUPPLEMENTAL CREDIT DOCUMENTS" means, collectively, Interest Rate
Protection Agreements, letters of credit and other extensions of credit and
similar instruments entered into between The Bank of New York, any Lender
or any of their Affiliates and one or more of the Borrowers or its
Subsidiaries in connection with the transactions contemplated by the other
Credit Documents.

"SWING LINE LENDER" means The Bank of New York, acting in the capacity
of Lender of Swing Line Loans hereunder.
"SWING LINE LOANS" means, collectively, the loans outstanding pursuant
to Section 2.02 from time to time.

"SWING LINE NOTE" means a promissory note of the Borrower, issued in
accordance with Section 10.01(d), in order to evidence a Swing Line Loan
and substantially in the form of EXHIBIT C-2.
"SWING LINE MATURITY DATE" means, with respect to any Swing Line Loan,
the Business Day set forth in the relevant Swing Line Request as the date
upon which such Swing Line Loan matures; PROVIDED that such date shall be
no later than the seventh calendar day following the relevant Borrowing
Date.

"SWING LINE REQUEST" means a request by the Borrower for a Swing Line
Loan, which shall specify (i) the requested Borrowing Date, (ii) the
requested date of maturity and (iii) the amount of such Swing Line Loan.
"TAXES" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.04(a).

"TOTAL COMMITMENT" means, on any day, the aggregate Commitment of all
the Lenders on such day.
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"UNFUNDED VESTED LIABILITIES" means, with respect to any Plan at any
time, the amount (if any) by which (i) the present value of all vested
nonforfeitable accrued benefits under such Plan exceeds (ii) the fair
market value of all Plan assets allocable to such benefits, all determined
as of the then most recent valuation date for such Plan, but only to the
extent that such excess represents a potential liability of a member of the
ERISA Group to the PBGC or the Plan under Title IV of ERISA.
"U.S. SUBSIDIARY" means a Subsidiary of the Borrower which, as of the
date hereof, exists and is organized under the laws of, and of which the
principal place of business is located in, any state in the United States
of America.

"WELFARE PLAN" means a "WELFARE PLAN", as defined in Section 3(1) of
ERISA.
"WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY" means, at any time and with respect to any
Person, a Subsidiary, all the shares of stock of all classes of which
(other than directors' qualifying shares) or other ownership interests at
the time are owned directly or indirectly by such Person and/or one or more
other Wholly Owned Subsidiaries of such Person.

ARTICLE II
THE CREDIT FACILITY
Section 2.01 Revolving Credit Loans; Borrowing Procedure. (a) Until the
Commitment Termination Date, subject to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, each of the Lenders, severally and not jointly with the other
Lenders, agrees to make Revolving Credit Loans in dollars to the Borrower in an
aggregate principal amount at any one time outstanding not to exceed such
Lender's Commitment. Revolving Credit Loans shall be made on any Borrowing Date
only (i) in the minimum aggregate principal amount of (A) in the case of
Eurodollar Loans, $5,000,000 or integral multiples of $1,000,000 in excess
thereof or (B) in the case of ABR Loans, $1,000,000 or integral multiples of
$500,000 in excess thereof (PROVIDED that ABR Loans may always be borrowed in
the aggregate amount of the Available Commitment) and (ii) when taken together
with all Loans and L/C Obligations then outstanding in a maximum aggregate
principal amount not exceeding the Available Commitment (after giving effect to
any repayments or prepayments and any other borrowings of Loans on such
Borrowing Date). The Available Commitment may be utilized by the Borrower to
obtain Letters of Credit in accordance with Section 2.06.
(b) In order to borrow Revolving Credit Loans, the Borrower shall give a
Revolving Credit Request to the Administrative Agent, by telephone, telex or
telecopy or in writing, not later than 12:00 P.M. (noon) (if by telephone, to be
so confirmed in substantially the form of EXHIBIT A-1 not later than 2:00 P.M.),
New York time, (i) on the Borrowing Date for ABR Loans and (ii) on the third
Business Day before the Borrowing Date for Eurodollar Loans. Upon receipt, the
Administrative Agent forthwith shall give notice to each Lender of the substance
of the Revolving Credit Request. With respect to any Borrowing Date, the
Borrower may only deliver a single Revolving Credit Request to the
Administrative Agent. Not later than 3:00 P.M., New York time, on the Borrowing
Date, each Lender shall make available to the Administrative
-15Agent such Lender's Pro Rata Share of the requested Revolving Credit Loans in
funds immediately available at the Administrative Agent's office specified
pursuant to Section 11.07(a). Subject to satisfaction, or waiver by all of the
Lenders, of each of the applicable conditions precedent contained in Article VI,
on the Borrowing Date the Administrative Agent shall make available, in like
funds, to the Borrower the amounts received by the Administrative Agent from the
Lenders.

Section 2.02 Swing Line Loans; Borrowing Procedure. (a) Until the
Commitment Termination Date, subject to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, the Swing Line Lender may, at its option, make one or more Swing Line
Loans in dollars to the Borrower in an aggregate principal amount at any one
time outstanding not to exceed $5,000,000. Swing Line Loans, if made, shall be
made on any Borrowing Date only (i) in the minimum aggregate principal amount of
$250,000 or integral multiples of $100,000 in excess thereof and (ii), when
taken together with all other Loans and L/C Obligations then outstanding, in a
maximum aggregate principal amount not exceeding the Available Commitment (after
giving effect to any repayments or prepayments and any other borrowings of Loans
on such Borrowing Date). Each Swing Line Loan shall mature on the Swing Line
Maturity Date.

(b) The Borrower may request a Swing Line Loan by delivering a Swing Line
Request to the Administrative Agent by telephone, telex or telecopy or in
writing, not later than 2:00 P.M. (if by telephone, to be so confirmed in
substantially the form of EXHIBIT A-2 not later than 3:00 P.M.), New York time
on any Borrowing Date. With respect to any Borrowing Date, the Borrower may
deliver only a single Swing Line Request to the Administrative Agent. Any Swing
Line Request, once delivered to the Administrative Agent in accordance with this
Agreement, shall be irrevocable. On the Borrowing Date, if the Swing Line Lender
elects to make the requested Swing Line Loan, the Swing Line Lender shall make
available to the Administrative Agent the requested Swing Line Loan in funds

immediately available at the Administrative Agent's office specified pursuant to
Section 11.07(a). Subject to satisfaction, or waiver by the Swing Line Lender,
of each of the applicable conditions precedent contained in Article VI and to
the Swing Line Lender's election to make the requested Swing Line Loan, on the
Borrowing Date the Administrative Agent shall make available, in like funds, to
the Borrower the amounts received by the Administrative Agent from the Swing
Line Lender.

(c) Immediately upon the making of each Swing Line Loan, each Lender other
than the Swing Line Lender shall be deemed to, and hereby agrees to, have
irrevocably and unconditionally purchased from the Swing Line Lender a
participation in such Swing Line Loan in an amount equal to such Lender's Pro
Rata Share of the principal amount thereof. If the Swing Line Lender notifies
each such other Lender by not later than 4:30 P.M., New York time, on a Business
Day that the Swing Line Lender wishes the Lenders to fund their participation
interests in a Swing Line Loan, each such other Lender shall make available to
the Administrative Agent in immediately available funds by Fedwire or, in the
case of transfers from an account maintained at The Bank of New York, SWIFT
transfer, the amount of its respective participation in such Swing Line Loan by
not later than 5:30 P.M., New York time, on such day (which amount the
Administrative Agent shall promptly remit to the Swing Line Lender). To the
extent that the Swing Line Lender has notified a Lender and such Lender has not
funded its participation in any such Swing Line Loan, the amount of such
participation shall be deemed, for purposes of determining the Required Lenders
and distributions by the Administrative Agent to the Lenders of payments of
principal and interest received from the Borrower, to be subtracted from such
-16Lender's participation therein and added to the Swing Line Lender's
participation therein. In the event that any Lender fails to make available to
the Administrative Agent such Lender's Pro Rata Share of the requested Swing
Line Loan as provided above, the Swing Line Lender shall be entitled to recover
such amount on demand from such Lender, and together with interest thereon at a
rate per annum equal to the interest rate provided for ABR Loans in Section
3.02. The Administrative Agent shall distribute to each other Lender which has
paid all amounts payable by it under this Section 2.02(c) with respect to any
Swing Line Loans such other Lender's Pro Rata Share of all payments received by
the Administrative Agent from the Borrower thereunder with respect to a period
for which such other Lender has funded its participation, PROVIDED, HOWEVER,
that in the event such payment received by the Administrative Agent is required
to be returned, such Lender will promptly return to the Administrative Agent any
portion thereof previously distributed to it by the Administrative Agent.
(d) As among the Swing Line Lender and the Lenders, and without limiting
the obligations of the Lenders to make Loans to the Borrower or any of the
conditions precedent to the making of such Loans, each Lender's obligations
pursuant to Section 2.02(c) shall be absolute and unconditional and shall not be
affected by any circumstance (except as set forth below in this Section
2.02(d)), including (i) any set-off, claim, counterclaim, right of recoupment,
defense or other right which such Lender or the Borrower may have against the
Swing Line Lender, the Administrative Agent, the Borrower or any other Person
for any reason whatsoever; (ii) the occurrence or continuance of a Default or
Event of Default or (except to the extent that (A) the Swing Line Lender made
the subject Swing Line Loan at a time when an officer of the Swing Line Lender
involved in the administration of this Agreement had actual knowledge that one
or more of the conditions specified in Section 6.02 had not been satisfied in
any material respect and (B) such condition is not satisfied at the time the
Swing Line Lender makes a Swing Line Loan or directs the Lenders to purchase
participations pursuant to subsection (c) of this Section 2.02) the failure to
satisfy any of the other conditions specified in Sections 6.01 and 6.02; (iii)
any breach of any Credit Document by any Person other than the Swing Line
Lender; (iv) the termination or reduction of such Lender's Commitment pursuant
to Section 2.03 or the expiration of such Lender's Commitment, PROVIDED that the
relevant Swing Line Loan was made prior to such termination, reduction or
expiration.

Section 2.03 Termination and Reduction of Commitments. (a) The Borrower may
terminate the Total Commitment, or reduce the amount thereof, by (i) giving
written notice to the Administrative Agent, not later than 5:00 P.M., New York
time, on the fifth Business Day prior to the date of termination or reduction
and (ii) paying the amount of the Commitment Fee and Letter of Credit Fees
accrued through such date of termination or reduction. Reductions of the Total
Commitment shall be in the amount of $5,000,000 or in integral multiples of
$1,000,000 in excess thereof (or, if the amount of the Available Commitment is
less than $5,000,000, then all of such lesser amount), but shall not exceed the
Available Commitment in effect immediately before giving effect to such
reduction. Any termination, and all reductions, of the Total Commitment shall be
permanent.
(b) Upon completion of the Subordinated Debt Transaction, the Total
Commitment shall be reduced by an amount equal to the net proceeds thereof, up
to a maximum of $100,000,000.

(c) In the event that the Borrower or any Subsidiary shall issue (whether
through public offerings of securities or otherwise) New Indebtedness (including
the Subordinated Debt
-17Transaction), then as of the close of business on the third Business Day
thereafter, the Total Commitment shall be reduced by an amount equal to the net
proceeds of such issuance; PROVIDED that reductions pursuant to this Section
2.03(c) and Section 2.03(b) shall not be required to exceed $100,000,000 in the
aggregate during the term of this Agreement.
Section 2.04 Repayment. Revolving Credit Loans shall be repaid, together
with all accrued and unpaid interest thereon, on the Commitment Termination
Date. Swing Line Loans shall be repaid, together with all accrued and unpaid
interest thereon, on the earlier to occur of (i) the Swing Line Maturity Date
and (ii) the Commitment Termination Date.

Section 2.05 Prepayment. (a) The Borrower may prepay Loans bearing interest
on the same basis and having the same Interest Periods, if any, by giving notice
to the Administrative Agent, by telephone, telex, telecopy or in writing not
later than 12:00 P.M. (if by telephone, to be so confirmed not later than 2:00
P.M.), New York time, (i) on the third Business Day, in the case of Eurodollar
Loans, or (ii) on the Business Day in the case of ABR Loans, preceding the
proposed date of prepayment. Each such prepayment shall be in an aggregate
principal amount of $5,000,000 or in integral multiples of $1,000,000 in excess
thereof (or, if the aggregate amount of outstanding Loans is less than
$5,000,000, then all of such lesser amount), together with accrued interest on
the principal being prepaid to the date of prepayment and, in the case of
Eurodollar Loans, the amounts required by Section 4.03. Subject to the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, prepaid Loans may be reborrowed.

(b) In the event that the Borrower or any Subsidiary shall issue (whether
through public offerings of securities or otherwise) New Indebtedness (except
for the Subordinated Debt Transaction) or (except for issuances of common stock
to employees pursuant to employee stock option plans or similar employee benefit
plans adopted in the ordinary course of business) equity, then not later than
the close of business on the third Business Day thereafter, the Borrower shall
prepay Loans in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the net proceeds of such
issuance and (ii) the aggregate principal amount of Loans then outstanding.
(c) The Borrower shall prepay Loans, if necessary, so that the aggregate
amount of Loans and L/C Obligations at any time outstanding shall not exceed the
Total Commitment then in effect.
Section 2.06 Letters of Credit.

(a) Letters of Credit. Prior to the Commitment Termination Date, and
subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, from time to time the
Borrower may request that the L/C Issuer issue under this Agreement, and the L/C

Issuer shall, upon such request of the Borrower and upon the satisfaction or
waiver of each of the conditions contained in Article VI applicable thereto,
issue for the account of the Borrower, one or more nontransferable letters of
credit (each, a "LETTER OF CREDIT") in the L/C Issuer's then-customary form;
PROVIDED that the L/C Issuer shall not issue any Letter of Credit: (i) if, after
giving effect to such issuance, the sum of the aggregate amount of the L/C
Obligations of all the Lenders then outstanding and the aggregate amount of
Loans of all the Lenders then outstanding would exceed the Total Commitment then
in effect; (ii) having a stated amount of less than $10,000; (iii) having an
expiration date later than the Business Day four Business Days prior to the
Revolving Credit Termination Date; or (iv) if, after
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giving effect to such issuance, the aggregate amount of L/C Obligations of all
the Lenders then outstanding would exceed $25,000,000.
(b) Procedure for Obtaining Letter of Credit. The Borrower may request that
the L/C Issuer issue a Letter of Credit pursuant to Section 2.06(a) by giving a
L/C Request to the Admin istrative Agent in writing not later than 11:00 A.M.,
New York time, on the fifth Business Day prior to the proposed date of issuance
of the Letter of Credit. Upon receipt of any L/C Request, the Administrative
Agent shall forthwith give notice to each Lender of the substance thereof. On
the date specified by the Borrower in such notice and upon fulfillment of the
applicable conditions set forth in this Section 2.06 and Article VI or the
waiver thereof by Lenders, the L/C Issuer will issue such Letter of Credit in
the form specified in such L/C Request.

(c) Participation by Lenders. Immediately upon the issuance of a Letter of
Credit, each Lender other than the L/C Issuer shall be deemed to, and hereby
agrees to, have irrevocably and unconditionally purchased from the L/C Issuer a
participation in such Letter of Credit and each drawing thereunder in an amount
equal to such Lender's Pro Rata Share of the maximum amount which is or at any
time may become available to be drawn thereunder.
(d) Drawings and Reimbursement. (i) In the event of any request for a
drawing under any Letter of Credit by the beneficiary thereof, the L/C Issuer
shall notify the Borrower and the Administrative Agent as promptly as
practicable following receipt of such request, and the Borrower shall reimburse
the L/C Issuer on or prior to the third Business Day after the day on which such
drawing is honored in an amount in immediately available funds equal to the
amount of such drawing.
(ii) If the Borrower shall fail to immediately reimburse the L/C Issuer in
an amount equal to the amount of any drawing honored by the L/C Issuer
under a Letter of Credit, then the L/C Issuer shall promptly notify each
Lender of the unreimbursed amount of such drawing and of such Lender's
respective participation therein. Not later than 2:00 P.M., New York time,
on the Business Day after the date notified by the L/C Issuer or if the
Lenders are notified by the L/C Issuer prior to 11:00 A.M., New York time,
on the date so notified, each Lender shall make available to the L/C Issuer
in immediately available funds at the office of the L/C Issuer in The City
of New York an amount equal to its respective participation. For so long as
any Lender fails so to fund its participation in any such Letter of Credit,
the amount of such participation shall be deemed, for purposes of
determining the Required Lenders, to be subtracted from such Lender's L/C
Obligations and added to the L/C Issuer's L/C Obligations. If any Lender
fails to make available to the L/C Issuer on such Business Day the amount
of such Lender's participation in such Letter of Credit as provided in this
Section 2.06(d), then the L/C Issuer shall be entitled to recover such
amount on demand from such Lender, together with interest thereon at a rate
per annum equal to (A) from (and including) such Business Day to (and
including) the third Business Day thereafter, the Federal Funds Rate, and
(B) from (but excluding) such third Business Day, the sum of 2% and the
Federal Funds Rate. The L/C Issuer shall distribute to each Lender that has
paid all amounts payable by it under this Section 2.06 with respect to any
Letter of Credit such Lender's Pro Rata Share of all payments received by

the L/C Issuer from the Borrower in reimbursement of drawings honored by
the L/C Issuer under such Letter of Credit when such payments are received.
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(iii) The obligation of the Borrower to reimburse the L/C Issuer for
drawings made under the Letters of Credit and the obligations of the
Lenders under Section 2.06(d)(ii) shall be unconditional and irrevocable
and shall be paid strictly in accordance with the terms of the Credit
Documents under all circumstances, including the following circumstances:
(A) any lack of validity or enforceability of any Letter of
Credit;

(B) the existence of any claim, set-off, defense or other right
which the Borrower or any Affiliate of the Borrower may have at any
time against a beneficiary or any transferee of any Letter of Credit
(or any Persons for whom any such beneficiary or transferee may be
acting), the L/C Issuer, any Lender or any other Person, whether in
connection with any Credit Document, any transaction contemplated
thereby or any unrelated transaction;
(C) any draft, demand, certificate or any other document
presented under any Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent,
invalid or insuffi cient in any respect or any statement therein being
untrue or inaccurate in any respect;

(D) payment by the L/C Issuer under any Letter of Credit against
presentation of a demand, draft or certificate or other document that
does not comply with the terms of the Credit Documents;
(E) any other circumstance or happening whatsoever, which is
similar to any of the foregoing; or

(F) the fact that a Default or Event of Default shall have
occurred.
(e) Security Deposit. If a Default or Event of Default shall have occurred
and be continuing, the L/C Issuer may require the deposit of funds in an
interest-bearing account as agreed to between the Administrative Agent, the L/C
Issuer and the Borrower to secure payment to the beneficiary of any outstanding
Letter of Credit. Any funds so deposited shall be paid to the beneficiary of
such Letter of Credit if all conditions to such payment are satisfied or
returned to the L/C Issuer for distribution to the Lenders (or, if all
obligations under this Agreement shall have been indefeasibly paid in full, to
the Borrower), if no payment to the beneficiary has been made and the final date
available for drawings under such Letter of Credit has passed. Each payment or
deposit of funds by the L/C Issuer as provided in this paragraph shall be
treated for all purposes of this Agreement as a drawing duly honored by the L/C
Issuer under the related Letter of Credit.
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INTEREST AND FEES
Section 3.01 Interest Rate Determination; Conversion. (a) Except to the
extent that the Borrower shall request, in a Revolving Credit Request or
Conversion Request, that a Revolving Credit Loan bear interest as a Eurodollar
Loan, each Loan shall bear interest as an ABR Loan. All Swing Line Loans shall
bear interest as ABR Loans and may not be converted into Eurodollar Loans.
(b) The Borrower may request, by giving a Conversion Request to the
Administrative Agent, by telephone, telex, telecopy or in writing not later than
12:00 noon, New York time (if by telephone, to be so confirmed in substantially

the form of EXHIBIT B not later than 2:00 P.M., New York time), on the third
Business Day prior to the requested Conversion Date, that all or portions of the
outstanding Revolving Credit Loans, in the aggregate principal amount of
$5,000,000 or in integral multiples of $1,000,000 in excess thereof (or, if the
aggregate principal amount of outstanding Loans is less than $5,000,000, then
all such lesser amount), bear interest from and after the Conversion Date as
either ABR Loans or Eurodollar Loans; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that during the
continuance of any Default or Event of Default that shall have occurred, no
Revolving Credit Loan (or portion thereof) may be converted into Eurodollar
Loans. Upon receipt, the Administrative Agent forthwith shall give notice to
each Lender of the substance of each Conversion Request. Upon payment by the
Borrower of the amounts, if any, required by Section 4.03, on the Conversion
Date the Revolving Credit Loans or portions thereof as to which the Conversion
Request was made shall commence to accrue interest in the manner selected by the
Borrower therein.

Section 3.02 Interest on ABR Loans. Each ABR Loan shall bear interest from
the date made until the date repaid, or (if converted into a Eurodollar Loan) to
(but excluding) the first day of any relevant Interest Period, as the case may
be, payable in arrears on the last day of each calendar quarter of each year,
commencing with the first such date after the Effective Date, and on the date
such Loan is repaid, at a rate per annum equal to the sum of (a) the Alternate
Base Rate in effect from time to time and (b) the Applicable Margin.

Section 3.03 Interest on Eurodollar Loans. (a) Each Eurodollar Loan shall
bear interest from the date made until the date repaid or converted to an ABR
Loan, payable in arrears, with respect to Interest Periods of three months or
less, on the last day of such Interest Period, and with respect to Interest
Periods longer than three months, on the day which is three months after the
commencement of such Interest Period and on the last day of such Interest
Period, at a rate per annum equal to the sum of (i) the Applicable Margin, and
(ii) LIBOR.
(b) Each Eurodollar Loan shall become an ABR Loan at the end of the
Interest Period therefor unless (i) there shall not have occurred and be
continuing a Default or Event of Default and (ii) not later than the third
Business Day prior to the last day of such Interest Period, the Borrower shall
have delivered to the Administrative Agent (x) an irrevocable written election
of the subsequent Interest Period therefor, in which case such Eurodollar Loan
shall remain outstanding as a Eurodollar Loan, or (y) a Conversion Request with
respect thereto, in which case such Eurodollar Loan shall be converted in
accordance with Section 3.01(b).
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against "eurocurrency liabilities" in accordance with Federal Reserve Board
Regulation D, the Borrower shall pay additional interest during such period on
each outstanding Eurodollar Loan of such Lender (contemporaneously with each
interest payment due thereon commencing with the first such payment due at least
two Business Days after receipt of the notice referred to in the next sentence)
at a rate per annum up to but not exceeding the marginal rate determined by the
following formula:
LIBOR
-----------------------------------1 - Eurodollar Reserve Percentage

-

LIBOR

Each Lender shall promptly notify the Borrower, with a copy to the
Administrative Agent, upon becoming aware that the Borrower may be required to
make a payment of additional interest to such Lender. When requesting payment
pursuant to this Section 3.03(c), a Lender shall provide to the Borrower, with a
copy to the Administrative Agent, a certificate, signed by an officer of such
Lender setting forth, in reasonable detail, the basis of such claim, the amount
required to be paid by the Borrower to such Lender and the computations made by
such Lender to determine such amount. Absent manifest error, such certificate

shall be binding as to the amounts of additional interest owing in respect of
such Lender's Eurodollar Loans. Any Lender that gives notice under this Section
3.03(c) shall promptly withdraw such notice (by written notice of withdrawal
given to the Administrative Agent and the Borrower) whenever such Lender is no
longer required to maintain such reserves or the circumstances giving rise to
such notice shall otherwise cease.

Section 3.04 Interest on Overdue Amounts. Anything herein to the contrary
notwithstanding, all overdue amounts hereunder, and, during the continuance of
any Event of Default that shall have occurred, each Loan, shall bear interest,
payable on demand, at a rate per annum equal to the sum of (i) 2% and (ii) the
rate then applicable, in the case of Eurodollar Loans, until the end of the
current Interest Period therefor, and thereafter the rate of interest applicable
to ABR Loans, changing as and when such rate shall change.
Section 3.05 Day Counts. Interest on ABR Loans shall be calculated on the
basis of (a) a 365-day, or, if applicable, a 366-day, year for the actual number
of days elapsed for so long as interest is determined pursuant to clause (i) of
the definition of "Alternate Base Rate" and (b) a 360-day year for the actual
number of days elapsed otherwise. Interest on all other Loans, and all fees
shall be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year for the actual number of days
elapsed.
Section 3.06 Maximum Interest Rate. (a) Nothing in this Agreement shall
require the Borrower to pay interest at a rate exceeding the maximum rate
permitted by applicable law. Neither this Section 3.06 nor Section 11.01 is
intended to limit the rate of interest payable for the account of any Lender to
the maximum rate permitted by the laws of the State of New York (or any other
applicable law) if a higher rate is permitted with respect to such Lender by
supervening provisions of U.S. federal law.

(b) If the amount of interest payable for the account of any Lender on any
interest payment date in respect of the immediately preceding interest
computation period, computed pursuant to this Article III, would exceed the
maximum amount permitted by applicable law to be
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charged by such Lender, the amount of interest payable for its account on such
interest payment date shall automatically be reduced to such maximum permissible
amount.
(c) If the amount of interest payable for the account of any Lender in
respect of any interest computation period is reduced pursuant to Section
3.06(b) and the amount of interest payable for its account in respect of any
subsequent interest computation period would be less than the maximum amount
permitted by law to be charged by such Lender, then the amount of interest
payable for its account in respect of such subsequent interest computation
period shall be automatically increased to such maximum permissible amount;
PROVIDED that at no time shall the aggregate amount by which interest paid for
the account of any Lender has been increased pursuant to this Section 3.06(c)
exceed the aggregate amount by which interest paid for its account has
theretofore been reduced pursuant to Section 3.06(b).
Section 3.07 Fees.
(a) The Commitment Fee. The Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrative
Agent, for the respective accounts of the Lenders, on the last day of each
calendar quarter of each year, commencing with the first such day after the
Effective Date, and on the Commitment Termination Date, a fee (the "COMMITMENT
FEE") computed by applying (i) the applicable percentage per annum set forth
below based on the Debt/EBITDA Ratio on each day during the then-ending quarter
(or shorter period ending with the Commitment Termination Date) (it being
understood that measurement of the Debt/EBITDA as of any Measurement Date is
sufficient for this purpose) to (ii) the Available Commitment on such day:

Commitment Fee

Debt/EBITDA Ratio
- ----------------4.00 or greater
3.50 or greater, but
3.00 or greater, but
2.50 or greater, but
2.00 or greater, but
Less than 2.00

less
less
less
less

than
than
than
than

Percentage Per Annum
-------------------0.350%
0.300
0.250
0.225
0.175
0.125

4.00
3.50
3.00
2.50

Prior to the date of final determination of EBITDA for the fiscal quarter of the
Borrower to end on May 31, 1998, the Commitment Fee percentage per annum shall
not be less than 0.250%.

(b) Letter of Credit Fees. In lieu of any letter of credit commissions or
fees provided for in any letter of credit application (other than documentary
and processing charges referred to in clause (iv) below), the Borrower agrees to
pay to the L/C Issuer in funds immediately available at the office of the L/C
Issuer specified in Section 11.07(a) the following fees and other amounts with
respect to each outstanding Letter of Credit (collectively, the "LETTER OF
CREDIT FEES"):
-23(i) an administrative fee equal to 0.100% per annum on the daily
amount stated to be available from time to time for drawing under such
Letter of Credit from (and including) the date of issuance until (but
excluding) the expiration date of such Letter of Credit, payable to the L/C
Issuer for its account in arrears on the last day of each calendar quarter,
commencing on the first such date after the Borrowing Date, and on such
expiration date;
(ii) a letter of credit fee, at a rate per annum equal to the
Applicable Margin from time to time in effect for Eurodollar Loans, on the
daily amount stated to be available from time to time for drawing under
such Letter of Credit from (and including) the date of issuance until (but
excluding) the expiration date of such Letter of Credit payable to the L/C
Issuer for the account of the Lenders in arrears on the last day of each
calendar quarter, commencing on the first such date after the Borrowing
Date, and on such expiration date;

(iii) with respect to drawings made thereunder, interest, payable on
demand to the L/C Issuer (if applicable, for the benefit of the Lenders
that have funded a participation therein pursuant to Section 2.06(d)(ii)),
on the amount paid by the L/C Issuer in respect of each such drawing from
(and including) the date of the drawing to (but excluding) the date such
amount is reimbursed by the Borrower, at a rate per annum equal to (A) from
(and including) the date of such drawing to (and including) the third
Business Day after the date of such drawing, the rate of interest then
applicable to ABR Loans, changing as and when said rate shall change, and
(B) from (but excluding) the third Business Day after the date of such
drawing, the sum of (x) 2% and (y) the rate specified in clause (A); and
(iv) with respect to the issuance, amendment or transfer of such
Letter of Credit and each drawing made thereunder, customary documentary
and processing charges payable to the L/C Issuer in accordance with the L/C
Issuer's standard schedule for such charges in effect at the time of such
issuance, amendment, transfer or drawing, as the case may be.

Promptly upon receipt by the L/C Issuer of any amount described in clause (ii)
or (iii) of this Section 3.07(b), the L/C Issuer shall distribute to each Lender
that has paid all amounts payable by it under Section 2.06(d) such Lender's
ratable share of such amount. Amounts payable under clauses (i) and (iv) of this
Section 3.07(b) shall be retained by the L/C Issuer.
ARTICLE IV

DISBURSEMENT AND PAYMENT
Section 4.01 Disbursement. (a) Each Loan shall be made by the relevant
Lender from such Lender's branch or affiliate identified as its Applicable
Lending Office.
(b) The failure of any Lender to make any Loan to be made by it on the
Borrowing Date therefor shall not relieve any other Lender of its obligation to
make its Loan or Loans on such
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date, but neither any Lender nor the Administrative Agent shall be responsible
for the failure of any other Lender to make a Loan to be made by such other
Lender.
(c) The Administrative Agent may, but shall not be required to, advance on
behalf of any Lender the amount of such Lender's Loans to be made on a Borrowing
Date, unless such Lender shall have notified the Administrative Agent prior to
such Borrowing Date that it does not intend to make such Loans on such date. If
the Administrative Agent makes any such advance, the Administrative Agent shall
be entitled to recover the amount so advanced on demand from the Lender on whose
behalf such advance was made and, if such Lender does not pay the Administrative
Agent the amount of such advance on demand, the Borrower agrees promptly to
repay such amount to the Administrative Agent. Until such amount is repaid to
the Administrative Agent by such Lender or the Borrower, such advance shall be
deemed for all purposes to be a Loan made on such Borrowing Date by the
Administrative Agent. The Administrative Agent shall be entitled to recover from
the Lender or the Borrower, as the case may be, interest on the amount advanced
by it for each day from the Borrowing Date therefor until repaid to the
Administrative Agent, at a rate per annum equal to the Federal Funds Rate until
the third Business Day after the date of the advance and, thereafter, at the
rate per annum equal to the relevant rate on Loans made on the relevant
Borrowing Date.
Section 4.02 Method and Time of Payments; Sharing among Lenders. (a) All
funds received by the Administrative Agent for the account of the Lenders in
respect of payments made by the Borrower under, or from any other Person on
account of, any Credit Document shall be distributed promptly by the
Administrative Agent among the Lenders, in like funds as received, ratably in
proportion to their respective interests therein. Each payment of the Commitment
Fee and each reduction of Commitments shall be apportioned among the Lenders in
proportion to each Lender's Pro Rata Share.

(b) All payments by the Borrower hereunder shall be made without setoff or
counterclaim to the Administrative Agent, for its account or for the account of
the Lender or Lenders entitled thereto, as the case may be, in dollars and in
immediately available funds at the office of the Administrative Agent
theretofore designated in writing to the Borrower not later than 11:00 A.M., New
York time, on the date when due or, in the case of payments pursuant to Sections
3.04, 4.03, 4.04, 4.06 or payments otherwise specified as payable upon demand,
forthwith upon written demand therefor.
(c) Whenever any payment from the Borrower shall be due on a day that is
not a Business Day, the date of payment thereof shall be extended to the next
succeeding Business Day. If the date for any payment of principal is extended by
operation of law or otherwise, interest thereon shall be payable for such
extended time.

(d) Unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice from the
Borrower prior to the date on which any payment from the Borrower is due that
the Borrower will not make such payment in full, the Administrative Agent may
assume that the Borrower has made such payment in full to the Administrative
Agent on such date and the Administrative Agent may, in reliance upon such
assumption, but shall not be obligated to, cause to be distributed to each
Lender on such due date an amount equal to the amount then due to such Lender.
If and to the extent that the Borrower shall not have so made such payment, each

Lender shall repay to the Administrative Agent forthwith on demand such amount
distributed to such Lender together with
-25interest thereon, for each day from the date such amount is distributed to such
Lender until the date such Lender repays such amount to the Administrative
Agent, at the Federal Funds Rate.

(e) If any Lender shall receive from the Borrower or any other Person any
amount owing under any Credit Document (whether received pursuant to the
exercise of any right of set-off, banker's lien, realization upon any security
held for or appropriated to such obligation or otherwise) other than in
proportion to such Lender's ratable share thereof, then such Lender shall
purchase from each other Lender a participating interest in so much of the other
Lenders' Loans as shall be necessary in order that each Lender shall share such
payment with each of the other Lenders in proportion to each Lender's ratable
share; PROVIDED that nothing herein contained shall obligate any Lender to apply
any set-off or banker's lien or collateral security permitted hereby first to
the obligations of the Borrower hereunder if the Borrower is obligated to such
Lender pursuant to other loans or notes. If any purchasing Lender shall be
required to return any excess payment received by it, such participation shall
be rescinded and the purchase price restored to the extent of such return, but
without interest.
Section 4.03 Compensation for Losses. (a) If (i) the Borrower prepays
Loans, or a Conversion Date occurs (except pursuant to Section 4.05), other than
on the last day of the relevant Interest Period, (ii) the Borrower revokes any
Borrowing Request, (iii) Loans (or portions thereof) are converted into ABR
Loans (except pursuant to Section 4.05) or (iv) Loans (or portions thereof)
shall become or be declared to be due prior to the Commitment Termination Date,
then the Borrower shall pay to each Lender an amount that will compensate such
Lender for any loss (other than lost profit) or premium or penalty incurred by
such Lender as a result of such prepayment, conversion, declaration or
revocation in respect of funds obtained for the purpose of making or maintaining
such Lenders's Loans, or any portion thereof. Such compensation shall include an
amount equal to the excess, if any, of (i) the amount of interest that would
have accrued on the amount so paid or prepaid, or not borrowed or converted, for
the period from the date of such payment or prepayment or conversion or failure
to borrow to the last day of such Interest Period (or, in the case of a failure
to borrow, the Interest Period that would have commenced on the expected
Borrowing Date) in each case at the applicable rate of interest for such Loan
(excluding, however, any margin included therein) over (ii) the amount of
interest (as reasonably determined by such Lender) that would have accrued on
such amount were it on deposit for a comparable period with leading banks in the
London interbank market or in the New York certificate of deposit market, as the
case may be.
(b) If requested by the Borrower, in connection with a payment due pursuant
to this Section 4.03, a Lender shall provide to the Borrower, with a copy to the
Administrative Agent, a certificate setting forth in reasonable detail the
amount required to be paid by the Borrower to such Lender and the computations
made by such Lender to determine such amount. In the absence of manifest error,
such certificate shall be conclusive as to the amount required to be paid.
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(a) Withholding. (i) All payments under this Agreement and under the
Notes (including payments of principal and interest) shall be payable to
each Lender free and clear of any and all present and future taxes, levies,
imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings, fees, liabilities and similar
charges other than Excluded Taxes (collec tively, "TAXES"). If any Taxes
are required to be withheld or deducted from any amount payable under this
Agreement, then the amount payable under this Agreement shall be increased

to the amount which, after deduction from such increased amount of all
Taxes required to be withheld or deducted therefrom, will yield to such
Lender the amount stated to be payable under this Agreement. The Borrower
shall also hold each Lender harmless and indemnify it for any stamp or
other taxes with respect to the preparation, execution, delivery,
recording, performance or enforcement of the Credit Documents (all of which
shall be included within "Taxes"). If any of the Taxes specified in this
Section 4.04(a) are paid by any Lender, the Borrower shall, upon demand of
such Lender, promptly reimburse such Lender for such payments, together
with any interest, penalties and expenses incurred in connection therewith.
The Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent certificates or
other valid vouchers for all Taxes or other charges deducted from or paid
with respect to payments made by the Borrower hereunder. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, the Borrower shall be entitled, to the extent required to do
so by law, to deduct or withhold (and shall not be required to make
payments as otherwise required by this Section 4.04 on account of such
deductions or withholdings) income or other similar taxes imposed by the
United States of America from interest, fees or other amounts payable
hereunder for the account of any Lender other than a Lender (A) that is a
U.S. Person for U.S. federal income tax purposes or (B) that has the
Prescribed Forms on file with the Borrower for the applicable year to the
extent deduction or withholding of such taxes is not required as a result
of such filing of such Prescribed Forms; PROVIDED that, if the Borrower
shall so deduct or withhold any such taxes, the Borrower shall provide a
statement to the Administrative Agent and such Lender, setting forth the
amount of such taxes so deducted or withheld, the applicable rate and any
other information or documentation which such Lender may reasonably request
for assisting such Lender to obtain any allowable credits or deductions for
the taxes so deducted or withheld in the jurisdiction or jurisdictions in
which such Lender is subject to tax.
(ii) Each Lender that is not incorporated under the laws of the United
States of America or a state thereof shall deliver to the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent two duly completed copies of United States Internal
Revenue Service Form 1001 or 4224 (or any successor form or forms),
certifying in either case that such Lender is entitled to receive payments
under this Agreement without deduction or withholding of any United States
federal income taxes ("PRESCRIBED FORMS"). Each Lender that so delivers
such Prescribed Forms further undertakes to deliver to the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent two additional copies of such Prescribed Forms on or
before the date that such Prescribed Forms expire or become obsolete or
after the occurrence of any event requiring a change in the most recent
Prescribed Forms so delivered by it, and such amendments thereto or
extensions or renewals thereof as may be reasonably requested by the
Borrower or the Administrative Agent, in each case certifying that such
Lender is entitled to receive payments under this Agreement without
deduction or withholding of

-27any United States federal income taxes, unless an event (including without
limitation any change in treaty, law or regulation) has occurred prior to
the date on which any such delivery would otherwise be required which
renders all such Prescribed Forms inapplicable or which would prevent such
Lender from duly completing and delivering Prescribed Forms with respect to
it and such Lender advises the Borrower and the Administrative Agent that
it is not capable of receiving payments without any deduction or
withholding of United States federal income tax. If any Lender that is not
incorporated under the laws of the United States of America or a state
thereof fails to comply with the provisions of this Section, the Borrower
and/or the Administrative Agent, may, as required by law, deduct and
withhold federal income tax payments from payments to such Lender under
this Agreement.
(b) Additional Costs. Subject to Sections 4.04(c) and (d):

(i) Without duplication of any amounts payable described in

Section 3.03(c), 4.03 or 4.04(a) or 4.04(b)(ii), if any change in any
law or regulation or in the interpretation thereof by any court or
administrative or Governmental Authority charged with the
administration thereof, or the enactment of any law or regulation
shall result in the imposition upon any Lender (or such Lender's
Applicable Lending Office) of (1) any reserve, special deposit or
similar requirement against any Lender's Commitment, Loans or L/C
Obligations or (2) any other condition regarding this Agreement, its
Commitment, Loans or L/C Obligations, and the result of any event
referred to in clause (1) or (2) shall be to increase the cost of
maintaining such Commitment, Loan or L/C Obligation (which increase in
cost shall be calculated in accordance with such Lender's reasonable
averaging and attribution methods) by an amount which such Lender
deems to be material, then, upon demand by such Lender, the Borrower
shall pay to such Lender an amount equal to such increase in cost; and
(ii) Without duplication of any amounts payable described in
Section 3.03(c), 4.03, 4.04(a) or 4.04(b)(i), if any Lender shall have
determined that the adoption of any applicable law, rule, regulation
or guideline regarding capital adequacy, or any change therein, or any
change in the interpretation or administration thereof by any
Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency charged with
the interpretation or administration thereof, (including any such
adoption or change made prior to the date hereof but not effective
until after the date hereof) or compliance by such Lender (or such
Lender's Applicable Lending Office) with any request or directive
regarding capital adequacy (whether or not having the force of law) of
any such authority, central bank or comparable agency, has or would
have the effect of reducing the rate of return on capital for such
Lender (or such Lender's Applicable Lending Office) or any corporation
controlling such Lender as a consequence of its obligations under this
Agreement to a level below that which such Lender (or such Lender's
Applicable Lending Office) or such corporation could have achieved but
for such adoption, change or compliance (taking into consideration
such Lender's (or such Lender's Applicable Lending Office) or such
corporation's policies with respect to capital adequacy), then from
time to time, upon demand by such Lender, then the Borrower shall pay
to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compen sate
such Lender (or such Lender's Applicable Lending Office) or such
corporation for such reduction.
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pursuant to this Section 4.04, each Lender shall, if possible, designate a
different Applicable Lending Office if such designation will avoid the need
for giving such notice and will not, in the judgment of such Lender, be
otherwise disadvantageous to such Lender.
(d) Certificate, Etc. If requested by the Borrower, in connection with
any demand for payment pursuant to this Section 4.04, a Lender shall
provide to the Borrower, with a copy to the Administrative Agent, a
certificate setting forth in reasonable detail the basis for such demand,
the amount required to be paid by the Borrower to such Lender, the
computations made by such Lender to determine such amount and satisfaction
of the conditions set forth in the next sentence. Anything to the contrary
herein notwithstanding, no Lender shall have the right to demand any
payment or compensation under this Section 4.04 (i) with respect to any
period more than 90 days prior to the date it has made a demand pursuant to
this Section 4.04 or (ii) to the extent that such Lender determines in good
faith that the interest rate or margin on the relevant Loans appropriately
accounts for any increased cost or reduced rate of return. In the absence
of manifest error, the certificate referred to above shall be conclusive as
to the amount required to be paid.
Section 4.05 Impracticability. If at any time any Lender shall determine in
good faith (which determination shall be conclusive) that the making or

maintenance of all or any part of such Lender's Eurodollar Loans has been made
impracticable or unlawful because of compliance by such Lender in good faith
with any law or guideline or interpretation or administration thereof by any
Governmental Authority charged with the interpretation or administration thereof
or with any request or directive of such body (whether or not having the effect
of law) or because dollar deposits in the amount and requested maturity of such
Eurodollar Loans are not available to such Lender in the London eurodollar
interbank market, then the Administrative Agent, upon notice to it of such
determination by such Lender, shall promptly advise the other Lenders and the
Borrower thereof. Upon such date as shall be specified in such notice and until
such time as the Administrative Agent, upon notice to it by such Lender, shall
notify the Borrower and the other Lenders that the circumstances specified by it
in such notice no longer apply, (a) notwithstanding any other provision of this
Agreement, such Eurodollar Loans shall, automatically and without requirement of
further notice, or any payment pursuant to Section 4.03 or 4.04, be converted to
ABR Loans and (b) the obligation of such Lender to make or continue Eurodollar
Loans shall be suspended, and, if the Borrower shall request in a Revolving
Credit Request or Conversion Request that the Lenders make Eurodollar Loans, the
Revolving Credit Loan requested so to be made by such Lender shall instead be
made as an ABR Loan.
Section 4.06 Expenses; Indemnity. (a) The Borrower will (i) pay or
reimburse the Administrative Agent for all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and
expenses incurred in connection with the preparation and execution of, and any
amendment, supplement or modification to, this Agreement, any other Credit
Documents, and any other documents prepared in connection herewith or therewith,
and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby,
including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and disbursements of Sullivan
& Cromwell, counsel to the Administrative Agent; (ii) pay or reimburse each
Lender and the Administrative Agent for all reasonable costs and expenses
incurred in connection with the enforcement or preservation of any rights under
this Agreement, any other Credit Documents, and any such other documents,
including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel
to the Lenders and the Lenders; and (iii) pay and reimburse (A) each
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to Section 9.06 and (B) the Administrative Agent for any and all liabilities,
expenses or disbursements incurred by it which are the subject of
indemnification payments from the Lenders to the extent that the Administrative
Agent, for whatever reason, did not receive such indemnification payments from
any Lender or Lenders. The Borrower also agrees to indemnify each Lender against
any transfer taxes, documentary taxes, assessments or charges made by any
Governmental Authority by reason of the execution and delivery of any Credit
Document.
(b) The Borrower will indemnify the Administrative Agent and each of the
Lenders and their respective directors, officers, employees, agents and
Affiliates (for purposes of this paragraph, each, an "INDEMNITEE") against, and
to hold each Indemnitee harmless from, any and all claims, liabilities, damages,
losses, costs, charges and expenses (including reasonable fees and expenses of
counsel) incurred by or asserted against any Indemnitee arising out of, in any
way connected with, or as a result of (i) the execution or delivery of any
Credit Document or any agreement or instrument contemplated by any Credit
Document, the performance by the parties thereto of their respective obligations
under any Credit Document or the consummation of the transactions and the other
transactions contemplated by any Credit Document, (ii) the use of the proceeds
of the Loans or (iii) any claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding
relating to any of the foregoing, whether or not any Indemnitee is a party
thereto; PROVIDED that such indemnity shall not, as to any Indemnitee, be
available to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or
related expenses are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final
and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful
misconduct of such Indemnitee; PROVIDED, FURTHER, that the Lenders will make
reasonable efforts to coordinate and to utilize the minimum number of law firms
or counsel reasonably necessary to conduct properly any litigation with respect

to which indemnity is sought under this Section 4.06(b).

(c) The Borrower will indemnify the Administrative Agent and the L/C Issuer
and their respective directors, officers, employees, agents and Affiliates (for
purposes of this paragraph, each, an "INDEMNITEE") against, and to hold each
Indemnitee harmless from, any and all claims, liabilities, damages, losses,
costs, charges and expenses (including fees and expenses of counsel) incurred by
or asserted against any of them arising out of, in any way connected with, or as
a result of (i) the issuance of any Letter of Credit or (ii) the failure of the
L/C Issuer to honor a drawing under any Letter of Credit as a result of any act
or omission, whether rightful or wrongful, of any Governmental Authority;
PROVIDED that such indemnity shall not, as to any such Indemnitee, be available
to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or related expenses
(i) are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and
nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful
misconduct of such Indemnitee or (ii) are attributable to taxes, levies,
imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings, fees, liabilities or similar charges
whether or not the Borrower is required to pay amounts with respect thereto
under this Agreement. As between the Borrower and the L/C Issuer, the Borrower
assumes all risks of the acts and omissions of, or misuse of a Letter of Credit
by, a beneficiary of such Letter of Credit. In furtherance and not in limitation
of the foregoing, no Indemnitee shall be responsible for any of the following:
(A) the form, validity, sufficiency, accuracy, genuineness or legal effects of
any documents submitted by any party in connection with the request and
application for and issuance of any Letter of Credit, even if it should in fact
prove to be in any or all respects invalid, insufficient, inaccurate, fraudulent
or forged; (B) the validity or sufficiency of any instrument transferring or
assigning or purporting to transfer or assign any Letter of Credit or rights or
benefits thereunder or proceeds thereof, in whole or in part, which may prove to
be
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beneficiary of any Letter of Credit to comply with any condition of drawing
thereunder; (D) any errors, omissions, inter ruptions or delays in transmission
or delivery of any messages, by mail, cable, telegraph, telex or otherwise,
whether or not in cipher; (E) any error in interpretation; (F) any loss or delay
in the transmission or otherwise of any document required in order to make a
drawing under any Letter of Credit or of the proceeds thereof; (G) any
misapplication by a beneficiary of any Letter of Credit of the proceeds of any
drawing thereunder; or (H) any consequences arising from or related to events or
circumstances beyond the control of the L/C Issuer, including any act or
omission, whether rightful or wrongful, of any Governmental Authority. In
furtherance and not in limitation of the specific provisions herein set forth,
any action taken or omitted by the L/C Issuer under or in connection with any
Letter of Credit or related certificates, if taken or omitted in good faith,
shall not result in or give rise to any liability of any Indemnitee to the
Borrower. Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, nothing in this Section 4.06(c)
shall relieve the L/C Issuer of any liability determined by a court of competent
jurisdiction by final and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross
negligence or willful misconduct of the L/C Issuer.
(d) All amounts due under this Section 4.06 shall be payable in immediately
available funds upon written demand therefor.
Section 4.07 Replacement of Lenders. If no Default or Event of Default
shall have occurred and be continuing, the Borrower may, at any time, replace
any Lender that has requested the Borrower to pay amounts pursuant to Section
4.04 or whose obligation to make any Loans has been suspended pursuant to
Section 4.05 (each, an "AFFECTED LENDER"), by giving not less than 10 Business
Days' prior written notice to the Administrative Agent (which shall promptly
notify such Affected Lender and each other Lender), that it intends to replace
such Affected Lender with one or more lenders (including, but not limited to,
any other Lender under this Agreement) selected by the Borrower and reasonably
acceptable to the Administrative Agent, PROVIDED that such replacement Lender
shall also agree to become a replacement Lender. The method (whether by

assignment or otherwise) of and documentation for such replacement shall be
reasonably acceptable to the Affected Lender, the other Lenders and the
Administrative Agent. Upon the effective date of any replacement under this
Section 4.07, and as a condition thereto, the Borrower shall, or shall cause the
replacement Lender or Lenders to, pay to the Affected Lender being replaced any
amounts owing to such Affected Lender hereunder (including, without limitation,
interest, fees, compensation and additional amounts under this Article IV, in
each case accrued to the effective date of such replacement), whereupon (i) each
replacement lender shall become a "Lender" for all purposes of this Agreement
having a Commitment in the amount of such Affected Lender's Commitment assumed
by it, (ii) the Commitment of the Affected Lender being replaced shall be
terminated upon such effective date and (iii) the Affected Lender shall cease to
be a "Lender" as of such effective date.
Section 4.08 Survival. The provisions of Sections 4.03, 4.04 and 4.06,
shall remain in effect regardless of the expiration of the term of this
Agreement, the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, the
repayment of any Loans, the reduction or termination of any Commitments, the
invalidity or unenforceability of any term or provision of any Credit Document
or any investigation made by or on behalf of the Lenders.
ARTICLE V
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Section 5.01 Representations and Warranties. The Borrower represents and
warrants to the Administrative Agent, the L/C Issuer and each Lender as follows:

(a) Corporate Organization and Power. The Borrower is a corporation,
duly incorporated and validly existing in good standing under the laws of
the jurisdiction of its incorporation; it has all necessary corporate power
to own its property and to carry on its business as now being conducted;
and it is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing in each
jurisdiction in which the character of the properties owned or leased by it
therein or in which the transaction of its business makes such
qualification necessary, except where the failure to be so qualified, or to
be in good standing, could not reasonably be expected, individually or in
the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect.
(b) Subsidiaries. SCHEDULE 5.01(B) (as updated from time to time
pursuant to Section 7.01) identifies each Subsidiary, the jurisdiction of
its incorporation, the percentage of issued and outstanding shares of each
class of its capital stock owned by the Borrower and the Subsidiaries and,
if such percentage is not 100% (excluding directors' qualifying shares as
required by law), a description of each class of its authorized capital
stock and the number of shares of each class issued and outstanding. Each
Subsidiary (other than inactive Subsidiaries, as identified on SCHEDULE
5.01(B)) is a corporation, duly incorporated and validly existing in good
standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation, has all
necessary corporate power to carry on its present business, and is duly
licensed or qualified and in good standing in each jurisdiction in which
the nature of the business transacted by it or the nature of the property
owned or leased by it makes such licensing or qualification necessary,
except where the failure to be so licensed or qualified could not
reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a
Material Adverse Effect. All of the issued and outstanding shares of
capital stock of each Subsidiary have been duly authorized and validly
issued and are fully paid and nonassessable. All such shares owned by the
Borrower are owned beneficially, and of record, free of any Lien, other
than Liens granted under the Pledge Agreement.
(c) Corporate Authority. The Borrower has all necessary corporate
power and authority to execute and deliver, and to incur and perform its
obligations under, each of the Credit Documents, all of which have been
duly authorized by all proper and necessary corporate action. No consent or

approval of stockholders is required as a condition to the validity or
performance of, or the exercise by the Administrative Agent or the Lenders
of any of their rights or remedies under, any Credit Document.
(d) Authorizations. All authorizations, consents, approvals,
registrations, notices, exemptions and licenses with or from any
Governmental Authority or other Person necessary for the execution,
delivery and performance by the Borrower of, and the incurrence and
performance of each of its obligations under, each of the Credit Documents,
and the exercise by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders of their
remedies under each of the Credit Documents have been effected or obtained
and are in full force and effect.

(e) Binding Obligation. Each of the Credit Documents (other than the
Notes) constitutes and, when issued in accordance with the terms hereof,
each Note will constitute, the valid and legally binding obligation of the
Borrower enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject as to
enforcement to bankruptcy, insolvency,
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reorganization, moratorium and similar laws of general applicability
relating to or affecting creditors' rights and to general equity
principles.
(f) Litigation; Labor Controversies. Except as described in SCHEDULE
5.01(F) hereto, there are no proceedings or investigations now pending or,
to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened before any court or arbitrator
or before or by any Governmental Authority which, individually or in the
aggregate, if determined adversely to the interests of the Borrower or any
Subsidiary, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
Except as set forth on SCHEDULE 5.01(F), there are no labor controversies
pending or, to the best knowledge of the Borrower, threatened against the
Borrower or any Subsidiary which could reasonably be expected, individually
or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect.
(g) No Conflicts. There is no law, regulation, rule, order or
judgment, and no provision of any material agreement or instrument binding
upon the Borrower or any Subsidiary, or affecting their properties, and no
provision of the certificate of incorporation or by-laws (or similar
constitutive instruments) of the Borrower or any Subsidiary, that would
prohibit, conflict with or in any way impair the execution or delivery of,
or the incurrence or performance of any obligations of the Borrower under,
any Credit Document, or result in or require the creation or imposition of
any Lien on property of the Borrower or any Subsidiary as a consequence of
the execution, delivery and performance of any Credit Document.

(h) Financial Condition. (i) The consolidated balance sheet of the
Borrower as of March 1, 1997, together with consolidated statements of
income, retained earnings, paid-in capital and surplus and cash flows for
the fiscal year then ended, reported upon by KPMG Peat Marwick LLP, and the
consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower as of November 29, 1997,
together with statements of income and cash flows for the three and nine
months then ended, heretofore delivered to the Administrative Agent and the
Lenders, fairly present the consolidated financial condition, consolidated
results of operations and transactions in surplus accounts of the Borrower
as of the dates and for the periods referred to and have been prepared in
accordance with GAAP consistently applied throughout the period involved.
There are no material liabilities (whether known or unknown, direct or
indirect, fixed or contingent, and of any nature whatsoever) of the
Borrower or any Subsidiary as of the date of such balance sheet that are
not reflected therein or in the notes thereto.
(ii) Except as provided in SCHEDULE 5.01(H)(II), there has been no
material adverse change in the business, properties, condition (financial
or otherwise) or operations, present or prospective, of the Borrower and
the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, since the date of the balance sheet

dated November 29, 1997 referred to in Section 5.01(h)(i).
(i) Taxes. The Borrower and its Subsidiaries (with the exception of
Harmon LTS, S.A., as long as such Subsidiary does not have a tax liability
of greater than $3,500,000) have filed all United States federal tax
returns, and all other tax returns, required to be filed and have paid all
taxes due pursuant to such returns or pursuant to any assessment received
by the Borrower or any Subsidiary, except such taxes, if any, as
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provided. No notices of tax liens have been filed and no claims are being
asserted concerning any such taxes, which liens or claims could reasonably
be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse
Effect. The charges, accruals and reserves on the books of the Borrower and
its Subsidiaries for any taxes or other governmental charges are adequate.
(j) Margin Regulations; Margin Stock; Use of Proceeds. Neither the
Borrower nor any Subsidiary is engaged principally, or as one of its
primary activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose of
purchasing or carrying margin stock. The proceeds of the Loans and Letters
of Credit are to be used solely for the purposes set forth in and permitted
by Section 7.01(k). The Borrower will not use the proceeds of any Loan or
Letter of Credit in a manner that violates any provision of the Margin
Regulations.

(k) Compliance with ERISA. With respect to each Plan, the Borrower and
each other member of the ERISA Group has fulfilled its obligations under
the minimum funding standards of and is in compliance in all material
respects with ERISA, and with the Code to the extent applicable to it and
has not incurred any liability to the PBGC or a Plan under Title IV of
ERISA other than a liability to the PBGC for premiums under Section 4007 of
ERISA. Neither the Borrower nor any Subsidiary has any contingent
liabilities for any post-retirement benefits under a Welfare Plan, other
than liability for continuation coverage described in Part 6 of Title I of
ERISA.
(l) Not an Investment Company. Neither the Borrower nor any Subsidiary
is (i) an "investment company" or a company "controlled" by an "investment
company" within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as
amended, or (ii) subject to regulation under the Public Utility Holding
Company Act of 1935, the Federal Power Act, each as amended, or any
foreign, federal, state or local statute or regulation limiting its ability
to incur indebtedness for money borrowed as contemplated hereby.
(m) Properties. The Borrower and the Subsidiaries each has good and
marketable title to, or valid leasehold interests in, all of its respective
properties and assets that are reflected on the consolidated balance sheet
of the Borrower as of the most recent date, except for such immaterial
properties and assets as have been disposed of in the ordinary course of
business and except for minor defects in title that do not interfere with
the ability of the Borrower or any Subsidiary to conduct its business as
now conducted. All such assets and properties are so owned or held free and
clear of all Liens, except Permitted Liens.
(n) Compliance with Laws. The Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries
has all necessary licenses, permits and governmental authorizations to own
and operate its Properties and to carry on its business as currently
conducted and contemplated, except to the extent failure to have the same
could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have
a Material Adverse Effect. The Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries is in
material compliance with all applicable laws, regulations, ordinances and
orders of any governmental or judicial authorities except for any such law,
regulation, ordinance or order which, the failure to comply therewith,
could not,

-34individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.

(o) Environmental Protection. To the Borrower's knowledge, based upon
reasonable investigation, all real property owned or leased by the Borrower
or any Subsidiary is free of contamination from any substance that could
reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a
Material Adverse Effect, or constituent thereof, currently identified or
listed as hazardous or toxic pursuant to the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. 9601, et seq., or any
other Environmental Laws, or any other substance which has in the past or
could at any time in the future cause or constitute a health, safety or
environmental hazard to any person or property, including asbestos in any
building, petroleum products, PCBs, pesticides, or radioactive materials.
To the Borrower's knowledge, based upon reasonable investigation, neither
the Borrower nor any Subsidiary has caused or suffered to occur any release
of any Hazardous Substance into the environment or any other conditions
that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected,
individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect or
result in any violations of any Environmental Laws that could reasonably be
expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse
Effect. To the Borrower's knowledge, based upon reasonable investigation,
neither the Borrower nor any Subsidiary has caused or suffered to occur any
condition on any of their property that could give rise to the imposition
of any Lien under the Environmental Laws. To the Borrower's knowledge,
based on reasonable investigation, to the extent that any Subsidiary is
engaged in any manufacturing or any other operations, other than the use of
petroleum products for vehicles, that require the use, handling,
transportation, storage or disposal of any Hazardous Substance, such
Subsidiary possesses all necessary permits required for such manufacturing
or operations and are in compliance with the laws, rules and regulations
applicable to such permit holders, except to the extent failure to have the
same could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect. The Borrower is not engaged in any
manufacturing or any other operations, other than the use of petroleum
products for vehicles, that require the use, handling, transportation,
storage or disposal of any Hazardous Substance, where such operations
require permits or are otherwise regulated pursuant to the Environmental
Laws.
(p) Insurance. All of the properties and operations of the Borrower
and each Subsidiary of a character usually insured by companies of
established reputation engaged in the same or a similar business similarly
situated are adequately insured, by financially sound and reputable
insurers, against loss or damage of the kinds and in amounts customarily
insured against by such Persons, and the Borrower and the Subsidiaries
carry, with such insurers in customary amounts, such other insurance,
including larceny, embezzlement or other criminal misappropriation
insurance and business interruption insurance, as is usually carried by
companies of established reputation engaged in the same or a similar
business similarly situated.
(q) No Burdensome Restrictions; Compliance with Agreements. Neither
the Borrower nor any Subsidiary is (a) subject to any law, regulation, rule
or order that (individually or in the aggregate) materially adversely
affects the business, operations,
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and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole or (b) in default in the performance,
observance or fulfillment of any of the obligations, covenants or
conditions contained in any Contractual Obligation to which it is a party,
which default could reasonably be expected, individually or in the

aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect on the business, operations,
Property or financial or other condition of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries taken as a whole.

(r) Security Agreements. The provisions of each of the Security
Agreement and the Pledge Agreement will be effective to create in favor of
the Collateral Agent a valid, binding and enforceable security interest in
the Collateral described therein, which, upon the filing of financing
statements and the taking of the other actions specified in the Security
Documents, will constitute a fully perfected first and prior security
interest superior in right to any Liens, except (i) as otherwise
contemplated by such Security Documents, (ii) for Liens, if any, permitted
to be prior hereunder or under any Credit Document, existing or future,
which any Person may have against such Collateral or interests therein,
including, without limitation, Permitted Liens, and (iii) that such
enforceability is subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer,
reorganization, moratorium and similar laws of general applicability
relating to or affecting creditors' rights and to general equity
principles.
(s) Systems. The Borrower and its Subsidiaries are using reasonable
efforts to ensure that all essential data processing systems used by them
are "year 2000 compliant."

(t) Full Disclosure. All information relating to the Borrower or its
Subsidiaries delivered in writing to the Administrative Agent or any Lender
in connection with the negotiation, execution and delivery of this
Agreement and the other Credit Documents is true and complete in all
material respects. There is no material fact of which the Borrower is aware
which, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to
influence adversely any Lender's credit analysis relating to the Borrower
and its Subsidiaries which has not been disclosed to the Lenders in
writing.
Section 5.02 Survival. All representations and warranties made by the
Borrower in this Agreement, and in the certificates or other instruments
prepared or delivered in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement, shall
(i) be considered to have been relied upon by the Lenders, (ii) survive the
making of Loans and the issuance of Letters of Credit regardless of any
investigation made by, or on behalf of, the Lenders, and (iii) continue in full
force and effect as long as the Commitments have not been terminated and,
thereafter, so long as any Loan, L/C Obligation, Commitment Fee, Letter of
Credit Fee or other amount payable under any Credit Document remains unpaid.
ARTICLE VI
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT
Section 6.01 Conditions to the Availability of the Commitments. The
obligations of each Lender and the L/C Issuer hereunder are subject to, and the
Lenders' Commitments shall not
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no later than the close of business in The City of New York on May 22, 1998) on
which each of the following conditions precedent shall have been satisfied or
waived in writing by each of the Lenders:
(a) Credit Documents. The Administrative Agent shall have received
this Agreement duly executed and delivered by each of the Lenders and the
Borrower and the Contribution Agreement, the Intercreditor Agreement and
the Subsidiary Guaranty, as well as any other Credit Documents, duly
executed and delivered by each of the parties thereto.

(b) Security Documents. The Administrative Agent shall have received

each of the Pledge Agreement and the Security Agreement duly executed and
delivered by the parties thereto granting to the Collateral Agent, for its
benefit and the equal and ratable benefit of the Lenders, a security
interest in the collateral described therein together with (i) copies of
Financing Statements (Form UCC-1) to be filed under the Uniform Commercial
Code, and other financing documents as provided in the Pledge Agreement and
Security Agreement, (ii) evidence reasonably satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent with respect to the Collateral Agent's first priority
security interest in such collateral, other than collateral subject to
Permitted Liens (which may include, but shall not be limited to, certified
copies of Request for Information (Form UCC-11) or equivalent reports,
listing all financing statements which name the Borrower or any Subsidiary
as debtor and which are on file, as of a recent date prior to the Closing
Date, in all relevant jurisdictions listed in the Security Documents) and
(iii) stock powers, duly endorsed in blank, with respect to all shares of
stock of Subsidiaries included in the collateral. In the case of clause
(iii) of the preceding sentence, the stock certificates representing all
shares of stock of Subsidiaries included in the collateral may be delivered
to the Administrative Agent in the form they exist as of the Effective
Time, PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that (A) the stock certificates delivered at the
Effective Time represent all shares of stock of Subsidiaries included in
the collateral and (B) the Borrower provides the Administrative Agent with
(x) an explanation of the necessary changes to be made to the stock
certificates so provided, so as to enable the Administrative Agent to
assess the completeness of the stock certificates so provided in light of
currently existing Subsidiaries and (y) a commitment to provide the
Administrative Agent with all reissued, revised or replaced stock
certificates as soon as practicable after the Effective Time, but in no
case later than 14 Business Days after the Effective Date (or such later
date as the Administrative Agent may in writing agree).
(c) Evidence of Corporate Action. The Administrative Agent, for each
of the Lenders, shall have received the following:
(i) a copy of the Articles of Incorporation of the Borrower, as
in effect on the Effective Date, certified by the Secretary of State
of Minnesota, and a certificate from such Secretary of State as to the
good standing of the Borrower, in each case as of a date reasonably
close to the Effective Date;
(ii) a certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of
the Borrower, dated the Effective Date, stating (A) that attached
thereto is a true and complete copy of the by-laws of the Borrower as
in effect on such date and at all times since the date of the
resolutions described in clause (B) below, (B) that
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attached thereto is a true and complete copy of resolutions duly
adopted by the Board of Directors of the Borrower authorizing the
execution, delivery and performance of the various Credit Documents,
and that such resolutions have not been modified, rescinded or amended
and are in full force and effect, (C) that the articles of
incorporation of the Borrower has not been amended since the date of
the last amendment thereto shown on the certificate of good standing
furnished pursuant to clause (i) above, and (D) as to the incumbency
and signature of each officer executing this Agreement or any document
delivered in connection herewith on behalf of the Borrower; and
(iii) copies of a certificate of the Secretary or Assistant
Secretary of each of the Subsidiaries that is a party to any Security
Document, dated the Effective Date, stating (A) that attached thereto
is a true and complete copy of resolutions duly adopted by the Board
of Directors of such Subsidiary authorizing the execution, delivery
and performance of each such Security Document, and that such
resolutions have not been modified, rescinded or amended and are in
full force and effect; and (B) as to the incumbency and signature of

each officer executing each such Security Document or any document
delivered in connection with this Agreement or any such Security
Document on behalf of such Subsidiary.
(d) Opinions of Counsel. The Administrative Agent, for each of the
Lenders, shall have received a favorable written opinion, dated the
Effective Date and addressed to the Lenders under this Agreement, of (i)
Dorsey & Whitney LLP, counsel for the Borrower, in substantially the form
of EXHIBIT D-1, and (ii) Sullivan & Cromwell, counsel for the
Administrative Agent, in substantially the form of EXHIBIT D-2.

(e) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties
contained in Section 5.01 shall be true and correct on the Effective Date,
and the Lenders shall have received a certificate, signed by a Responsible
Officer of the Borrower, to that effect.
(f) Existing Facility. Each of the Existing Credit Agreement, the
Existing Contribution Agreement, the Existing Intercreditor Agreement, the
Existing Pledge Agreement, the Existing Security Agreement and the Existing
Subsidiary Guaranty shall have been cancelled or terminated in accordance
with its respective terms, any promissory notes issued thereunder shall
have been cancelled or returned to the Borrower, and the Administrative
Agent shall have received written evidence thereof.

(g) Other Documents. The Lenders shall have received such other
certificates, opinions and other documents as the Administrative Agent or
the Required Lenders reasonably may require.
(h) Fees. The Administrative Agent shall have received any fees or
other payments which are due and payable pursuant to the fee letter
agreement, dated as of April 24, 1998, among the Borrower, The Bank of New
York and BNY Capital Markets, Inc., on or prior to the Effective Time.
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make each Loan and of the L/C Issuer to issue each Letter of Credit are subject
to the conditions precedent that, on the date of each Loan or Letter of Credit
and after giving effect thereto, each of the following conditions precedent
shall have been satisfied, or waived in writing by the Lenders:

(a) Borrowing Request. The Administrative Agent shall have received a
Revolving Credit Request, Swing Line Request or L/C Request in accordance
with the terms of this Agreement.
(b) No Default. No Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and
be continuing, nor shall any Default or Event of Default occur as a result
of the making of such Loan or the issuance of such Letter of Credit.
(c) Representations and Warranties; Covenants. The representations and
warranties contained in Section 5.01 shall have been true and correct when
made and (except to the extent that any representation or warranty speaks
as of a date certain) shall be true and correct on the Borrowing Date with
the same effect as though such representations and warranties were made on
such Borrowing Date; and the Borrower shall have complied with all of its
covenants and agreements under the Credit Documents.
Section 6.03 Satisfaction of Conditions Precedent. Each of (i) the delivery
by the Borrower of a Revolving Credit Request, Swing Line Request or L/C Request
and (ii) the acceptance of the proceeds of a Loan shall be deemed to constitute
a certification by the Borrower that, as of the Borrowing Date, each of the
conditions precedent contained in Section 6.02 has been satisfied with respect
to any Loans then being made.
ARTICLE VII

COVENANTS

Section 7.01 Affirmative Covenants. Until satisfaction in full of all the
obligations of the Borrower under the Credit Documents and termination of the
Commitments of the Lenders hereunder, the Borrower will:
(a) Financial Statements; Compliance Certificates. Furnish to the
Lenders:

(i) as soon as available, but in no event more than 45 days
following the end of each of the first three quarters of each fiscal
year, copies of the Borrower's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q being
filed with the SEC, which shall include a consolidated balance sheet
and consolidated income statement of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries
for such quarter;
(ii) as soon as available, but in no event more than 90 days
following the end of each fiscal year, a copy of the Borrower's Annual
Report on Form 10- K being filed with the SEC, which shall include the
consolidated financial statements of the Borrower and the
Subsidiaries, together with a report thereon
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public accountants reasonably satisfactory to the Lenders), for such
year;
(iii) together with each report delivered pursuant to Sections
7.01(a)(i) and (ii), a certificate of the Borrower, signed by a
Responsible Officer, in substantially the form of EXHIBIT E, stating
whether, as of the last date of the financial statements included in
such report, any event occurred or circumstance existed which,
individually or in the aggregate, constituted a Default or Event of
Default (and, if so, detailing the facts with respect thereto) and
whether the Borrower was in compliance with the covenants set forth in
this Article VII, together with calculations to establish the
Borrower's compliance with the covenants contained in Section 7.03;

(iv) promptly upon the filing by the Borrower with the SEC or any
national securities exchange of any registration statement (other than
a registration statement on Form S-8 or an equivalent form) or regular
periodic report (other than the reports referred to in Sections
7.01(a)(i) and (ii)), notification of such filing; and, at the request
of any Lender, the Borrower shall deliver to such Lender a copy of
such filing (excluding exhibits);

(v) promptly upon the mailing thereof to the shareholders of the
Borrower generally copies of all financial statements, reports and
proxy statements so mailed;

(vi) within two Business Days of any Responsible Officer of the
Borrower obtaining knowledge of any Default or Event of Default, a
certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower stating that such
certificate is a "Notice of Default" and setting forth the details
thereof and the action which the Borrower is taking or proposes to
take with respect thereto; and
(vii) such additional information, reports or statements,
regarding the business, financial condition or results of operations
of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, as the Administrative Agent or
any of the Lenders from time to time may reasonably request.

(b) Corporate Existence. Except as permitted by Section 7.02(a),
maintain, and cause each Subsidiary to maintain, its corporate existence in
good standing and qualify and remain qualified to do business in each
jurisdiction in which the character of the properties owned or leased by it

therein or in which the transaction of its business is such that the
failure to qualify, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
(c) Conduct of Business. Preserve, renew and keep in full force and
effect, and cause each Subsidiary to preserve, renew and keep in full force
and effect, all its franchises and licenses necessary or desirable in the
normal conduct of its business and the loss of which, individually or in
the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect; and comply, and cause each Subsidiary to comply, with all
applicable laws, orders, rules and regulations of all Governmental
Authorities the failure
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be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
(d) Authorizations. Obtain, make and keep in full force and effect all
authorizations from and registrations with Governmental Authorities
required for the validity or enforceability of the Credit Documents.
(e) Taxes. Pay and discharge, and cause each Subsidiary to pay and
discharge, all taxes, assessments and governmental charges upon it, its
income and its properties prior to the date on which penalties are attached
thereto, except to the extent that (i) such taxes, assessments and
governmental charges shall be contested in good faith and by appropriate
proceedings by the Borrower or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, (ii)
unless the amount thereof is not material to the Borrower's consolidated
financial condition, adequate reserves are maintained (in accordance with
GAAP) by the Borrower or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, with respect
thereto, and (iii) any failure to pay and discharge such taxes, assessments
and governmental charges could not reasonably be expected, individually or
in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(f) Insurance. Maintain, and cause each Subsidiary to maintain,
insurance with reputable insurance companies against such risks, of such
types (including general liability, larceny, embezzlement or other criminal
misappropriation insurance), on such properties and in such amounts as is
customarily maintained by similar businesses similarly situated; provide
evidence that, to the extent required by the Administrative Agent and the
Lenders, the Administrative Agent, for its benefit and the benefit of the
Lenders, has been named as loss payee by endorsement to the policies for
such insurance; and file and cause each Subsidiary to file with the
Administrative Agent upon its request or the request of any Lender a
detailed list of the insurance companies, the amounts and rates of the
insurance, the dates of the expiration thereof and the properties and risks
covered thereby.
(g) Inspection. Upon reasonable notice, permit, and cause each
Subsidiary to permit, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders to have one
or more of their officers and employees, or any other Person or Persons
designated by the Administrative Agent or the Lenders, reasonable access,
prior to the occurrence and continuance of any Default or Event of Default,
at the expense of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders and at any time
a Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, at the
Borrower's expense, to any of the properties of the Borrower and the
Subsidiaries and to examine the minute books, books of account and other
records of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries, and discuss its affairs,
finances and accounts with its officers and with the Borrower's independent
accountants, during normal business hours and at such other reasonable
times, for the purpose of monitoring the Borrower's compliance with its
obligations under the Credit Documents; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that except upon
the occurrence and during the continuance of any Default or Event of
Default, not more than one such set of visits and inspections may be
conducted each calendar quarter.

(h) Maintenance of Records. For the Borrower and each of its
Subsidiaries (i) keep proper books of record and account in which full,
true and correct entries will be made of all dealings or transactions of or
in relation to its business and affairs; (ii) set up
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reviews and claims; and (iii) on a current basis, set up on its books, from
its earnings, appropriate reserves against doubtful accounts receivable,
advances and investments and all other proper reserves (including by reason
of enumeration, reserves for premiums, if any, due on required prepayments
and reserves for depreciation, obsolescence, or amortization of
properties), which should be set aside from such earnings in connection
with its business. (All determinations pursuant to this Section 7.01(h)
shall be made in accordance with, or as required by, GAAP consistently
applied in the opinion of the independent auditors regularly engaged by the
Borrower.)
(i) Maintenance of Property. Maintain, keep and preserve and cause
each Subsidiary to maintain, keep and preserve all of its properties in
good repair, working order and condition and from time to time make all
necessary and proper repairs, renewals, replacements, and improvements
thereto, except to the extent that any failure so to maintain, keep and
preserve such properties, individually or in the aggregate, could not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(j) ERISA. Furnish to the Lenders:
(i) within ten days after a Responsible Officer learns that any
"reportable event" (as defined in Section 4043(c) of ERISA), other
than a reportable event for which the 30-day notice requirement has
been waived by the PBGC, has occurred with respect to a Pension Plan,
a statement setting forth details as to such reportable event and the
action proposed to be taken with respect thereto;
(ii) within ten days after receipt thereof, a copy of any notice
that any member of the ERISA Group may receive from the PBGC relating
to the intention of the PBGC to terminate any Pension Plan or to
appoint a trustee to administer any Plan;
(iii) within ten days after filing with any affected party (as
such term is defined in Section 4001 of ERISA) of a notice of intent
to terminate a Pension Plan, a copy of such notice and a statement
setting forth the details of such termination, including the amount of
liability, if any, of any member of the ERISA Group under Title IV of
ERISA;

(iv) within ten days after the adoption of an amendment to a
Pension Plan if, after giving effect to such amendment, the Pension
Plan is a plan described in Section 4021(b) of ERISA, a statement
setting forth the details thereof;

(v) within 30 days after withdrawal from a Pension Plan during a
plan year for which any member of the ERISA Group could be subject to
liability under Section 4063 or 4064 of ERISA, a statement setting
forth the details thereof, including the amount of such liability;
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(vi) within 30 days after cessation of operations by any member
of the ERISA Group at a facility under the circumstances described in
Section 4062(e) of ERISA, a statement setting forth the details
thereof, including the amount of liability of the Borrower or a member
of the ERISA Group under Title IV of ERISA;

(vii) within ten days after adoption of an amendment to a Pension
Plan which would require security to be given to the Pension Plan
pursuant to Sec tion 401(a)(29) of the Code or Section 307 of ERISA, a
statement setting forth the details thereof, including the amount of
such security;

(viii) within ten days after failure by any member of the ERISA
Group to make payment to a Pension Plan which would give rise to a
lien in favor of the Plan under Section 302(f) of ERISA, a statement
setting forth the details thereof, including the amount of such lien;
(ix) within ten days after the due date for filing with the PBGC,
pursuant to Section 412(n) of the Code, of a notice of failure to make
a required installment or other payment with respect to a Pension
Plan, a statement setting forth details as to such failure and the
action proposed to be taken with respect thereto; and
(x) within 30 days after receipt thereof by any member of the
ERISA Group from the sponsor of a Multiemployer Plan, a copy of each
notice concerning the imposition of withdrawal liability or the
termination or reorganization of a Multiemployer Plan.

(k) Notice of Defaults and Adverse Developments. Promptly notify the
Administrative Agent upon the discovery by any Responsible Officer of the
occurrence of (i) any Default or Event of Default; (ii) any event,
development or circumstance whereby the financial statements most recently
furnished to the Agent fail in any material respect to present fairly, in
accordance with GAAP, the financial condition and operating results of the
Borrower and the Subsidiaries as of the date of such financial statements;
(iii) any litigation or proceedings that are instituted or threatened (to
the knowledge of the Borrower) against the Borrower or any Subsidiary or
any of their respective assets that could reasonably be expected,
individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect; (iv)
any event, development or circumstance which, individually or in the
aggregate, could reasonably be expected to result in an event or default
(or, with the giving of notice or lapse of time or both, an event of
default) under any Indebtedness and the amount thereof; and (v) any other
development in the business or affairs of the Borrower or any Subsidiary if
the effect thereof would reasonably be expected, individually or in the
aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect; in each case describing the
nature thereof and the action the Borrower proposes to take with respect
thereto. (Upon receipt, the Administrative Agent shall promptly advise each
Lender of the contents of any such notice.)
(l) Use of Proceeds. Use each Loan, and the credit provided by Letters
of Credit, only (i) to repay Indebtedness outstanding at the Effective
Time, (ii) for working
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Capital Expenditures. Following application of the proceeds of each Loan,
not more than 25% of the value of the assets (either of the Borrower only
or of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis) subject to
the provisions of Section 7.02(b) hereof will be margin stock (within the
meaning of the Margin Regulations).
(m) Environmental Matters. (i) Comply, and cause each Subsidiary to
comply, in all material respects with all applicable Environmental Laws,
(ii) notify the Administrative Agent promptly after becoming aware of any
Environmental Claim, or any fact or circumstance that could reasonably be
expected to result in an Environmental Claim or a violation of any
Environmental Law that could reasonably be expected, individually or in the
aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect, with respect to the
Borrower's or any Subsidiaries' properties or facilities, and (iii)
promptly forward to the Administrative Agent a copy of any material order,
notice, permit, application, or any other communication or report received

in connection with any such matters as they may affect such premises.
(n) Measurement Date. Provide to the Administrative Agent the
Debt/EBITDA Ratio and the Senior Debt/EBITDA Ratio within one Business Day
of (i) the date a Revolving Credit Request (which designates Eurodollar
Loans), L/C Request or Conversion Request is submitted by the Borrower,
(ii) the date any Responsible Officer obtains actual knowledge of a change
in the Debt/EBITDA Ratio or the Senior Debt/EBITDA Ratio, (iii) the date
the Administrative Agent or any Lender requests such ratio and (iv) the
last day of every month, in each case calculated as of the date of such
event or occurrence.

Section 7.02 Negative Covenants. Until satisfaction in full of all the
obligations of the Borrower under the Credit Documents and termination of the
Commitments of the Lenders hereunder, the Borrower will not:
(a) Mergers, Consolidations and Sales of Assets. Be a party to any
merger, consolidation or share exchange, or sell, transfer, lease or
otherwise dispose of all or any substantial part of its assets or property,
including any disposition of assets or property as part of a sale and
leaseback transaction, or in any event sell or discount (with or without
recourse) any of its notes or accounts receivable, or permit any Subsidiary
so to do; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that this Section shall not apply to nor
operate to prevent (i) the Borrower being a party to any merger where the
Borrower is the surviving Person if, after given effect to such merger, no
Default or Event of Default would then exist, (ii) any Subsidiary (a)
merging into the Borrower or (b) being a party to any merger which does not
involve the Borrower where a Subsidiary is the surviving Person if, after
giving effect to such merger, no Default or Event of Default would then
exist, or (iii) the Borrower or any Subsidiary from selling its inventory
in the ordinary course of its business. The term "SUBSTANTIAL" as used
herein shall mean an amount in excess of 5% of the total assets of the
Borrower or such Subsidiary (computed based upon the total assets of the
Borrower or such Subsidiary set forth in the most recently prepared balance
sheet) per year. For purposes of this Section 7.02(a) the Property of the
Borrower and its Subsidiaries shall be valued at the greater of book or
fair market value of such Property.
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permit any Subsidiary so to do, upon or in any of its property or assets,
whether now owned or hereafter acquired, except the following Liens
(collectively, "PERMITTED LIENS"):
(i) Liens arising by operation of law in connection with worker's
compensation, unemployment insurance, social security obligations,
taxes, assessments, statutory obligations or other similar charges,
good faith deposits, pledges or Liens in connection with bids,
tenders, contracts or leases to which the Borrower or any Subsidiary
is a party (other than contracts for borrowed money), or other
deposits required to be made or surety bonds or other obligations of
like nature (which for the purposes of this Agreement shall include
letters of credit in the nature of a surety bond) required to be
obtained in the ordinary course of business in connection with any of
the foregoing; PROVIDED that in each case the obligation secured is
not overdue or, if overdue, is being contested in good faith by
appropriate proceedings and for which reserves in conformity with GAAP
have been provided on the books of the Borrower;

(ii) mechanics', workmen's, materialmen's, landlords', carriers'
or other similar Liens arising in the ordinary course of business (or
deposits to obtain the release of such Liens) securing obligations not
due or, if due, being contested in good faith by appropriate
proceedings and for which reserves in conformity with GAAP have been
provided on the books of the Borrower;

(iii) Liens for taxes or assessments or other government charges
or levies on the Borrower or any Subsidiary of the Borrower or their
respective Properties, not yet due or delinquent, or which can
thereafter be paid without penalty, or which are being contested in
good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which reserves in
conformity with GAAP have been provided on the books of the Borrower;
(iv) Liens arising out of judgments or awards against the
Borrower or any Subsidiary of the Borrower, or in connection with
surety or appeal bonds in connection with bonding such judgments or
awards, the time for appeal from which or petition for rehearing of
which shall not have expired or with respect to which the Borrower or
such Subsidiary shall be prosecuting an appeal or proceeding for
review, and with respect to which it shall have obtained a stay of
execution pending such appeal or proceeding for review; PROVIDED that
the aggregate amount of liabilities (including interest and penalties,
if any) of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries secured by such Liens
shall not exceed $2,500,000 at any one time outstanding;

(v) Liens upon any Property acquired by the Borrower or any
Subsidiary of the Borrower to secure any Indebtedness of the Borrower
or any Subsidiary incurred at the time of the acquisition of such
Property to finance the purchase price of such Property, or Liens upon
property resulting from the sale by the Borrower or any Subsidiary of
Property and the leasing of the same or similar property from the
purchaser thereof (or a subsequent purchaser or lessee), PROVIDED that
any such Lien shall apply only to the Property that was so acquired
-45or sold and leased back and the aggregate principal amount of
Indebtedness secured by such Liens shall not exceed $15,000,000 at any
time outstanding;

(vi) Survey exceptions or encumbrances, easements or
reservations, or rights of others for rights-of-way, utilities and
other similar purposes, or zoning or other restrictions as to the use
of real properties which are necessary for the conduct of the
activities of the Borrower and any Subsidiary of the Borrower or which
customarily exist on properties of corporations engaged in similar
activities and similarly situated and which do not in any event
materially impair their use in the operation of the business of the
Borrower or any Subsidiary of the Borrower;
(vii) Liens listed on SCHEDULE 7.02(B), as modified as soon as
practicable following the Effective Date in order to add all real
property Liens in existence on the Effective Date (which real property
Liens could not reasonably be expected, in the aggregate, to have a
Material Adverse Effect);
(viii) Liens securing Indebtedness of a Subsidiary of the
Borrower incurred in connection with the acquisition or construction
of Property of such Subsidiary; PROVIDED that such Lien is limited to
the Property being financed by such Indebtedness and any revenues of
such Subsidiary directly attributable to such Property; and PROVIDED,
FURTHER, that the Indebtedness secured by such Lien is non-recourse to
the Borrower and its Subsidiaries;
(ix) Any extension, renewal or replacement (or successive
extensions, renewals or replacements) in whole or in part of any Lien
referred to in the foregoing paragraphs (i) through (viii), inclusive,
PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that the principal amount of Indebtedness secured
thereby shall not exceed the principal amount of the Indebtedness so
secured at the time of any extension, renewal or refinancing, and that
such extension, renewal or refinancing shall be limited to the
Property which was subject to the Lien so extended, renewed or
refinanced;

(x) Liens securing obligations under the Credit Documents,
including Liens provided for in the Security Documents; and
(xi) Liens securing Indebtedness existing or incurred in
connection with industrial revenue bonds or industrial development
bonds, as permitted by Section 7.02(c), PROVIDED such Liens are
limited to Liens on the capital assets that have been acquired or
construction of which has been financed by the proceeds of such
industrial revenue bonds or industrial development bonds.

(c) Indebtedness. Create, incur, assume, suffer to exist, Guaranty or
become or remain contingently liable for any Indebtedness, or permit any
Subsidiary so to do, except:
(i) Indebtedness to the Administrative Agent and one or more
Lenders under the Credit Documents;
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cause the Borrower to be in violation of the covenants contained in
Section 7.03;
(iii) Indebtedness of Subsidiaries secured by Liens permitted
pursuant to Sections 7.02(b)(v) or (viii) which, when in place, will
not cause the Borrower to be in violation of such Sections or of the
covenants contained in Section 7.03;
(iv) (A) Debt of Subsidiaries of the Borrower in an aggregate
outstanding amount at any time not to exceed $2,500,000 (B)
Indebtedness of Subsidiaries of the Borrower to the Borrower, (C)
Indebtedness of Subsidiaries of the Borrower consisting of any surety
bond or other obligations of like nature, PROVIDED that such
Indebtedness shall be permitted pursuant to this Section 7.02(c)(iii)
only (x) with respect to the portion of such surety bond or other
obligation as to which no demand or unreimbursed drawing has been
made, (y) if such surety bond or other obligation has been provided in
the ordinary course of such Subsidiaries' business and (z) if such
Indebtedness, when in place, will not cause the Borrower to be in
violation of the Financial Covenants, (D) Indebtedness of Subsidiaries
of the Borrower consisting of trade payables not evidenced by a note
or similar instrument incurred in the ordinary course of such Person's
business, if such Indebtedness, when in place, will not cause the
Borrower to be in violation of the Financial Covenants, and (E)
Indebtedness of Subsidiaries of the Borrower consisting of industrial
revenue bonds or obligations of like nature, but only to the extent
permitted by the final sentence of this Section 7.02(c), if such
Indebtedness, when in place, will not cause the Borrower to be in
violation of the Financial Covenants;

(v) Subordinated debt issued in the Subordinated Debt
Transaction; and

(vi) Existing Indebtedness listed on SCHEDULE 7.02(C).
In no case, however, will the Borrower or its Subsidiaries, individually or
in the aggregate, create, incur, assume, suffer to exist, Guaranty or
become or remain contingently liable for any Indebtedness (excluding Loans,
L/C Obligations, subordinated indebtedness issued in the Subordinated Debt
Transaction and any surety bond or other obligations of like nature as to
which no demand or unreimbursed drawing has been made) in excess of
$50,000,000; PROVIDED that $25,000,000 of such amount may only include
industrial revenue bonds or obligations of like nature.
(d) Investments, Acquisitions, Loans, Advances and Guaranties.
Directly or indirectly, make, retained or have outstanding any investments

(whether through purchase of stock or obligations or otherwise) in, or
loans or advances to, any other Person, or acquire all or any substantial
part of the assets or business or any other Person or division thereof, or
Guaranty or become liable as endorser, guarantor, surety or otherwise (such
as liability as a general partner) for any debt, obligation or undertaking
of any other Person, or otherwise agree to provide funds for payment of the
obligations of another, or supply funds thereto or invest therein or
otherwise assure a creditor of another against loss, or apply for or become
liable to the issuer of a letter of credit which supports an obligation of
another, or subordinate any claim or demand it may have to the
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being "INVESTMENTS"), or permit any Subsidiary to do any of the foregoing;
PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that the foregoing provisions shall not apply to nor
operate to prevent:

(i) investments in direct obligations of the United States of
America or of any agency or instrumentality thereof whose obligations
constitute full faith and credit obligations of the United States of
America PROVIDED that any such obligation matures within one year from
the date it is acquired by the Borrower or Subsidiary;
(ii) investments in commercial paper rated P-1 by Moody's
Investors Services, Inc. or A-1 by Standard & Poor's Corporation
maturing within one year of its date of issuance;

(iii) investments in certificates of deposit issued by any Lender
or any United States commercial bank having capital and surplus of not
less than $500,000,000 maturing within one year from the date of
issuance thereof or in banker's acceptances endorsed by any Lender or
other such commercial bank and maturing within six months of the date
of acceptance;
(iv) investments in repurchase obligations with a term of not
more than seven (7) days for underlying securities of the types
described in subsection (i) above entered into with any bank meeting
the qualifications specified in subsection (iii) above, provided all
such agreements require physical delivery of the securities securing
such repurchase agreement, except those delivered through the Federal
Reserve Book Entry System;
(v) investments in money market funds that invest solely, and
which are restricted by their respective charters to invest solely, in
investments of the type described in the immediately preceding
subsections (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) above;
(vi) ownership of stock, obligations or securities received in
settlement of debts (created in the ordinary course of business) owing
to the Borrower or any Subsidiary;
(vii) endorsements of negotiable instruments for collection in
the ordinary course of business;

(viii) loans and advances to employees in the ordinary course of
business for travel, relocation, and similar purposes;
(ix) acquisitions of all or any substantial part of the assets or
business of any other Person or division thereof engaged in a line of
business directly related to that of the Borrower, or of a majority of
the voting stock of such a Person; PROVIDED that such Person is
engaged (or promptly after such acquisition will be engaged) in a line
of business directly related to that of the Borrower; and PROVIDED,
FURTHER, that (A) such Person becomes a Subsidiary of the Borrower as
a result of such acquisition, (B) no Default or Event of Default
exists or would
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exist after giving effect to such acquisition, (C) the Board of
Directors or other governing body of such Person whose Property, or
voting stock or other interests in which, are being so acquired has
approved the terms of such acquisition, (D) such acquisition does not
exceed $15,000,000 in aggregate purchase price;
(x) Investments consisting of performance bonds and letters of
credit and other similar surety devices obtained to support, or in
lieu of, performance bonds, in each case entered into in the ordinary
course of business;

(xi) Investments in Subsidiaries;
(xii) other Investments in stock or other securities, PROVIDED
that the aggregate amount of any such Investments at any time
outstanding does not exceed $1,000,000;

(xiii) notwithstanding Section 7.02(d)(ix), additional
Investments in joint ventures existing as of the date hereof; PROVIDED
that (A) no Default or Event of Default exists or would exist after
giving effect to such Investments and (B) the aggregate purchase price
to be paid after the date hereof for such Investments do not exceed
$40,000,000; and
(xiv) any Guaranty or liability as endorser, guarantor, surety or
otherwise (such as liability as a general partner) for any debt,
obligation or undertaking of any other Person, or agreement to provide
funds for payment of the obligations of another, or supplying of funds
thereto or investing therein or otherwise assuring a creditor of
another against loss, or applying for or becoming liable to the issuer
of a letter of credit which supports an obligation of another, to the
extent such instrument or action would constitute Indebtedness
permitted under Section 7.02(c).
In determining the amount of investments, acquisitions, loans,
advances and guarantees permitted under this Section 7.02(d), investments
and acquisitions shall always be taken at the original cost thereof
(regardless of any subsequent appreciation or depreciation therein), loans
and advances shall be taken at the principal amount thereof then remaining
unpaid, and guarantees shall be taken at the amount of obligations
guaranteed thereby.

(e) Capital Expenditures. Make any Capital Expenditures, or permit any
Subsidiary so to do, exceeding, in the aggregate for the Borrower and the
Subsidiaries, $105,000,000 in the first fiscal year ending after the date
hereof and $50,000,000 in any one fiscal year thereafter; PROVIDED that
after the second anniversary hereof and notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Borrower and its Subsidiaries may make additional Capital Expenditures up
to an aggregate of $50,000,000 for the construction of glass technology
facilities.

(f) Dividends and Purchase of Stock. (i) Declare any dividends (other
than dividends payable in capital stock of the Borrower) on any shares of
any class of its capital stock, or apply any of its property or assets to
the purchase, redemption or other
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for the purchase, redemption or other retirement of, or make any other
distribution by reduction of capital or otherwise in respect of, any shares
of any class of capital stock of the Borrower, or permit any Subsidiary
which is not a Wholly Owned Subsidiary so to do, or permit any Subsidiary

to purchase or acquire any shares of any class of capital stock of the
Borrower, unless, immediately after giving effect to such action, (A) there
shall not have occurred any Default or Event of Default that is continuing
and (B) the aggregate amount of such payments and distributions during any
12-month period shall not have exceeded 110% of such aggregate amounts paid
or distributed in the 12-month period preceding such 12-month period; and

(ii) Permit any Subsidiary to (x) issue a Guaranty or (y) enter into
any agreement or instrument which by its terms restricts the ability of
such Subsidiary to (A) declare or pay dividends or make similar
distributions, (B) repay principal of, or pay any interest on, any
Indebtedness owed to the Borrower or any Subsidiary described in Section
7.02(d)(xi)(A), (C) make payments of royalties, licensing fees and similar
amounts to the Borrower or any other Subsidiary, (D) make loans or advances
to the Borrower or any other Subsidiary or (E) permit the Borrower to
engage in consolidated cash management consistent with its current
practices.
(g) Stock of Subsidiaries. Sell or otherwise dispose of any shares of
capital stock of any Subsidiary (except in connection with a merger or
consolidation of a Wholly Owned Subsidiary permitted by Section 7.02(a) or
with the dissolution of any Subsidiary) or permit any Subsidiary to issue
any additional shares of its capital stock except PRO RATA to its
stockholders.
(h) Use of Proceeds. Use the proceeds of Loans or Letters of Credit
other than (i) to repay Indebtedness outstanding at the Effective Time,
(ii) for working capital requirements and (iii) for general corporate
purposes, including Capital Expenditures.
(i) Subordinated Debt Transaction. (i) Amend or supplement the
indenture or other instruments defining the rights of securityholders
relating to Indebtedness issued in the Subordinated Debt Transaction
without the written consent of the Administrative Agent (which consent will
not be unreasonably withheld) or (ii) exchange such Indebtedness for other
notes or securities except on terms and conditions substantially the same
as the terms and conditions of the Subordinated Debt Transaction with
respect to amounts, pricing, timing of payments thereunder and
subordination provisions or terms and conditions otherwise satisfactory to
the Administrative Agent.

Section 7.03 Financial Covenants. Until satisfaction in full of all the
obligations of the Borrower under the Credit Documents and termination of the
Commitments of the Lenders hereunder, the Borrower will not permit:
(a) Net Worth. Net Worth at any time to be less than the sum of (i)
$90,000,000, (ii) 50% of the Borrower's consolidated net income for each
fiscal quarter then completed (without deduction for any net losses) and
(iii) 75% of all contributions to the equity of the Borrower made after the
Effective Date.
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Expense for the twelve-month period ending on the last day of any fiscal
quarter to be less than 3.00.

(c) Senior Debt/EBITDA Ratio. The Senior Debt/EBITDA Ratio to exceed
the ratio specified below:
Date
---Through February 26, 2000
After February 26, 2000 through March 3, 2001
After March 3, 2001 through March 2, 2002
After March 2, 2002

Ratio
----3.75
3.25
2.75
2.50;

PROVIDED that the maximum permitted ratio for the period through February
26, 2000 shall be 3.25 following the Security Release Date.
(d) Debt/EBITDA Ratio. The Debt/EBITDA Ratio to exceed the ratio
specified below:
Date
---Through February 26, 2000
After February 26, 2000 through March 3, 2001
After March 3, 2001 through March 2, 2002
After March 2, 2002

Ratio
----4.25
3.50
3.00
2.75.

ARTICLE VIII

EVENTS OF DEFAULT
Section 8.01 Events of Default. If one or more of the following events
(each, an "EVENT OF DEFAULT") shall occur:

(a) The Borrower shall fail duly to pay any principal of any Loan or
any L/C Obligations when due, whether at maturity, by notice of intention
to prepay or otherwise; or
(b) The Borrower shall fail duly to pay any interest, fee or any other
amount payable under the Credit Documents when due; or
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covenant, or agreement contained in Section 7.02, Section 7.03 or in the
proviso of the last sentence of Section 6.01(b); or
(d) The Borrower shall fail duly to observe or perform any other term,
covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement, and such failure shall
have continued unremedied for a period of 30 days after any Responsible
Officer becomes aware of such failure; or
(e) Any representation or warranty made or deemed made by the Borrower
in a Credit Document, or any statement or representation made in any
certificate, report or opinion delivered by or on behalf of the Borrower in
connection with a Credit Document, shall prove to have been false or
misleading in any material respect when so made or deemed made; or

(f) The Borrower or any Subsidiary shall fail to pay any Indebtedness
(other than obligations hereunder) in an amount of $5,000,000 or more when
due or default shall occur under one or more indentures, agreements or
other instruments under which any Indebtedness of the Borrower or any
Subsidiary in an aggregate principal amount of $5,000,000 or more may be
issued or created and such default shall continue for a period of time
sufficient to permit the holder or beneficiary of such Indebtedness or a
trustee therefor to cause the acceleration of the maturity of any such
Indebtedness or any mandatory unscheduled prepayment, purchase or funding
thereof; or
(g) An involuntary case or other proceeding shall be commenced against
the Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than a European Subsidiary existing
as of the date hereof) seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief
with respect to it or its debts under any applicable bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization or similar law or seeking the appointment of a
custodian, receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator or similar
official of it or any substantial part of its property, and such
involuntary case or other proceeding shall remain undismissed and unstayed
for a period of more than 60 days; or an order or decree approving or
ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered and continued unstayed and
in effect; or

(h) The Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than a European Subsidiary)
shall commence a voluntary case or proceeding under any applicable
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar law or any other case or
proceeding to be adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent, or any of them shall
consent to the entry of a decree or order for relief in respect of the
Borrower or any such Subsidiary in an involuntary case or proceeding under
any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other similar law
or to the commencement of any bankruptcy or insolvency case or proceeding
against any of them, or any of them shall file a petition or answer or
consent seeking reorganization or relief under any applicable law, or any
of them shall consent to the filing of such petition or to the appointment
of or taking possession by a custodian, receiver, liquidator, assignee,
trustee, sequestrator or similar official of the Borrower or any such
Subsidiary or any substantial part of their respective property, or any of
them shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or any of them
shall admit in
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Borrower or any such Subsidiary shall take corporate action in furtherance
of any such action; or
(i) One or more judgments against the Borrower or any Subsidiary or
attachments against its property, (a) which in the aggregate exceed
$5,000,000, (other than (A) a judgment against a European Subsidiary or (B)
a judgment obtained in Europe against a U.S. Subsidiary with respect to
which judgment by a United States Federal or a state court has not been
entered and relates to a project that has been undertaken as of the date
hereof) or (b) the operation or result of which, individually or in the
aggregate, could be to interfere materially and adversely with the conduct
of the business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole,
remain unpaid, unstayed on appeal, undischarged, unbonded, or undismissed
for a period of more than 30 days; or

(j) The Borrower or any other member of the ERISA Group shall fail to
pay when due an amount or amounts which it shall have become liable to pay
to the PBGC or to a Plan or a Multiemployer Plan under Title IV of ERISA in
excess of $200,000; or notice of intent to terminate a Plan or Plans having
aggregate Unfunded Vested Liabilities in excess of $200,000 (collectively,
a "MATERIAL PLAN") shall be filed under Title IV of ERISA by the Borrower
or any Subsidiary or any other member of the ERISA Group, any plan
administrator or any combination of the foregoing; or the PBGC shall
institute proceedings under Title IV of ERISA terminate or to cause a
trustee to be appointed to administer any Material Plan or a proceeding
shall be instituted by a fiduciary of any Material Plan against the
Borrower or any other member of the ERISA Group to enforce Section 515 or
4219(c)(5) of ERISA and such proceeding shall not have been dismissed
within thirty (30) days thereafter; or a condition shall exist by reason of
which the PBGC would be entitled to obtain a decree adjudicating that any
Material Plan must be terminated; or
(k) The Borrower or any Subsidiary, or any Person acting on behalf of
the Borrower or a Subsidiary, or any governmental authority challenges the
validity of any Credit Document or the Borrower's or a Subsidiary's
obligations thereunder or any Credit Document ceases to be in full force
and effect or is modified other than in accordance with the terms thereof
and hereof; or
(l) The Borrower or any Subsidiary, or any Person acting on behalf of
the Borrower or a Subsidiary, or any Governmental Authority challenges the
validity of any Credit Document or the Borrower's or a Subsidiary's
obligations thereunder or any Credit Document ceases to be in full force
and effect or is modified other than in accordance with the terms thereof
and hereof or any security interest purported to be created in any
collateral by or under any Security Document shall cease to be a valid and
perfected first priority Lien in such collateral, except as expressly

contemplated by such Security Document; or

(m) Any court or governmental or regulatory authority shall have
enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any statute, rule,
regulation, judgment, decree, injunction or other order (whether temporary,
preliminary or permanent) which is in effect and which prohibits, enjoins
or otherwise restricts, in a manner that, individually or
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in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect, any of the transactions contemplated under the Credit Documents; or
(n) Any person or group of persons (within the meaning of Section 13
or 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) shall have
acquired beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated
by the Securities and Exchange Commission under said Act), or shall have
acquired control, directly or indirectly, of 20% or more of the outstanding
shares of common stock of the Borrower; or, during any period of 24
consecutive calendar months, individuals who were directors of the Borrower
on the first day of such period shall cease to constitute a majority of the
board of directors of the Borrower;
then, and at any time during the continuance of such Event of Default, the
Required Lenders, may, by written notice to the Borrower, take either or both of
the following actions, at the same or different times: (i) terminate forthwith
the Commitments and (ii) declare any Loans and L/C Obligations then outstanding
to be due, whereupon the principal of the Loans and the L/C Obligations so
declared to be due, together with accrued interest thereon and any unpaid
amounts accrued under the Credit Documents, shall become forthwith due, without
presentment, demand, protest or any other notice of any kind (all of which are
hereby expressly waived by the Borrower); PROVIDED that, in the case of any
Event of Default described in Section 8.01(g) or (h) occurring with respect to
the Borrower, the Commitments shall automatically and immediately terminate and
the principal of all Loans and the L/C Obligations then outstanding, together
with accrued interest thereon and any unpaid amounts accrued under the Credit
Documents, shall automatically and immediately become due without presentment,
demand, protest or any other notice of any kind (all of which are hereby
expressly waived by the Borrower).
ARTICLE IX

THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT

Section 9.01 The Agency. Each Lender appoints The Bank of New York as its
Administrative Agent hereunder and irrevocably authorizes the Administrative
Agent to take such action on its behalf and to exercise such powers hereunder
and thereunder as are specifically delegated to the Administrative Agent by the
terms hereof and thereof, together with such powers as are reasonably incidental
thereto, including the exercise of powers delegated to the Administrative Agent
and the Lenders thereby, and the Administrative Agent hereby accepts such
appointment subject to the terms hereof. The relationship between the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall be that of agent and principal only
and nothing herein shall be construed to constitute the Administrative Agent a
trustee or fiduciary for any Lender nor to impose on the Administrative Agent
duties or obligations other than those expressly provided for herein.
Section 9.02 The Agent's Duties. (a) The Administrative Agent shall
promptly forward to each Lender copies, or notify each Lender as to the
contents, of all notices received from the Borrower pursuant to the terms of
this Agreement and, in the event that the Borrower fails to pay when due the
principal of or interest on any Loan, the Administrative Agent shall promptly
give notice thereof to the Lenders. As to any other matter not expressly
provided for herein, the Administrative Agent shall have no duty to act or
refrain from acting with respect to the Borrower, except upon the instructions
of the Required Lenders. The Administrative Agent shall
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Agreement or the other Credit Documents which changes its duties hereunder and
thereunder, unless it shall have given its prior written consent thereto. The
Administrative Agent shall have no duty to ascertain or inquire as to the
performance or observance of any of the terms, conditions, covenants or
agreements binding on the Borrower pursuant to any Credit Document nor shall the
Administrative Agent be deemed to have knowledge of the occurrence of any
Default or Event of Default (other than a failure of the Borrower to pay when
due the principal or interest on any Loan), unless it shall have received
written notice from the Borrower or a Lender specifying such Default or Event of
Default and stating that such notice is a "Notice of Default".
(b) Anything in the Credit Documents notwithstanding, neither U.S. Bank,
National Association nor Harris Trust and Savings Bank shall have any obligation
hereunder other than as Lenders.
Section 9.03 Limitation of Liabilities. Each of the Lenders and the
Borrower agree that (i) neither the Administrative Agent nor any of its officers
or employees shall be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken by any
of them hereunder except for its or their own gross negligence or wilful
misconduct, (ii) neither the Administrative Agent nor any of its officers or
employees shall be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken by any of
them in good faith in reliance upon the advice of counsel, independent public
accountants or other experts selected by the Administrative Agent, and (iii) the
Administrative Agent shall be entitled to rely upon any notice, consent,
certificate, statement or other document believed by it to be genuine and
correct and to have been signed and/or sent by the proper Persons.

Section 9.04 The Administrative Agent as a Lender. The Administrative Agent
may, without any liability to account, maintain deposits or credit balances for,
invest in, lend money to and generally engage in any kind of banking business
with the Borrower or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Borrower as if it were
any other borrower and without any duty to account therefor to the other
Lenders.

Section 9.05 Lender Credit Decision. Neither the Administrative Agent, nor
any of its Affiliates, officers or employees has any responsibility for, gives
any guaranty in respect of, nor makes any representation to the Lenders as to,
(i) the condition, financial or otherwise, of the Borrower or any Subsidiary
thereof or the truth of any representation or warranty given or made in this
Agreement, or in connection herewith or therewith or (ii) the validity,
execution, suffic iency, effectiveness, construction, adequacy, enforceability
or value of this Agreement or any other document or instrument related hereto or
thereto. Except as specifically provided herein, neither the Administrative
Agent nor any of its Affiliates, officers or employees shall have any duty or
responsibility, either initially or on a continuing basis, to provide any Lender
with any credit or other information with respect to the operations, business,
property, condition or credit worthiness of the Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries, whether such information comes into the Administrative Agent's
possession on or before the date hereof or at any time thereafter. Each Lender
acknowledges that (i) it has, independently and without reliance upon the
Administrative Agent or any other Lender, based on such documents and
information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own credit analysis and
decision to enter into this Agreement and (ii) all information reviewed by it in
its credit analysis or otherwise in connection herewith (including information
relating to the Administrative Agent) has been provided solely by or on behalf
of the Borrower, and the Administrative Agent has no responsibility for such
information. Each Lender
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Administrative Agent or any other Lender, based on such documents and
information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own

credit decisions in taking or not taking action under any Credit Document.
Section 9.06 Indemnification. (a) Each Lender agrees to indemnify the
Administrative Agent, to the extent not reimbursed by the Borrower, ratably in
proportion to its Commitment (as of the time of the incurrence of the liability
being indemnified against), from and against any and all liabilities,
obligations, losses, claims, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits,
costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever which may be
imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against the Administrative Agent in any way
relating to or arising out of any Credit Document, or any action taken or
omitted to be taken by the Administrative Agent hereunder or thereunder;
PROVIDED that no Lender shall be liable for any portion of such liabilities,
obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs,
expenses or disbursements resulting from the gross negligence or wilful
misconduct of the Administrative Agent or any of its officers or employees.
Without limiting the foregoing, each Lender agrees to reimburse the
Administrative Agent promptly upon demand for its ratable share of any
out-of-pocket expenses (including fees and disbursements of counsel) incurred by
the Administrative Agent in such capacity in connection with the preparation,
execution or enforcement of, or legal advice in respect of rights or
responsibilities under, any Credit Document or any amendments or supplements
hereto or thereto, to the extent that the Administrative Agent is not reimbursed
for such expenses by the Borrower.

(b) Except for action expressly required of the Administrative Agent
hereunder, the Administrative Agent shall in all cases be fully justified in
failing or refusing to act hereunder unless it shall receive further assurances
to its satisfaction from the Lenders of their indemnification obligations under
this Section 9.06 hereof against any and all liability and expense that may be
incurred by it by reason of taking or continuing to take any such action.
(c) The provisions of this Section 9.06, shall remain operative and in full
force and effect regardless of the expiration of the term of this Agreement, the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, the repayment of any of
the Loans, the reduction or termination of any Commitments, the invalidity or
unenforceability of any term or provision of any Credit Document, or any
investigation made by or on behalf of the Lenders.

Section 9.07 Successor Administrative Agent. The Administrative Agent may
resign at any time by giving written notice thereof to the Lenders and the
Borrower. Upon any such resignation or removal, the Required Lenders with the
consent of the Borrower (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld) shall
have the right to appoint a successor Administrative Agent. If no successor
Administrative Agent shall have been so appointed by the Required Lenders and
shall have accepted such appointment within 30 days after the resigning
Administrative Agent's giving of notice of resignation the resigning
Administrative Agent may, on behalf of the Lenders, appoint a successor
Administrative Agent, which shall be a commercial bank organized or licensed
under the laws of the United States of America or of any State thereof and
having a combined capital and surplus of at least $500,000,000. Upon the
acceptance of any appointment as Administrative Agent hereunder by a successor
Administrative Agent, such successor Administrative Agent shall thereupon
succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties
of the resigned Administrative Agent, and the resigned
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Administrative Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations under
this Agreement. After any Administrative Agent's resignation as Administrative
Agent, the provisions of this Article IX shall inure to its benefit as to any
actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was Administrative Agent
under this Agreement.
ARTICLE X

EVIDENCE OF LOANS; TRANSFERS

Section 10.01 Evidence of Loans. (a) Each Lender shall maintain, in
accordance with its customary and usual practice, accounts evidencing the
indebtedness of the Borrower to such Lender resulting from each Loan made by
such Lender from time to time, including the amounts of principal and interest
payable and paid to such Lender in respect of Loans. To the extent requested by
any Lender, each Loan made under this Agreement may be evidenced by one or more
Notes, in substantially the form of Exhibit C-1 or Exhibit C-2, as applicable.
(b) The Administrative Agent shall maintain, in accordance with its
customary and usual practice, (i) a copy of each Assignment and Acceptance
delivered to it and (ii) written or electronic records for the recordation of
(A) the amount of each Lender's Commitments, (B) the amount of each Loan,
whether such Loan is a Loan and the interest rate and the Interest Period
applicable thereto, (iii) the amount of any principal or interest due and
payable or to become due and payable from the Borrower to each Lender hereunder,
(D) the amount of any payments received by the Administrative Agent hereunder
from the Borrower and each Lender's share thereof and (E) with respect to each
Assignment and Acceptance delivered to the Administrative Agent, the name and
address of the Assignee, the amount of the Assignee's Commitment and the
principal amount of each Loan owing to such Assignee. The Administrative Agent's
written records described above shall be available for inspection during
ordinary business hours by the Borrower or any Lender or Assignee from time to
time upon reasonable prior notice to the Administrative Agent.
(c) The entries made in the Administrative Agent's written or electronic
records and the foregoing accounts shall be PRIMA FACIE evidence of the
existence and amounts of the indebtedness of the Borrower therein recorded;
PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that the failure of any Lender or the Administrative Agent to
maintain any such account or such records, as applicable, or any error therein,
shall not in any manner affect the validity or enforceability of any obligation
of the Borrower to repay any Loan actually made by such Lender in accordance
with the terms of this Agreement. The entries in such records relating to
assignments shall be conclusive, in the absence of manifest error, and the
Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders may treat each Person whose
name is recorded in such records as the owner of the Loans recorded therein for
all purposes of this Agreement.

(d) The Borrower's obligations to repay any Loan assigned to a Federal
Reserve Bank by a Lender shall, to the extent requested by such Lender in order
to effect such assignment, be evidenced by one or more Notes, in substantially
the form of EXHIBIT C-1 or EXHIBIT C-2, as applicable. Such Note shall be in the
principal amount of the Loan or Loans so assigned and stated to mature on the
applicable Commitment Termination Date and bear interest from its date
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payable at the rates and in the manner provided herein.
Section 10.02 Participations. Any Lender may at any time grant to one or
more financial institutions (each a "PARTICIPANT") participating interests in
its Commitment or any or all of its Loans. In the event of any such grant by a
Lender of a participating interest to a Participant, whether or not upon notice
to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent, such Lender shall remain
responsible for the performance of its obligations hereunder, and, except to the
extent such participating interest has been granted pursuant to Section 4.02(e),
the Borrower and the Administrative Agent shall continue to deal solely and
directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender's rights and
obligations under this Agreement. Any agreement pursuant to which any Lender may
grant such a participating interest shall provide that such Lender shall retain
the sole right and responsibility to enforce the obligations of the Borrower
hereunder including the right to approve any amendment, modification or waiver
of any provi sion of this Agreement; PROVIDED that such participation agreement
may provide that such Lender will not agree to any modification, amendment or
waiver of this Agreement described in clauses (i) through (vi), inclusive, of
Section 11.05. An assignment or other transfer which is not permitted by Section
10.03 shall be given effect for purposes of this Agreement only to the extent of

a participating interest granted in accordance with this Section 10.02.

Section 10.03 Assignments. (a) Any Lender may at any time assign to one or
more financial institutions (each an "ASSIGNEE") all, or a proportionate part of
all, of its rights and obligations under this Agreement, and such Assignee shall
assume such rights and obligations, pursuant to an instrument, in substantially
the form of EXHIBIT F (an "ASSIGNMENT AND ACCEPTANCE"), executed by such
Assignee and such transferor Lender, with (and subject to) the signed consent of
the Borrower (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, PROVIDED that it
shall not be unreasonable to withhold consent if such assignment would result in
there being more than fifteen (15) Lenders (such number to be increased to
twenty (20) Lenders should the Subordinated Debt Transaction not be consummated
within 90 days of the Effective Date)) and the Administrative Agent (which
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld); PROVIDED that (i) the foregoing
consent requirement shall not be applicable in the case of an assignment or
other transfer by any Lender to an Eligible Affiliate of such Lender, to another
Lender or to a Federal Reserve Bank, (ii) the aforementioned consent of the
Borrower shall not be required if there shall have occurred an Event of Default
that is continuing and (iii) a Lender may only make an assignment or other
transfer of its Loans or Commitment in the minimum amount of $5,000,000 or
integral multiples of $1,000,000 in excess thereof unless such Lender's Loans or
Commitment is less than $5,000,000, in which case such Lender may only make an
assignment or other transfer of all of its Loans or Commitment. Upon execution
and delivery of an Assignment and Acceptance and payment by such Assignee to
such transferring Lender of an amount equal to the purchase price agreed between
such transferring Lender and such Assignee and payment by the transferring
Lender or the Assignee of an assignment fee of $3,500 to the Administrative
Agent, such Assignee shall be a Lender party to this Agreement and shall have
all the rights and obligations of a Lender with a Commitment as set forth in
such Assignment and Acceptance, and the transferring Lender shall be released
from its obligations hereunder to a corresponding extent, and no further consent
or action by any party shall be required.
(b) No Assignee of any Lender's rights shall be entitled to receive any
greater payment under Section 4.03 or 4.04 than such Lender would have been
entitled to receive with respect to
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the rights transferred, unless such transfer is made with the Borrower's prior
written consent or by reason of the provisions of Section 4.04(c) requiring such
Lender to designate a different Applicable Lending Office under certain
circumstances or at a time when the circumstances giving rise to such payment
did not exist.
Section 10.04. Certain Pledges. Notwithstanding any other provision in this
Agreement, any Lender may at any time create a security interest in, or pledge,
all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement and any Note held by it in
favor of any Federal Reserve Bank in accordance with Federal Reserve Board
Regulation A or U.S. Treasury Regulation 31 C.F.R. ss. 203.14, and such Federal
Reserve Bank may enforce such pledge or security interest in any manner
permitted under applicable law.
ARTICLE XI

MISCELLANEOUS
SECTION 11.01. APPLICABLE LAW. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND
CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK APPLICABLE TO
CONTRACTS MADE AND TO BE PER FORMED ENTIRELY WITHIN SUCH STATE.

SECTION 11.02. WAIVER OF JURY. THE BORROWER, THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND
THE LENDERS EACH HEREBY WAIVES TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY JUDICIAL PROCEEDING
INVOLVING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ANY MATTER (WHETHER SOUNDING IN TORT,
CONTRACT OR OTHERWISE) IN ANY WAY ARISING OUT OF, RELATED TO, OR CONNECTED WITH
THIS AGREEMENT, THE NOTES OR THE RELATIONSHIPS ESTABLISHED HEREUNDER.

Section 11.03. Jurisdiction and Venue; Service of Process. The Borrower,
the Administrative Agent and the Lenders each hereby irrevocably submits to the
non-exclusive jurisdiction of any state or federal court in the Borough of
Manhattan, The City of New York for the purpose of any suit, action, proceeding
or judgment relating to or arising out of any Credit Document and to the laying
of venue in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York. The Borrower, the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders each hereby irrevocably waives, to the
fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any objection to the laying of the
venue of any such suit, action or proceeding brought in the aforesaid courts and
hereby irrevocably waives any claim that any such suit, action or proceeding
brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum.

(b) The Borrower agrees that service of process in any such action or
proceeding may be effected by mailing a copy thereof by registered or certified
mail (or any substantially similar form of mail), postage prepaid, to the
Borrower at its address set forth in subsection 10.2(c) or at such other address
of which the Agent shall have been notified pursuant thereto. The Borrower
further agrees that nothing herein shall affect the right to effect service of
process in any other manner permitted by law or shall limit the right to sue in
any other jurisdiction; and
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(c) The Borrower waives, to the maximum extent not prohibited by law, any
right it may have to claim or recover in any legal action or proceeding referred
to in this subsection any special, exemplary, punitive or consequential damages.
Section 11.04. Set-off. The Borrower hereby authorizes each Lender
(including each Lender in its capacity as a purchaser of a participation
interest pursuant to Section 4.02(e)), upon the occurrence of an Event of
Default and at any time and from time to time during the continuance thereof, to
the fullest extent permitted by law, to set-off and apply any and all deposits
(whether general or special, time or demand, provisional or final and in
whatever currency) at any time held, and other Indebtedness at any time owing,
by such Lender to or for the credit or the account of the Borrower against any
of the obligations of the Borrower, now or hereafter existing under any Credit
Document, held by such Lender, irrespective of whether such Lender shall have
made any demand under this Agreement and although such obligations may be
unmatured. The rights of each Lender under this Section 11.04 are in addition to
other rights and remedies (including other rights of set-off) which such Lender
may have. Any Lender exercising its rights under this Section 11.04 shall give
notice thereof to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent concurrently with or
prior to the exercise of such rights; PROVIDED that failure to give such notice
shall not affect the validity of such exercise.

Section 11.05. Amendments and Waivers. (a) Any provision of this Agreement
may be amended, modified, supplemented or waived, but only by a written
amendment or supplement, or written waiver, signed by the Borrower and either
the Required Lenders (and, if the rights or duties of the Administrative Agent
are affected thereby, by the Administrative Agent), or the Administrative Agent
with the consent of the Required Lenders; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that no such
amendment, modification, or waiver shall, unless signed by all the Lenders, or
by the Administrative Agent with the consent of all the Lenders, (i) increase or
decrease (other than a PRO RATA decrease) the Commitment of any Lender or
subject any Lender to any additional obligation, (ii) reduce the principal of or
rate of interest on any Loan or any fees hereunder, (iii) postpone any scheduled
payment of principal of or interest on any Loan or any fees hereunder, (iv)
postpone any reduction or termination of any Commitment or any mandatory
prepayment related thereto, (v) release any collateral that would result in an
aggregate amount of $1,000,000 of collateral released from the date hereof, (vi)
release the Subsidiary Guaranties, (vii) change the definition of "Required
Lenders" or (viii) amend, modify, supplement or waive the provisions of this
Section 11.05.

(b) Except to the extent expressly set forth therein, any waiver shall be
effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which
such waiver is given.

Section 11.06. Cumulative Rights; No Waiver. Each and every right granted
to the Administrative Agent, the L/C Issuer and the Lenders hereunder or under
any other document delivered in connection herewith, or allowed them by law or
equity, shall be cumulative and not exclusive and may be exercised from time to
time. No failure on the part of the Administrative Agent, the L/C Issuer or any
Lender to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right will operate as a
waiver thereof, nor will any single or partial exercise by the Administrative
Agent, the L/C Issuer or any Lender of any right preclude any other or future
exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right.
-60Section 11.07. Notices. (a) Any communication, demand or notice to be given
hereunder will be duly given when delivered in writing or by telecopy to a party
at its address as indicated below or such other address as such party may
specify in a notice to each other party hereto. A communication, demand or
notice given pursuant to this Section 11.07 shall be addressed:

If to the Borrower, at
Apogee Enterprises, Inc.
7900 Xerxes Avenue South, Suite 1800
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55431-1159

Telecopy:

(612) 896-2400

Attention:

Mr. Michael Bevilacqua
Treasurer

If to the Administrative Agent, at
The Bank of New York
One Wall Street, 18th Floor
New York, New York 10286
Telecopy:

(212) 635-6365 or 6366

Attention:

Agency Function Administration

with copy to:

Richard A. Raffetto
The Bank of New York
One Wall Street
New York, New York 10286
Telecopy:
(212) 635-1208
If to the L/C Issuer, at
The Bank of New York
One Wall Street
New York, New York 10286
Telecopy:

(212) 349-3955

Attention:

Mr. Sal Calvera
Letter of Credit Department

with a copy to:
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The Bank of New York

One Wall Street
New York, New York 10286
Telecopy:
(212) 635-1208
If to any Lender (including the Swing Line Lender), at its address
indicated on SCHEDULE I hereto, or at such other address as may be designated by
such Lender in an Administrative Questionnaire or other appropriate writing,
delivered to the Administrative Agent and the Borrower.

This Section 11.07 shall not apply to notices referred to in Article II of
this Agreement, except to the extent set forth therein.

(b) Unless otherwise provided to the contrary herein, any notice which is
required to be given in writing pursuant to the terms of this Agreement may be
given by telecopy.
Section 11.08 Separate Debts. The amounts payable by the Borrower at any
time under the Credit Documents to each Lender shall be a separate and
independent debt and each Lender shall be entitled to protect and enforce its
rights in accordance with the Credit Documents, and it shall not be necessary
for any other Lender or the Administrative Agent to consent to, or be joined as
an additional party in, any proceedings for such purposes.

Section 11.09 Certain Acknowledgments. The Borrower hereby confirms and
acknowledges that (a) neither the Administrative Agent , the L/C Issuer nor any
Lender has any fiduciary or similar relationship to the Borrower and that the
relationship established by the Credit Documents between the Administrative
Agent, the L/C Issuer and the Lenders, on the one hand, and the Borrower, on the
other hand, is solely that of creditors and debtor and (b) that no joint venture
exists among the Lender or among the Borrower and the Lenders.

Section 11.10 Separability. In case any one or more of the provisions
contained in any Credit Document shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in
any respect under any law, the validity, legality and enforceability of the
remaining provisions contained herein or in any other Credit Document shall not
in any way be affected or impaired thereby.
Section 11.11 Parties in Interest. This Agreement shall be binding upon and
inure to the benefit of the Borrower and the Lenders and their respective
successors and assigns, except that the Borrower may not assign any of its
rights hereunder without the prior written consent of all of the Lenders, and
any purported assignment by the Borrower without such consent shall be void.

Section 11.12 Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in
any number of counterparts and by the different parties hereto on separate
counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be an original,
but all the counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument.

[THE NEXT PAGE IS THE SIGNATURE PAGE]
-62IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be
duly executed as of the date first above written.

APOGEE ENTERPRISES, INC.

By: /s/ Michael A. Bevilacqua
----------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title:Treasurer
THE BANK OF NEW YORK, as

Administrative Agent, L/C Issuer
and Swing Line Lender
By:

/s/ Richard A. Raffetto
----------------------------Name: Richard A. Raffetto
Title:Vice President

THE BANK OF NEW YORK, as a Lender
By:

/s/ Richard A. Raffetto
----------------------------Name: Richard A. Raffetto
Title:Vice President

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as
a Syndication Agent and as a Lender
By:
/s/ Matthew A. Ross
----------------------------Name:Matthew A. Ross
Title:Vice President
HARRIS TRUST AND SAVINGS BANK, as
a Documentation Agent and as a
Lender

By:

/s/ Andrew K. Peterson
----------------------------Name: Andrew K. Peterson
Title:Vice President
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SECURITY AGREEMENT (the "AGREEMENT"), dated as of May 21, 1998, among
Apogee Enterprises, Inc., a Minnesota corporation (the "BORROWER"), and the
other parties executing this Agreement under the heading "Debtors" (the Borrower
and such other parties, along with any parties who execute and deliver to the
Agent an agreement attached hereto as SCHEDULE C, being hereinafter referred to
collectively, as the "DEBTORS" and individually, as a "DEBTOR"), each with its
mailing address as set forth on its signature page hereto, and The Bank of New
York ("BNY"), with its mailing address at One Wall Street, New York, New York
10286, acting as administrative and collateral agent hereunder for the Secured
Creditors hereinafter identified (BNY acting as such agent and any successor or
successors to BNY acting in such capacity being hereinafter referred to as the
"AGENT");
PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS

A. The Borrower and BNY, individually and as administrative agent, have
entered into a Credit Agreement dated as of May 21, 1998 (such Credit Agreement
as the same may be amended, modified or restated from time to time being
hereinafter referred to as the "CREDIT AGREEMENT"), pursuant to which BNY and
such other lenders and letter of credit issuers from time to time parties
thereto (BNY acting as such agent and any successor or successors to BNY acting
in such capacity being hereinafter referred to as the "Administrative Agent";
BNY, as a lender, the letter of credit issuer and the swing line lender, and
such other lenders party to the Credit Agreement being hereinafter referred to
collectively, as the "LENDERS" and individually, as a "LENDER") have agreed,
subject to certain terms and conditions, to extend credit to the Borrower (the
Administrative Agent, the Lenders and the Other Lenders and Creditors being
hereinafter referred to, collectively, as the "SECURED CREDITORS" and
individually, as a "SECURED CREDITOR"). As used herein, (i) "OTHER LENDERS" and
"CREDITORS" shall mean those Other Lenders and Creditors party to, and defined
in, the Intercreditor Agreement, dated the date hereof, and (ii) "OTHER
FINANCING DOCUMENTS" shall mean the agreements and instruments referred to in

the Intercreditor Agreement under which the Other Lenders and Creditors have
extended credit to the Borrower as of the date hereof.

B. As a condition to extending (or continuing the extension of) credit
to the Borrower under the Credit Agreement, the Secured Creditors have required,
among other things, that each Debtor grant to the Agent a lien on and security
interest in the personal property of such Debtor described herein subject to the
terms and conditions hereof.
C. The Borrower owns, directly or indirectly, equity interests in each
other Debtor and the Borrower provides each other Debtor with financial,
management, administrative, and technical support which enables such Debtor to
conduct its business in an orderly and efficient manner in the ordinary course.

D. Each Debtor will benefit, directly or indirectly, from credit
extended by the Secured Creditors to the Borrower.
NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the execution and delivery
by the Secured Creditors of the Credit Agreement, and other good and valuable
consideration, receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby
agree as follows:
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Section 1. Terms and Definitions. All capitalized terms used herein
without definition shall have the same meanings herein as such terms have in the
Credit Agreement. All terms which are used herein which are defined in the
Uniform Commercial Code of the State of New York ("UCC") shall have the same
meanings herein as such terms are defined in the UCC, unless this Agreement
shall otherwise specifically provide. The headings herein shall not be given
effect in interpreting or construing the provisions of this Agreement. The terms
"DEBTOR" and "DEBTORS" as used herein shall mean and include the Debtors
collectively, and also each individually, with all grants, representations,
warranties and covenants of and by the Debtors, or any of them, herein contained
to constitute joint and several grants, representations, warranties and
covenants of and by the Debtors; provided, however, that unless the context in
which the same is used shall otherwise require, any grant, representation,
warranty or covenant contained herein related to the Collateral shall be made by
each Debtor only with respect to the Collateral owned by it or represented by
such Debtor as owned by it.
Section 2. Grant of Security Interest in the Collateral; Obligations
Secured. (a) Each Debtor hereby grants to the Agent, for the ratable benefit of
the Secured Creditors, a lien on and security interest in, and right of set-off
against, and acknowledges and agrees that the Agent has and shall continue to
have, for the ratable benefit of the Secured Creditors, a continuing lien on and
security interest in, and right of set-off against, any and all right, title and
interest of each Debtor, whether now owned or existing or hereafter created,
acquired or arising, in and to the following:
(i) Receivables. All Receivables, whether now owned or
existing or hereafter created, acquired or arising, and however
evidenced or acquired, or in which such Debtor now has or hereafter
acquires any rights (the term "RECEIVABLES" means and includes all
accounts, accounts receivable, contract rights, instruments, notes,
drafts, acceptances, documents, chattel paper, any right of such Debtor
to payment for goods sold or leased or for services rendered, whether
or not earned by performance, and all other forms of obligations owing
to such Debtor, and all of such Debtor's rights to any merchandise or
other goods (including without limitation any returned or repossessed
goods and the right of stoppage in transit) which is represented by,
arises from or is related to any of the foregoing);

(ii) General Intangibles. All General Intangibles, whether now
owned or existing or hereafter created, acquired or arising, or in
which such Debtor now has or hereafter acquires any rights (the term
"GENERAL INTANGIBLES" means and includes all general intangibles, all

patents, patent applications, patent licenses, trademarks, trademark
registrations, trademark licenses, trade styles, trade names,
copyrights, copyright registrations, copyright licenses and other
licenses and similar intangibles, all customer, client and supplier
lists (in whatever form maintained), all rights in leases and other
agreements relating to real or personal property, all causes of action
and tax refunds of every kind and nature, all privileges, franchises,
immunities, licenses, permits and similar intangibles, and all other
personal property (including things in action) not otherwise covered by
this Agreement);

(iii) Inventory. All Inventory, whether now owned or existing
or hereafter created, acquired or arising, or in which such Debtor now
has or hereafter acquires any rights and all documents of title at any
time evidencing or representing any part thereof (the term
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"INVENTORY" means and includes all inventory and other goods which are
held for sale or lease or are to be furnished under contracts of
service or consumed in such Debtor's business, all goods which are raw
materials, work-in-process, finished goods, materials or supplies of
every kind and nature, in each case used or usable in connection with
the acquisition, manufacture, processing, supply, servicing, storing,
packing, shipping, advertising, selling, leasing or furnishing of such
goods, and any constituents or ingredients thereof, and all goods which
are returned or repossessed goods);

(iv) Equipment. All Equipment, whether now owned or existing
or hereafter created, acquired or arising, or in which such Debtor now
has or hereafter acquires any rights (the term "EQUIPMENT" means and
includes all equipment and other machinery, tools, fixtures, trade
fixtures, furniture, furnishings, office equipment, vehicles (including
vehicles subject to a certificate of title law) and all other goods now
or hereafter used or usable in connection with such Debtor's business,
together with all parts, accessories and attachments relating to any of
the foregoing);
(v) Deposits and Property in Possession. All deposit accounts
(whether general, specific or otherwise, matured or unmatured and in
whatever currency denominated) of such Debtor maintained with any of
the Secured Creditors and all sums now or hereafter on deposit therein
or payable thereon, and any and all other property and interests in
property which now is or may from time to time hereafter come into the
possession, custody or control of any of the Secured Creditors, or any
agent of any of them, in any way and for any purpose (whether for
safekeeping, custody, pledge, transmission, collection or otherwise);

(vi) Records. All supporting evidence and documents relating
to any of the above-described property, including, without limitation,
computer programs, disks, tapes and related electronic data processing
media, and all rights of such Debtor to retrieve the same from third
parties, written applications, credit information, account cards,
payment records, correspondence, delivery and installation
certificates, invoice copies, delivery receipts, notes and other
evidences of indebtedness, insurance certificates and the like,
together with all books of account, ledgers and cabinets in which the
same are reflected or maintained, all whether now existing or hereafter
arising;
(vii) Accessions and Additions. All accessions and additions
to and substitutions and replacements of any and all of the foregoing,
whether now existing or hereafter arising; and
(viii) Proceeds and Products. All proceeds and products of the
foregoing and all insurance of the foregoing and proceeds thereof,

whether now existing or hereafter arising;

all of the foregoing being herein sometimes referred to as the "COLLATERAL";
PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that the term "Collateral" shall not include any property
related to projects financed by the issuance of so-called industrial revenue
bonds and with respect to which the granting of a lien or security interest
would either give rise to a breach under the related documents as in effect on
the date hereof or would cause such bonds to lose their tax-exempt status.
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(b) This Agreement is made and given to secure, and shall secure, the
prompt payment and performance when due of (i) (A) any and all indebtedness,
obligations and liabilities of the Borrower to the Secured Creditors, and to any
of them individually, under or in connection with or evidenced by the Credit
Agreement, the Notes of the Borrower heretofore or hereafter issued under the
Credit Agreement, the obligations of the Borrower to reimburse the Secured
Creditors for the amount of all drawings on all Letters of Credit issued
pursuant to the Credit Agreement and under or in connection with or evidenced by
the Other Financing Documents and (B) any and all liability of the Debtors, and
of any of them individually, arising under any guaranty issued by it relating to
the foregoing or any part thereof, in each case whether now existing or
hereafter arising (and whether arising before or after the filing of a petition
in bankruptcy and including all interest accrued after the petition date), due
or to become due, direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, and howsoever
evidenced, held or acquired and (ii) any and all reasonable expenses and
charges, legal or otherwise, suffered or incurred by the Agent or the Secured
Creditors, and any of them individually, in collecting or enforcing any of such
indebtedness, obligations and liabilities or in realizing on or protecting or
preserving any security therefor, including, without limitation, the lien and
security interest granted hereby (all of the indebtedness, obligations,
liabilities, expenses and charges described above being hereinafter referred to
as the "OBLIGATIONS").

(c) This Agreement and the security interests granted or created
hereunder shall terminate if:
(i) either (x) the Lenders release their security interest in
the Collateral, (y) the Commitment Termination Date shall have occurred
and all payment obligations of the Borrower due and owing on such date
under the Credit Documents shall have been paid in full or (z) the
Security Release Date shall have occurred;
(ii) no Default or Event of Default under the Credit Agreement
shall have occurred and be continuing; and
(iii) no Liens exist with respect to any of the assets or
properties of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries except as permitted by
Section 7.02(b) of the Credit Agreement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this subsection (c), this Agreement
and the security interests granted or created hereunder shall not terminate, in
the event that, and solely to the extent that and for so long as, the Borrower
shall have consented in writing to the continued effectiveness of this Agreement
and such security interests. If this Agreement shall terminate, the Collateral
Agent shall take all reasonable action necessary to release any Collateral from
such security interests (including but not limited to the execution and delivery
of termination statements and releases and, where appropriate, the return of
physical possession and control of such Collateral). All indemnities by the
Borrower contained in this Agreement shall survive its termination and remain in
full force and effect regardless of the termination of such security interests
or this Agreement.

Section 3. Covenants, Agreements, Representations and Warranties. The
Debtors hereby covenant and agree with, and represent and warrant to, the
Secured Creditors that:

(a) Each Debtor is duly organized, validly existing and in
good standing under the laws of the state of its incorporation or
organization, is the sole and lawful owner of the
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Collateral for which a security interest is granted by it hereunder and
has the power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform
each and all of the matters and things herein provided for. Each
Debtor's Federal tax identification number is set forth under its name
under Column 1 on SCHEDULE A.

(b) Each Debtor's respective chief executive office is at the
location listed under Column 2 on SCHEDULE A attached hereto opposite
such Debtor's name; and such Debtor has no other executive offices or
places of business other than those listed under Column 3 on SCHEDULE A
attached hereto opposite such Debtor's name. The Collateral owned or
leased by each Debtor is and shall remain in such Debtor's possession
or control at the locations listed under Columns 2 and 3 on SCHEDULE A
attached hereto opposite such Debtor's name (collectively for each
Debtor, the "PERMITTED COLLATERAL LOCATIONS"), except as to any
Collateral sold or otherwise disposed of in accordance with this
Agreement and the Credit Agreement. If for any reason any Collateral is
at any time kept or located at a location other than a Permitted
Collateral Location, the Agent shall nevertheless have and retain a
lien on and security interest therein. No Debtor shall move its chief
executive office or maintain a place of business at a location other
than those specified under Columns 2 or 3 on SCHEDULE A or permit any
Collateral to be located at a location other than a Permitted
Collateral Location, in each case without first providing the Agent at
least 30 days' prior written notice of the Debtor's intent to do so;
PROVIDED that each Debtor shall at all times maintain its chief
executive office and places of business in the United States of America
and Permitted Collateral Locations in the United States of America and,
with respect to any new chief executive office or place of business or
location of Collateral, such Debtor shall have taken all action
reasonably requested by the Agent to maintain the lien and security
interest of Agent in the Collateral at all times fully perfected and in
full force and effect.
(c) The Collateral and every part thereof is and shall be free
and clear of all security interests, liens (including, without
limitation, mechanics', laborers' and statutory liens), attachments,
levies and encumbrances of every kind, nature and description and
whether voluntary or involuntary, except for (i) the lien and security
interest of the Agent therein, and other Liens permitted by the Credit
Agreement, (ii) liens in existence as of the date hereof related to
projects financed by industrial revenue bonds or granted in connection
with retention, performance or similar bonds to secure performance of
such Debtor's indemnity obligation with respect thereto and (iii) liens
set forth on SCHEDULE D hereto (herein, the "PERMITTED LIENS"). Each
Debtor shall warrant and defend the Collateral against any claims and
demands of all persons at any time claiming the same or any interest in
the Collateral adverse to any of the Secured Creditors other than
holders of Permitted Liens.
(d) Each Debtor will promptly pay when due all material taxes,
assessments and governmental charges and levies upon or against it or
its Collateral, in each case before the same become delinquent and
before penalties accrue thereon, unless and to the extent that the same
are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings which
prevent attachment of any Lien resulting therefrom to, foreclosure on
or other realization upon any Collateral and preclude interference with
the operation of its business in the ordinary course and such Debtor
shall have established adequate reserves therefor.
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(e) Each Debtor agrees it will not waste or destroy the
Collateral or any part thereof and will not be negligent in the care or
use of any Collateral unless such portion of collateral is of nominal
value. Each Debtor agrees it will not use, manufacture, sell or
distribute any Collateral in violation of any material statute,
ordinance or other governmental requirement. Each Debtor will perform
in all material respects its obligations under any contract or other
agreement constituting part of the Collateral, it being understood and
agreed that the Secured Creditors have no responsibility to perform
such obligations.
(f) Subject to Sections 4(b), 5(a), 6(b), 6(c), and 8(c)
hereof and the terms of the Credit Agreement, each Debtor agrees it
will not, without the Agent's prior written consent, sell, assign,
mortgage, lease or otherwise dispose of the Collateral or any interest
therein.
(g) Each Debtor will insure its Collateral which is insurable
against such risks and hazards as other companies similarly situated
insure against, and including in any event loss or damage by fire,
theft, burglary, pilferage, and loss in transit, in amounts and under
policies containing loss payable clauses to the Agent as its interest
may appear (and, if the Agent requests, naming the Secured Creditors as
additional insureds therein) by insurers reasonably acceptable to the
Agent. All premiums on such insurance shall be paid by the Debtors and
the policies of such insurance (or certificates therefor) delivered to
the Agent. All insurance required hereby shall provide that no
cancellation thereof shall be effective until at least 30 days after
receipt by the relevant Debtor and the Agent of written notice thereof,
and shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Agent in all other
respects. In case of any material loss, damage to or destruction of the
Collateral or any part thereof, the relevant Debtor shall promptly give
written notice thereof to the Secured Creditors generally describing
the nature and extent of such damage or destruction. In case of any
loss, damage to or destruction of the Collateral or any part thereof,
the relevant Debtor, whether or not the insurance proceeds, if any,
received on account of such damage or destruction shall be sufficient
for that purpose, at such Debtor's cost and expense, will promptly
repair or replace the Collateral so lost, damaged or destroyed, except
to the extent such Collateral is not necessary to the conduct of such
Debtor's business in the ordinary course. In the event any Debtor shall
receive any proceeds of such insurance, such Debtor will immediately
pay over such proceeds to the Agent; PROVIDED that in the absence of
any Event of Default such Debtors shall be entitled to retain such
insurance proceeds to the extent such proceeds are used for such repair
or replacement or to retain for any purpose proceeds of any insurance
recovery that does not exceed $25,000 in the aggregate. Each Debtor
hereby authorizes the Agent, at the Agent's option, to adjust,
compromise and settle any losses under any insurance afforded at any
time after the occurrence and during the continuation of any Event of
Default, and such Debtor does hereby irrevocably constitute the Agent,
its officers, agents and attorneys, as such Debtor's attorneys-in-fact,
with full power and authority after the occurrence and during the
continuation of any Event of Default to effect such adjustment,
compromise and/or settlement and to endorse any drafts drawn by an
insurer of the Collateral or any part thereof and to do everything
necessary to carry out such purposes and to receive and receipt for any
unearned premiums due under policies of such insurance. Unless the
Agent elects to adjust, compromise or settle losses as aforesaid, any
adjustment, compromise and/or settlement of any losses under any
insurance shall be made by the relevant Debtor subject to final
approval of the Agent (regardless of whether or not an Event of Default
shall
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have occurred) in the case of losses exceeding $250,000. Net insurance
proceeds received by the Agent under the provisions hereof or under any
policy or policies of insurance covering the Collateral or any part
thereof pursuant to the terms hereof shall be applied to the reduction
of the Obligations (whether or not then due); PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that
the Agent agrees to release such insurance proceeds to the relevant
Debtor for replacement or restoration of the portion of the Collateral
lost, damaged or destroyed required by this Agreement to be so replaced
or restored if, but only if, (i) at the time of release no Event of
Default exists hereunder, (ii) written application for such release is
received from such Debtor within 30 days of receipt of, or in the event
received by the Agent, notice of Agent's receipt of, such proceeds and
(iii) the Agent has received evidence reasonably satisfactory to it
that the Collateral lost, damaged or destroyed has been or will be
replaced or restored, or that proceeds do not exceed $25,000 in the
aggregate. All insurance proceeds shall be subject to the lien and
security interest of the Agent hereunder.
(h) Each Debtor will allow the Secured Creditors, and their
respective representatives free access to and right of inspection of
the Collateral.

(i) If any Collateral is in the possession or control of any
agents or processors of a Debtor and the Agent so requests, such Debtor
agrees to notify such agents or processors in writing of the Agent's
security interest therein and instruct them to hold all such Collateral
for the Agent's account and subject to the Agent's instructions upon
Debtor's receipt of notification of the occurrence and continuation of
an Event of Default. Each Debtor will, upon the request of the Agent
upon Debtor's receipt of notification of the occurrence and
continuation of an Event of Default, authorize and instruct all bailees
and any other parties, if any, at any time processing, labeling,
packaging, holding, storing, shipping or transferring all or any part
of the Collateral to permit the Secured Creditors and their respective
representatives to examine and inspect any of the Collateral then in
such party's possession and to verify from such party's own books and
records any information concerning the Collateral or any part thereof
which the Secured Creditors or their respective representatives may
seek to verify. As to any premises not owned by a Debtor wherein any of
the Collateral is located, if any, such Debtor shall, upon the Agent's
request, cause each party having any right, title or interest in, or
lien on, any of such premises to enter into an agreement (any such
agreement to contain a legal description of such premises) whereby such
party disclaims any right, title and interest in, and lien on, the
Collateral, allowing the removal of such Collateral by the Agent and
otherwise in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Agent.
(j) Upon the Agent's request, each Debtor agrees from time to
time to deliver to the Agent such evidence of the existence, identity
and location of its Collateral and of its availability as collateral
security pursuant hereto (including, without limitation, schedules
describing all Receivables created or acquired by such Debtor, copies
of customer invoices or the equivalent and original shipping or
delivery receipts for all merchandise and other goods sold or leased or
services rendered by it, together with such Debtor's warranty of the
genuineness thereof, and reports stating the book value of its
Inventory and Equipment by major category and location), in each case
as the Agent may reasonably request. The Agent shall have the right to
verify all or any part of the Collateral in any manner, and through any
medium, which the Agent considers appropriate and reasonable, and each
Debtor agrees to
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furnish all assistance and information, and perform any acts, which the
Agent may require in connection therewith.

(k) Each Debtor will comply in all material respects with the
(i) terms and conditions of any and all leases, easements, right-of-way
agreements and other agreements binding upon such Debtor or affecting
the Collateral, in each case which cover the premises wherein the
Collateral is located, and (ii) any orders, ordinances, laws or
statutes of any city, state or other governmental entity, department or
agency having jurisdiction with respect to such premises or the conduct
of business thereon.

(l) For at least the past five years, no Debtor has invoiced
Receivables or otherwise transacted business, and does not invoice
Receivables or otherwise transact business, under any trade names other
than its name set forth on its signature page to this Agreement or as
otherwise set forth on SCHEDULE B hereto. Each Debtor agrees it will
not change its name or transact business under any other trade name, in
each case without first giving the Agent at least 30 days' prior
written notice of its intent to do so.
(m) Each Debtor agrees to execute and deliver to the Agent
such further agreements, assignments, instruments and documents, and to
do all such other things, as the Agent may reasonably deem necessary or
appropriate to assure the Agent its lien and security interest
hereunder, including without limitation, executing such financing
statement or other instruments and documents as the Agent may from time
to time reasonably require to comply with the UCC. Each Debtor hereby
agrees that a carbon, photographic or other reproduction of this
Agreement or any such financing statement is sufficient for filing as a
financing statement by the Agent without prior notice thereof to such
Debtor wherever the Agent deems necessary or desirable to perfect or
protect the security interest granted hereby. In the event for any
reason the law of any jurisdiction other than New York becomes or is
applicable to the Collateral or any part thereof, or to any of the
Obligations, each Debtor agrees to execute and deliver all such
instruments and documents and to do all such other things as the Agent
deems necessary or appropriate to preserve, protect and enforce the
security interest of the Agent under the law of such other
jurisdiction.

(n) On failure of a Debtor to perform any of the covenants and
agreements herein contained, the Agent may, at its option, perform the
same and in so doing may expend such sums as the Agent deems advisable
in the performance thereof, including, without limitation, the payment
of any insurance premiums, the payment of any taxes, liens and
encumbrances, expenditures made in defending against any adverse
claims, and all other expenditures which the Agent may be compelled to
make by operation of law or which the Agent may make by agreement or
otherwise for the protection of the security hereof. To the extent
practicable, the Agent shall notify the Debtor in advance of such
performance by the Agent. All such sums and amounts so expended shall
be repayable by such Debtor immediately upon demand, shall constitute
additional Obligations secured hereunder, and shall bear interest from
the date said amounts are expended at the rate per annum (computed on
the basis of a year of 360 days for the actual number of days elapsed)
determined by adding 2% to the Alternate Base Rate from time to time in
effect plus the Applicable Margin, with any change in such rate per
annum as so determined by reason of a change in such Alternate Base
Rate to be effective on the date of such change in said Alternate Base
Rate
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(such rate per annum as so determined being hereinafter referred to as
the "DEFAULT RATE"). No such performance of any covenant or agreement
by the Agent on behalf of a Debtor, and no such advancement or
expenditure therefor, shall relieve any Debtor of any default under the
terms of this Agreement or in any way obligate any Secured Creditor to
take any further or future action with respect thereto. The Agent in

making any payment hereby authorized may do so according to any bill,
statement or estimate procured from the appropriate public office or
holder of the claim to be discharged without inquiry into the accuracy
of such bill, statement or estimate or into the validity of any tax
assessment, sale, forfeiture, tax lien or title or claim. The Agent in
performing any act hereunder shall be the sole judge of whether the
relevant Debtor is required to perform the same under the terms of this
Agreement. The Agent is hereby authorized to charge any depository or
other account of any Debtor maintained with the Agent for the amount of
such sums and amounts so expended.
Section 4. Special Provisions Re: Receivables. (a) As of the time any
Receivable becomes subject to the security interest provided for hereby and at
all times thereafter, each Debtor shall be deemed to have warranted as to each
and all of its Receivables that all warranties of such Debtor set forth in this
Agreement are true and correct with respect to each such Receivable; that each
of its Receivable and all papers and documents relating thereto are genuine and
in all respects what they purport to be; that each of its Receivable is valid
and existing and, if such Receivable is an account, arises out of a bona fide
sale of goods sold and delivered by such Debtor to, or in the process of being
delivered to, or out of and for services theretofore actually rendered by such
Debtor to, the account debtor named therein; and that no such Receivable is
evidenced by any instrument or chattel paper unless such instrument or chattel
paper has theretofore been endorsed by such Debtor and delivered to the Agent.
If any Receivable arises out of a contract with the United States of America or
any of its departments, agencies or instrumentalities, after the occurrence and
during the continuance of any Event of Default, the relevant Debtor agrees to
notify the Agent and, at the request of the Agent or the Required Creditors,
execute whatever instruments and documents are required by the Agent in order
that such Receivable shall be assigned to the Agent and that proper notice of
such assignment shall be given under the federal Assignment of Claims Act (or
any successor statute) or any similar statute relating to the assignment of such
Receivables.

(b) Unless and until an Event of Default hereunder occurs and is
continuing, any merchandise or other goods which are returned by a customer or
account debtor or otherwise recovered may be resold by the relevant Debtor in
the ordinary course of its business as presently conducted in accordance with
Section 6(b) hereof; upon the occurrence and during the continuation of any
Event of Default hereunder, such merchandise and other goods shall be set aside
at the request of the Agent and held by such Debtor as trustee for the Secured
Creditors and shall remain part of the Collateral. Unless and until an Event of
Default hereunder occurs and is continuing, the relevant Debtor may settle and
adjust disputes and claims with its customers and account debtors, handle
returns and recoveries and grant discounts, credits and allowances in the
ordinary course of its business as presently conducted for amounts and on terms
which such Debtor in good faith considers advisable. Upon the occurrence and
during the continuation of any Event of Default hereunder, unless the Agent
requests otherwise, each Debtor shall notify the Agent promptly of all returns
and recoveries and, on the Agent's request, deliver any such merchandise or
other goods to the Agent. Upon the occurrence and during the continuation of any
Event of Default hereunder, unless the Agent requests otherwise, each Debtor
shall also notify the Agent promptly of all disputes and claims and
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settle or adjust them at no expense to the Secured Creditors hereunder, but no
discount, credit or allowance other than on normal trade terms in the ordinary
course of business as presently conducted shall be granted to any customer or
account debtor and no returns of merchandise or other goods shall be accepted by
any Debtor without the Agent's consent. The Agent may, at all times upon the
occurrence and during the continuation of any Event of Default hereunder, settle
or adjust disputes and claims directly with customers or account debtors for
amounts and upon terms which the Agent considers advisable.
Section 5. Collection of Receivables. (a) Except as otherwise provided
in this Agreement, each Debtor shall make collection of all of its Receivables

and may use the same to carry on its business in accordance with sound business
practice and otherwise subject to the terms hereof.
(b) Upon the occurrence and during the continuation of any Event of
Default hereunder, whether or not the Agent has exercised any or all of its
rights under other provisions of this Section 5, in the event the Agent requests
any Debtor to do so:

(i) all instruments and chattel paper at any time constituting
part of the Receivables (including any postdated checks) shall, upon
receipt by such Debtor, be immediately endorsed to and deposited with
Agent; and/or

(ii) such Debtor shall instruct all of its customers and
account debtors to remit all payments in respect of its Receivables to
a lockbox or lockboxes under the sole custody and control of Agent and
which are maintained at post offices selected by the Agent.
(c) Upon the occurrence and during the continuation of any Event of
Default hereunder, whether or not the Agent has exercised any or all of its
rights under other provisions of this Section 5, the Agent or its designee may
notify the relevant Debtor's customers and account debtors at any time that
Receivables have been assigned to the Agent or of the Agent's security interest
therein, and either in its own name, or such Debtor's name, or both, demand,
collect (including, without limitation, through a lockbox analogous to that
described in Section 5(b)(ii) hereof), receive, receipt for, sue for, compound
and give acquittance for any or all amounts due or to become due on Receivables,
and in the Agent's discretion file any claim or take any other action or
proceeding which the Agent may deem reasonably necessary or appropriate to
protect and realize upon the security interest of the Agent in the Receivables.

(d) Any proceeds of Receivables or other Collateral transmitted to or
otherwise received by the Agent pursuant to any of the provisions of Sections
5(b) or 5(c) hereof may be handled and administered by the Agent in and through
a remittance account or accounts maintained at the Agent or by the Agent at a
commercial bank or banks selected by the Agent (collectively the "DEPOSITARY
BANKS" and individually a "DEPOSITARY BANK"), and each Debtor acknowledges that
the maintenance of such remittance accounts by the Agent is solely for the
Agent's convenience and that the Debtors do not have any right, title or
interest in such remittance accounts or any amounts at any time standing to the
credit thereof. The Agent may apply all or any part of any proceeds of
Receivables or other Collateral received by it from any source to the payment of
the Obligations (whether or not then due and payable), such applications to be
made in such amounts, in such manner and order and at such intervals as the
Agent may from time to time in its discretion determine. The
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Receivables or other Collateral until the Depositary Bank has received final
payment therefor at its office in cash or final solvent credits current at the
site of deposit acceptable to the Agent and the Depositary Bank as such.
However, if the Agent does permit credit to be given for any item prior to a
Depositary Bank receiving final payment therefor and such Depositary Bank fails
to receive such final payment or an item is charged back to the Agent or any
Depositary Bank for any reason, the Agent may at its election in either instance
charge the amount of such item back against any such remittance accounts or any
depository account of any Debtor maintained with the Agent, together with
interest thereon at the Default Rate. Concurrently with each transmission of any
proceeds of Receivables or other Collateral to any remittance account, upon the
Agent's request, the relevant Debtor shall furnish the Agent with a report in
such form as Agent shall reasonably require identifying the particular
Receivable or such other Collateral from which the same arises or relates. Each
Debtor hereby indemnifies the Agent and the Secured Creditors from and against
all liabilities, damages, losses, actions, claims, judgments, and all reasonable
costs, expenses, charges and attorneys' fees suffered or incurred by the Agent
or any Secured Creditor because of the maintenance of the foregoing

arrangements; provided, however, that no Debtor shall be required to indemnify
the Agent or any Secured Creditor for any of the foregoing to the extent they
arise solely from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the person
seeking to be indemnified. The Secured Creditors shall have no liability or
responsibility to any Debtor for the Agent or any other Depositary Bank
accepting any check, draft or other order for payment of money bearing the
legend "payment in full" or words of similar import or any other restrictive
legend or endorsement whatsoever or be responsible for determining the
correctness of any remittance.
Section 6. Special Provisions Re: Inventory and Equipment. (a) Each
Debtor shall at its own cost and expense maintain, keep and preserve its
Inventory in good and merchantable condition and keep and preserve its Equipment
in good repair, working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted,
and, without limiting the foregoing, make all necessary and proper repairs,
replacements and additions to its Equipment so that the operation thereof shall
be fully preserved and maintained to the extent necessary for the operation of
the Debtor's business.

(b) Each Debtor may, until an Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing and thereafter until otherwise notified by the Agent, use, consume
and sell the Inventory in the ordinary course of its business, but a sale in the
ordinary course of business shall not under any circumstance include any
transfer or sale in satisfaction, partial or complete, of a debt owing by such
Debtor.
(c) Each Debtor may, until an Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing and thereafter until otherwise notified by the Agent, sell (x)
obsolete, worn out or unusable Equipment which is concurrently replaced with
similar Equipment at least equal in quality and condition to that sold and owned
by such Debtor free of any lien, charge or encumbrance other than the security
interest granted hereby and (y) Equipment to the extent permitted by the Credit
Agreement.

(d) As of the time any Inventory or Equipment of a Debtor becomes
subject to the security interest provided for hereby and at all times
thereafter, such Debtor shall be deemed to have warranted as to any and all of
such Inventory and Equipment that all warranties of such Debtor set forth in
this Agreement are true and correct with respect to such Inventory and
Equipment; that
-11all of such Inventory and Equipment is located at a location set forth pursuant
to Section 3(b) hereof. Each Debtor warrants and agrees that none of its
Inventory is or will be consigned to any other person or entity without the
Agent's prior written consent.

(e) If any of the Inventory is at any time evidenced by a document of
title, such document shall be promptly delivered by the relevant Debtor to the
Agent.

Section 7. Power of Attorney. In addition to any other powers of
attorney contained herein, each Debtor hereby appoints the Agent, its nominee,
or any other person whom the Agent may designate as such Debtor's
attorney-in-fact, with full power, after the occurrence and continuance of an
Event of Default, (i) to sign such Debtor's name on verifications of accounts
and other Collateral; (ii) to send requests for verification of Collateral to
such Debtor's customers, account debtors and other obligors; (iii) to endorse
such Debtor's name on any checks, notes, acceptances, money orders, drafts and
any other forms of payment or security that may come into the Agent's
possession; (iv) to endorse the Collateral in blank or to the order of the Agent
or its nominee; to sign such Debtor's name on any invoice or bill of lading
relating to any Collateral, on claims to enforce collection of any Collateral,
on notices to and drafts against customers and account debtors and other
obligors, on schedules and assignments of Collateral, on notices of assignment
and on public records; (v) to notify the post office authorities to change the

address for delivery of such Debtor's mail to an address designated by the
Agent; (vi) to receive, open and dispose of all mail addressed to such Debtor;
and to do all things necessary to carry out this Agreement. Each Debtor hereby
ratifies and approves all acts of any such attorney and agrees that neither the
Agent nor any such attorney will be liable for any acts or omissions nor for any
error of judgment or mistake of fact or law other than such person's gross
negligence or willful misconduct. The Agent may file one or more financing
statements disclosing its security interest in any material portion of or all of
the Collateral without any Debtor's signature appearing thereon, and each Debtor
also hereby grants the Agent a power of attorney to execute any such financing
statements, or amendments and supplements to financing statements, on behalf of
such Debtor without notice thereof to any Debtor. The foregoing powers of
attorney, being coupled with an interest, are irrevocable until the Obligations
have been fully paid and satisfied and the commitments of any Secured Creditor
to extend credit to or for the account of the Borrower have expired or otherwise
been terminated.
Section 8. Defaults and Remedies. (a) The occurrence of any event or
the existence of any condition which is specified as an "EVENT OF DEFAULT" under
the Credit Agreement or a "CREDIT EVENT" under the Intercreditor Agreement
referred to in Section 9 below shall constitute an "EVENT OF DEFAULT" hereunder.

(b) Upon the occurrence and during the continuation of any Event of
Default, the Agent shall have, in addition to all other rights provided herein
or by law, the rights and remedies of a secured party under the UCC (regardless
of whether the UCC is the law of the jurisdiction where the rights or remedies
are asserted and regardless of whether the UCC applies to the affected
Collateral), and further the Agent may, without demand and without
advertisement, notice, hearing or process of law, all of which each Debtor
hereby waives to the extent permitted by applicable law, at any time or times,
sell and deliver any or all Collateral held by or for it at public or private
sale, for cash, upon credit or otherwise, at such prices and upon such terms as
the Agent deems advisable, in its sole discretion. In the exercise of any such
remedies, the Agent may sell the Collateral as a unit
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unpaid on the Obligations. Also, if less than all the Collateral is sold, the
Agent shall have no duty to marshal or apportion the part of the Collateral so
sold as between the Debtors, or any of them, but may sell and deliver any or all
of the Collateral without regard to which of the Debtors are the owners thereof.
In addition to all other sums due any Secured Creditor hereunder, each Debtor
shall pay the Agent and the Secured Creditors all costs and expenses incurred by
the Agent and the Secured Creditors, including reasonable attorneys' fees and
court costs, in obtaining, liquidating or enforcing payment of Collateral or the
Obligations or in the prosecution or defense of any action or proceeding by or
against the Agent or any Secured Creditor or any Debtor concerning any matter
arising out of or connected with this Agreement or the Collateral or the
Obligations, including, without limitation, any of the foregoing arising in,
arising under or related to a case under the United States Bankruptcy Code (or
any successor statute). Any requirement of reasonable notice shall be met if
such notice is personally served on or mailed, postage prepaid, to the Debtors
in accordance with Section 13(b) hereof at least 10 days before the time of sale
or other event giving rise to the requirement of such notice; provided, however,
no notification need be given to a Debtor if such Debtor has signed, after an
Event of Default hereunder has occurred, a statement renouncing any right to
notification of sale or other intended disposition. The Agent shall not be
obligated to make any sale or other disposition of the Collateral regardless of
notice having been given. Any Secured Creditor may be the purchaser at any such
sale. Each Debtor hereby waives all of its rights of redemption from any such
sale. The Agent may postpone or cause the postponement of the sale of all or any
portion of the Collateral by announcement at the time and place of such sale,
and such sale may, without further notice, be made at the time and place to
which the sale was postponed or the Agent may further postpone such sale by
announcement made at such time and place.

(c) Without in any way limiting the foregoing, upon the occurrence and
during the continuation of any Event of Default hereunder, the Agent shall have
the right, in addition to all other rights provided herein or by law, to take
physical possession of any and all of the Collateral and anything found therein,
the right for that purpose to enter without legal process any premises where the
Collateral may be found (provided such entry be done lawfully), and the right to
maintain such possession on the relevant Debtor's premises (each Debtor hereby
agreeing, to the extent it may lawfully do so, to lease such premises without
cost or expense to the Agent or its designee if the Agent so requests) or to
remove the Collateral or any part thereof to such other places as the Agent may
desire. Upon the occurrence and during the continuation of any Event of Default
hereunder, the Agent shall have the right to exercise any and all rights with
respect to deposit accounts of each Debtor maintained with any Secured Creditor,
including, without limitation, the right to collect, withdraw and receive all
amounts due or to become due or payable under each such deposit account. Upon
the occurrence and during the continuation of any Event of Default hereunder,
each Debtor shall, upon the Agent's demand, assemble the Collateral and make it
available to the Agent at a place designated by the Agent. If the Agent
exercises its right to take possession of the Collateral, each Debtor shall also
at its expense perform any and all other steps requested by the Agent to
preserve and protect the security interest hereby granted in the Collateral,
such as placing and maintaining signs indicating the security interest of the
Agent, appointing overseers for the Collateral and maintaining Collateral
records.
(d) Without in any way limiting the foregoing, each Debtor hereby
grants to the Secured Creditors a royalty-free irrevocable license and right to
use all of such Debtor's patents,
-13patent applications, patent licenses, trademarks, trademark registrations,
trademark licenses, trade names, trade styles, and similar intangibles in
connection with any foreclosure or other realization by the Agent or the Secured
Creditors on all or any part of the Collateral to the extent permitted by law.
(e) Failure by the Agent to exercise any right, remedy or option under
this Agreement or any other agreement between any Debtor and the Agent or
provided by law, or delay by the Agent in exercising the same, shall not operate
as a waiver; and no waiver shall be effective unless it is in writing, signed by
the party against whom such waiver is sought to be enforced and then only to the
extent specifically stated. Neither the Agent or any Secured Creditor, nor any
party acting as attorney for the Agent or any Secured Creditor, shall be liable
hereunder for any acts or omissions or for any error of judgment or mistake of
fact or law other than their gross negligence or willful misconduct. The rights
and remedies of the Agent and the Secured Creditors under this Agreement shall
be cumulative and not exclusive of any other right or remedy which the Agent or
any Secured Creditor may have.
Section 9. Application of Proceeds. The proceeds and avails of the
Collateral at any time received by the Agent upon the occurrence and during the
continuation of any Event of Default shall, when received by the Agent in cash
or its equivalent, be applied by the Agent in reduction of, or held as
collateral security for, the Obligations in accordance with the terms of the
Intercreditor Agreement among the Secured Parties dated the date hereof. The
Debtors shall remain liable to the Secured Creditors for any deficiency. Any
surplus remaining after the full payment and satisfaction of the Obligations
shall be returned to the Borrower, as agent for the Debtors, or as a court of
competent jurisdiction may direct.

Section 10. Continuing Agreement. This Agreement shall be a continuing
agreement in every respect and shall remain in full force and effect until all
of the Obligations, both for principal and interest, have been fully paid and
satisfied and the commitments of any Secured Creditor to extend credit to or for
the account of the Borrower under the Credit Agreement have expired or otherwise
terminated. Upon such termination of this Agreement, the Agent shall, upon the
request and at the expense of the Debtors, forthwith release its security

interest hereunder.

Section 11. The Agent. In acting under or by virtue of this Agreement,
the Agent shall be entitled to all the rights, authority, privileges and
immunities provided in Article IX of the Credit Agreement and Section 7 of the
Intercreditor Agreement, all of which provisions are incorporated by reference
herein with the same force and effect as if set forth herein in their entirety.
The Agent hereby disclaims any representation or warranty to the other Secured
Creditors or any other holders of the Obligations concerning the perfection of
the liens and security interests granted hereunder or in the value of any of the
Collateral.
Section 12. Representations and Warranties. In order to induce the
Secured Creditors to continue and extend the credit facilities and other
financial accommodations to the Borrower pursuant to the Credit Agreement, each
Debtor makes the following representations and warranties, all of which shall
survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement.

(a) Such Debtor (i) is a duly organized and validly existing
corporation (or limited liability company, as the case may be) in good standing
under the laws of the jurisdiction of
-14its organization, (ii) has the power and authority to own its property and
assets and to transact the business in which it is engaged and presently
proposes to engage and (iii) is duly qualified as a foreign corporation (or
limited liability company, as the case may be) and in good standing in each
jurisdiction where the ownership of property or the conduct of its business
requires such qualification except where the failure to be so qualified could
not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the business,
operations, properties or financial or other condition of such Debtor.
(b) Such Debtor has the power and authority to execute, deliver and
perform the terms and provisions of this Agreement and has taken all necessary
action to authorize the execution, delivery and performance by it of this
Agreement. Such Debtor has duly executed and delivered this Agreement, and this
Agreement constitutes its legal, valid and binding obligation enforceable in
accordance with its terms, except to the extent that the enforceability thereof
may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium
or other similar laws generally affecting creditors' rights and by equitable
principles (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in equity or at law).
(c) Neither the execution, delivery or performance by such Debtor of
this Agreement, nor compliance by it with the terms and provisions hereof, nor
the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein (i) will contravene any
material provision of any law, statute, rule or regulation or any order, writ,
injunction or decree of any court or governmental instrumentality, (ii) will
conflict or be inconsistent with or result in any breach of any of the terms,
covenants, conditions or provisions of, or constitute a default under, or (other
than pursuant to the Security Documents (as hereinafter defined)) result in the
creation or imposition of (or the obligation to create or impose) any Lien upon
any of the property or assets of such Debtor pursuant to the terms of any
indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, credit agreement, loan agreement or any
other material agreement, contract or instrument to which any of the Debtor or
its subsidiaries is a party or by which it or any of its property or assets are
bound or to which it may be subject or (iii) will violate any provision of the
certificate of incorporation or by-laws (or the equivalent charter documents) of
such Debtor. In this Agreement, the term "SECURITY DOCUMENTS" shall mean this
Agreement and the Pledge Agreement dated as of the even date herewith among the
Borrower, certain of its domestic Subsidiaries and The Bank of New York, as
Agent, and documents and instruments delivered hereunder and thereunder.

(d) No order, consent, approval, license, authorization or validation
of, or filing, recording or registration with (except as have been obtained or
made on or prior to the date hereof and which remain in full force and effect),
or exemption by, any governmental or public body or authority, or any

subdivision thereof, is required to authorize, or is required in connection
with, (i) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by such
Debtor or (ii) the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability of this
Agreement.
Section 13. Miscellaneous. (a) This Agreement cannot be changed or
terminated orally. This Agreement shall create a continuing lien on and security
interest in the Collateral and shall be binding upon each Debtor, its successors
and assigns and shall inure, together with the rights and remedies of the Agent
and the Secured Creditors hereunder, to the benefit of the Agent and the Secured
Creditors and their successors and permitted assigns; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that no
Debtor may assign its rights or delegate its duties hereunder without the
Agent's prior written consent. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
and subject to the provisions of the Credit Agreement and the
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Intercreditor Agreement, any Secured Creditor may assign or otherwise transfer
any indebtedness held by it secured by this Agreement to any other person, and
such other person shall thereupon become vested with all the benefits in respect
thereof granted to such Lender herein or otherwise.
(b) All communications provided for herein shall be in writing, except
as otherwise specifically provided for hereinabove.
(c) No Secured Creditor (other than the Agent, subject to the terms and
provisions of the Intercreditor Agreement) shall have the right to institute any
suit, action or proceeding in equity or at law for the foreclosure or other
realization upon any Collateral subject to this Agreement or for the execution
of any trust or power hereof or for the appointment of a receiver, or for the
enforcement of any other remedy under or upon this Agreement; it being
understood and intended that no one or more of the Secured Creditors (other than
the Agent) shall have any right in any manner whatsoever to affect, disturb or
prejudice the lien and security interest of this Agreement by its or their
action or to enforce any right hereunder, and that all proceedings at law or in
equity shall be instituted, had and maintained by the Agent in the manner herein
provided for the benefit of the Secured Creditors.

(d) In the event that any provision hereof shall be deemed to be
invalid or unenforceable by reason of the operation of any law or by reason of
the interpretation placed thereon by any court, this Agreement shall be
construed as not containing such provision, but only as to such jurisdictions
where such law or interpretation is operative, and the invalidity or
unenforceability of such provision shall not affect the validity of any
remaining provisions hereof, and any and all other provisions hereof which are
otherwise lawful and valid shall remain in full force and effect. Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, in the event that this Agreement shall
be deemed to be invalid or otherwise unenforceable with respect to any Debtor,
such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the validity of this
Agreement with respect to the other Debtors.
(e) The lien and security interest herein created and provided for
stand as direct and primary security for the Obligations of the Borrower arising
under or otherwise relating to the Credit Agreement as well as for any of the
other Obligations secured hereby. No application of any sums received by the
Agent or the Secured Creditors in respect of the Collateral or any disposition
thereof to the reduction of the Obligations or any part thereof shall in any
manner entitle any Debtor to any right, title or interest in or to the
Obligations or any collateral or security therefor, whether by subrogation or
otherwise, unless and until all Obligations have been fully paid and satisfied
and all agreements of the Secured Creditors to extend credit to or for the
account of each Debtor and to or for the account of the Borrower have expired or
otherwise have been terminated. Each Debtor acknowledges that the lien and
security interest hereby created and provided are absolute and unconditional and
shall not in any manner be affected or impaired by any acts of omissions
whatsoever of the Agent, any Secured Creditor or any other holder of any
Obligations, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the lien and

security interest hereof shall not be impaired by any acceptance by the Agent,
the Secured Creditors or any other holder of any Obligations of any other
security for or guarantors upon any of the Obligations or by any failure,
neglect or omission on the part of the Agent, any Secured Creditor or any other
holder of any Obligations to realize upon or protect any of the Obligations or
any collateral or security therefor (including, without limitation, impairment
of collateral or failure to perfect security interest in collateral). The lien
and security
-16interest hereof shall not in any manner be impaired or affected by (and the
Secured Creditors, without notice to anyone, are hereby authorized to make from
time to time) any sale, pledge, surrender, compromise, settlement, release,
renewal, extension, indulgence, alteration, substitution, exchange, change in,
modification or disposition of any of the Obligations or of any collateral or
security therefor, or of any guaranty thereof, or of any instrument or agreement
setting forth the terms and conditions pertaining to any of the foregoing. A
Lender may at its discretion at any time grant credit to the Borrower without
notice to the other Debtors in such amounts and on such terms as such Lender may
elect (all of such to constitute additional Obligations hereby secured) without
in any manner impairing the lien and security interest created and provided for
herein. In order to realize hereon and to exercise the rights granted the Agent
for the benefit of the Secured Creditors hereunder and under applicable law,
there shall be no obligation on the part of the Agent or any Secured Creditor or
any other holder of any Obligations at any time to first resort for payment to
the Borrower or to any other Debtor or to any guaranty of the Obligations or any
portion thereof or to resort to any other collateral, security, property, liens
or any other rights or remedies whatsoever, and the Agent shall have the right
to enforce this Agreement against any Debtor or any of its Collateral
irrespective of whether or not other proceedings or steps seeking resort to or
realization upon or from any of the foregoing are pending.

(f) In the event the Secured Creditors shall at any time in their
discretion permit a substitution of Debtors hereunder or a party shall wish to
become a Debtor hereunder, such substituted or additional Debtor shall, upon
executing an agreement in the form attached hereto as SCHEDULE C, become a party
hereto and be bound by all the terms and conditions hereof to the same extent as
though such Debtor had originally executed this Agreement and, in the case of a
substitution, in lieu of the Debtor being replaced. Any such agreement shall
contain information as to such Debtor necessary to update SCHEDULES A, B, C and
D hereto with respect to it. No such substitution shall be effective absent the
written consent of Agent nor shall it in any manner affect the obligations of
the other Debtors hereunder.
(g) This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance
with, the laws of the State of New York applicable to contracts made and to be
performed entirely within the State of New York.

(h) Each Debtor hereby submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the
United States District Court for the Southern District of New York and of any
New York state court sitting in The City of New York for purposes of all legal
proceedings arising out of or relating to this Agreement, the other Loan
Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby. Each Debtor
irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any objection which
it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such proceeding
brought in such a court and any claim that any such proceeding brought in such a
court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. EACH DEBTOR AND EACH SECURED
CREDITOR HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY
LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE CREDIT
AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY.

-17(i) This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by
different parties hereto on separate counterpart signature pages, each

constituting an original, but all together one and the same agreement.

[THE NEXT PAGE IS THE SIGNATURE PAGE]
-18IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each Debtor has caused this Agreement to be duly
executed and delivered in New York, New York as of the date first above written.

DEBTORS:
-------APOGEE ENTERPRISES, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
7900 Xerxes Avenue South
Suite 1800
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55431
Attention:
HARMON, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
919 Fifth Avenue, NW
Suite 100
New Brighton, MN 55112-2702
Attention:
VIRACON/CURVELITE, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
500 Park Drive
Owatonna, MN 55060
Attention:
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By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
3224 Mobile Highway
Montgomery, AL 36108-0129
Attention:

APOGEE WAUSAU GROUP, INC.
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
1415 West Street
Wausau, Wisconsin 54401
Attention:
MILCO CONTRACTING, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
1415 West Street
Wausau, WI 54401
Attention:

-20THE GLASS DEPOT, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
4000 Olson Memorial Highway
Suite 600
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55422-5334
Attention:
THE GLASS DEPOT OF NY, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
4000 Olson Memorial Highway
Suite 600
Minneapolis, MN 55422-5334
Attention:
NORSHIELD CORPORATION

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
3224 Mobile Highway
Montgomery, AL 36108-0129
Attention:

VIRACON, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
500 Park Drive

-21Owatonna, Minnesota 55060
Attention:
VIRATEC THIN FILMS, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
2150 Airport Drive
Faribault, MN 55021-7798
Attention:
TRU VUE, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
1315 North North Branch Street
Chicago, IL 60622
Attention:

-22HARMON GLASS COMPANY
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
4000 Olson Memorial Highway
Suite 600
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55422-5334
Attention:

AMERICAN MANAGEMENT GROUP
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer

Address:
4000 Olson Memorial Highway
Suite 600
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55422-5334
Attention:
DOVER GLASS COMPANY

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
4000 Olson Memorial Highway
Suite 600
Minneapolis, MN 55422-5334
Attention:
HARMON, LTD.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:

-232001 Killebrew Drive, #400
Bloomington, MN 55425
Attention:

-24Accepted and agreed to in New York, New York as of the date first above written.

THE BANK OF NEW YORK, as Agent
for the Secured Creditors
By: Richard A. Raffetto
---------------------------Name: Richard A. Raffetto
Title: Vice President
Address:
One Wall Street
New York, New York 10286
Attention:
Telephone: (212) 635-8044
Telecopy: (212) 635-6365 or 6366
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CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT
dated as of

May 21, 1998

among

APOGEE ENTERPRISES, INC.

and
THE CONTRIBUTING PARTIES HERETO

================================================================================
CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT (the "AGREEMENT"), dated as of May 21, 1998,
among Apogee Enterprises, Inc., a Minnesota corporation (the "PRINCIPAL"), and
each of the undersigned corporations (other than the Principal) located at the
addresses set forth on the signature pages below their names (each, together
with any other parties who execute and deliver to the Agent referred to below a
supplement in the form attached hereto as EXHIBIT A, a "SUBSIDIARY", and
collectively, the "SUBSIDIARIES"). The Principal and each of the Subsidiaries
are sometimes hereinafter referred to individually as a "CONTRIBUTING PARTY"
(and collectively as the "CONTRIBUTING PARTIES").

W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, the Principal is a party to a Credit Agreement dated as of May
21, 1998, by and among the Principal, The Bank of New York, as Administrative
Agent, Letter of Credit Issuer and Swing Line Lender, the Lenders from time to
time parties thereto, U.S. Bank, National Association, as Syndication Agent, and
Harris Trust and Savings Bank, as Documentation Agent (the "CREDIT AGREEMENT";
capitalized terms used herein without definition have the meanings given them,
or incorporated by reference, in the Credit Agreement);

WHEREAS, as a condition, among others, to the willingness of the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders to enter into the Credit Agreement, the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders have required that each Subsidiary execute
and deliver that certain Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement, dated as of May 21, 1998
(such agreement, as the same may from time to time be amended, modified,
restated or extended, being hereinafter referred to as the "GUARANTY"), pursuant
to which, among other things, the Subsidiaries have jointly and severally agreed
to guarantee the indebtedness guaranteed to the Guaranteed Creditors pursuant to
Section 2 of the Guaranty (collectively, the "GUARANTEED OBLIGATIONS"); and
WHEREAS, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders have entered into an
Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, with certain Other Lenders
and Creditors (as defined therein) of the Principal, in order to set forth the
agreements between the parties thereto with respect to certain security
interests in assets or property of the Principal or Subsidiaries pursuant to
that certain Security Agreement, dated as of May 21, 1998, and that certain
Pledge Agreement, dated as of May 21, 1998; and
WHEREAS, each Subsidiary is a wholly-owned direct or indirect
subsidiary of the Principal and is engaged in businesses related to those of the
Principal and each other Subsidiary, and each of the Subsidiaries will derive
direct or indirect economic benefit from the effectiveness and existence of the
Credit Agreement;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the covenants
hereinafter contained, and to induce each Subsidiary to enter into the Guaranty,
it is agreed as follows:
To the extent that any Subsidiary shall, under the Guaranty, make a
payment (a "SUBSIDIARY PAYMENT") of a portion of the Guaranteed Obligations,
THEN such Subsidiary shall be entitled to contribution and indemnification from,
and be reimbursed by, each of the other Contributing Parties in an amount, for
each such Contributing Party, equal to a fraction of such Subsidiary Payment,

the numerator of which fraction is such Contributing Party's Allocable Amount
and the denominator of which is the sum of the Allocable Amounts of all of the
Contributing Parties.
As of any date of determination, the "ALLOCABLE AMOUNT" of each
Contributing Party shall be equal to the maximum amount of liability which could
be asserted against such Contributing Party hereunder with respect to the
applicable Subsidiary Payment without (i) rendering such Contributing Party
"insolvent" within the meaning of Section 101(31) of the Federal Bankruptcy Code
(the "BANKRUPTCY CODE") or Section 2 of either the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer
Act (the "UFTA") or the Uniform Fraudulent Conveyance Act (the "UFCA"), (ii)
leaving such Contributing Party with unreasonably small capital, within the
meaning of Section 548 of the Bankruptcy Code or Section 4 of the UFTA or
Section 5 of the UFCA, or (iii) leaving such Contributing Party unable to pay
its debts as they become due within the meaning of Section 548 of the Bankruptcy
Code or Section 4 of the UFTA or Section 6 of the UFCA.
This Agreement is intended only to define the relative rights of the
Contributing Parties, and nothing set forth in this Agreement is intended to or
shall impair the obligations of the Subsidiaries, jointly and severally, to pay
any amounts, as and when the same shall become due and payable in accordance
with the terms of the Guaranty.

The parties hereto acknowledge that the rights of contribution and
indemnification hereunder shall constitute assets in favor of each Subsidiary to
which such contribution and indemnification is owing.
This Agreement shall become effective upon its execution by each of the
Contributing Parties and shall continue in full force and effect and may not be
terminated or otherwise revoked by any Contributing Party until all of the
Guaranteed Obligations under and as defined in the Guaranty shall have been
indefeasibly paid in full and discharged and the financing arrangements
evidenced and governed by the Credit Agreement and the Financing Documents shall
have been terminated. Each Contributing Party agrees that if, notwithstanding
the foregoing such Contributing Party shall have any right under applicable law
to terminate or revoke this Agreement, and such Contributing Party shall attempt
to exercise such right, then such termination or revocation shall not be
effective until a written notice of such revocation or termination, specifically
referring hereto and signed by such Contributing Party, is actually received by
each of the other Contributing Parties and by the Administrative Agent and the
Lenders. Such notice shall not affect the right or power of any Contributing
Party to enforce rights arising prior to receipt of such written notice by each
of the other Contributing Parties and the Administrative Agent and the Lenders.
If any Lender grants additional loans (in addition to the Credit Agreement) to
the Principal or takes other action giving rise to additional Guaranteed
Obligations after any Contributing Party has exercised any right to terminate or
revoke this Agreement but before the Administrative Agent or such Lender
receives such written notice, the rights of each other Contributing Party to
contribution and indemnification hereunder in connection with any Subsidiary
Payments made with respect to such loans or Guaranteed Obligations shall be the
same as if such termination or revocation had not occurred.
This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with
the laws of the State of New York applicable to contracts made and to be
performed entirely within the State of New York.

[THE NEXT PAGE IS THE SIGNATURE PAGE]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each Contributing Party has executed and delivered
this Agreement, under seal, as of the date first above written.
APOGEE ENTERPRISES, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua

------------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
7900 Xerxes Avenue South
Suite 1800
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55431
Attention:
HARMON, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
------------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
919 Fifth Avenue, NW
Suite 100
New Brighton, MN 55112-2702
Attention:

VIRACON/CURVELITE, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
------------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
500 Park Drive
Owatonna, MN 55060
Attention:
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NORMENT INDUSTRIES, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
------------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
3224 Mobile Highway
Montgomery, AL 36108-0129
Attention:

APOGEE WARSAU GROUP, INC.
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
------------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
1415 West Street
Wausau, WI 54401
Attention:

MILCO CONTRACTING, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
------------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
1415 West Street
Wausau, WI 5440
Attention:

THE GLASS DEPOT, INC
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
------------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
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4000 Olson Memorial Highway
Suite 600
Minneapolis, MN 55422-5334
Attention:
THE GLASS DEPOT OF NY, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
------------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
4000 Olson Memorial Highway
Suite 600
Minneapolis, MN 55422-5334
Attention:
NORSHIELD CORPORATION

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
------------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
3224 Mobile Highway
Montgomery, AL 36108-0129
Attention:

VIRACON, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua

------------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
500 Park Drive
Owatonna, MN 55060
Attention:
VIRATEC THIN FILMS, INC.
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By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
------------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
2150 Airport Drive
Faribault, MN 55021-7798
Attention:

TRU VUE, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
------------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
1315 North North Branch Street
Chicago, IL 60622
Attention:

HARMON GLASS COMPANY
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
------------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
4000 Olson Memorial Highway
Suite 600
Minneapolis, MN 55422-5334
Attention:

AMERICAN MANAGEMENT GROUP
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
------------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
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4000 Olson Memorial Highway
Suite 600
Minneapolis, MN 55422-5334
Attention:
DOVER GLASS COMPANY

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
------------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
4000 Olson Memorial Highway
Suite 600
Minneapolis, MN 55422-5334
Attention:
HARMON, LTD.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
------------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
2001 Killebrew Drive, #400
Bloomington, MN 55425
Attention:
-7-

================================================================================

PLEDGE AGREEMENT
dated as of
May 21, 1998

among

APOGEE ENTERPRISES, INC.

THE PLEDGORS PARTIES HERETO
and
THE BANK OF NEW YORK,

as Administrative Agent
and Collateral Agent

================================================================================

TABLE OF CONTENTS
-----------------

Page
---Section 1.
Section 2.

Section
Section
Section
Section
Section
Section
Section
Section
Section
Section
Section
Section

3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.

Terms and Definitions.............................................2
Grant of Security Interest in the Collateral......................2
(a)
Pledged Securities.......................................2
(b)
Additional Securities....................................2
(c)
Other Equity Interests...................................3
(d)
Proceeds.................................................3
Obligations Hereby Secured........................................3
Covenants, Agreements, Representations and Warranties.............3
Special Provisions Re: Pledged Securities.........................5
Voting Rights and Dividends.......................................5
Power of Attorney.................................................6
Defaults and Remedies.............................................6
Application of Proceeds...........................................9
Continuing Agreement..............................................9
Primary Security; Obligations Absolute............................9
The Agent........................................................10
Representations and Warranties...................................10
Miscellaneous....................................................11
SCHEDULES

Schedule A
Schedule B
Schedule C

----

The Pledged Securities
Amendment to Pledge Agreement
Assumption and Supplemental Pledge Agreement
-i-

PLEDGE AGREEMENT (the "AGREEMENT"), dated as of May 21, 1998, among
Apogee Enterprises, Inc., a Minnesota corporation (the "BORROWER"), and the
other parties executing this Agreement under the heading "Pledgors" (the
Borrower and such other parties, along with any parties who execute and deliver
to the Agent an agreement in the form attached hereto as SCHEDULE C being
hereinafter referred to collectively, as the "PLEDGORS" and individually, as a
"PLEDGOR"), each with its mailing address as set forth on its signature page
hereto and The Bank of New York ("BNY"), with its mailing address at One Wall
Street, New York, New York 10286, acting as administrative and collateral agent
hereunder for the Secured Creditors hereinafter identified (BNY acting as such
agent and any successor or successors to BNY acting in such capacity being
hereinafter referred to as the "AGENT");
PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS

A. The Borrower and BNY, individually and as administrative agent, have
entered into a Credit Agreement dated as of May 21, 1998 (such Agreement as the
same may be amended, modified or restated from time to time being hereinafter
referred to as the "CREDIT AGREEMENT"), pursuant to which BNY and other lenders
from time to time party to the Credit Agreement (BNY acting as such agent and
any successor or successors to BNY in such capacity being hereinafter referred
to as the "ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT"; BNY, as a lender, the letter of credit issuer
and the swing line lender, and such other lenders which from time to time become
party to the Credit Agreement being hereinafter referred to collectively as the
"LENDERS" and individually as a "LENDER") have agreed, subject to certain terms
and conditions, to extend credit and make certain other financial accommodations
available to the Borrower (the Administrative Agent, the Lenders and the Other
Lenders and Creditors being hereinafter referred to, collectively, as the
"SECURED CREDITORS" and individually, as a "SECURED CREDITOR"). As used herein,
(i) the "OTHER LENDERS" and "CREDITORS" shall mean those Other Lenders and
Creditors party to, and defined in, the Intercreditor Agreement, dated the date
hereof, and (ii) "OTHER FINANCING DOCUMENTS" shall mean the agreements and
instruments referred to in the Intercreditor Agreement under which the Other
Lenders and Creditors have extended credit to the Borrower as of the date
hereof.

B. As a condition to extending (or continuing the extension of) credit
and other financial accommodations to the Borrower under the Credit Agreement,
the Secured Creditors have required, among other things, that each Pledgor grant
to the Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Creditors, a security interest in
certain personal property of such Pledgor described herein subject to the terms
and conditions hereof.
C. The Borrower owns, directly or indirectly, equity interests in each
other Pledgor and the Borrower provides each other Pledgor with financial,
management, administrative, and technical support which enables such Pledgor to
conduct its business in an orderly and efficient manner in the ordinary course.

D. Each Pledgor will benefit, directly or indirectly, from credit and
other financial accommodations extended by the Secured Creditors to the
Borrower.
NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the execution and delivery
by the Secured Creditors of the Credit Agreement, and other good and valuable
consideration, receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby
agree as follows:
Section 1. Terms and Definitions. All capitalized terms used herein
without definition shall have the same meanings herein as such terms have in the
Credit Agreement. All terms which are used in this Agreement which are defined
in the Uniform Commercial Code of the State of New York ("UCC") shall have the
same meanings herein as such terms are defined in the UCC, unless this Agreement
shall otherwise specifically provide. The headings herein shall not be given
effect in interpreting or construing the provisions of this Agreement. The term
"Pledgor" and "Pledgors" as used herein shall mean and include the Pledgors
collectively, and also each individually, with all grants, representations,
warranties and covenants of and by the Pledgors, or any of them, herein
contained to constitute joint and several grants, representations, warranties
and covenants of and by the Pledgors; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that unless the context
in which the same is used shall otherwise require, any grant, representation,
warranty or covenant contained herein related to the Collateral shall be made by
each Pledgor only with respect to the Collateral owned by it or represented by
such Pledgor as owned by it.

Section 2. Grant of Security Interest in the Collateral. Each Pledgor
hereby grants to the Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Secured Creditors, a
lien on and security interest in, and acknowledges and agrees that the Agent has
and shall continue to have, for the ratable benefit of the Secured Creditors, a
continuing lien on and security interest in, any and all right, title and
interest of such Pledgor in and to the following, whether now owned or existing
or hereafter created, acquired or arising, and in whatever form (sometimes
referred to herein as the "COLLATERAL"):
(a) Pledged Securities. 100% (or, if less, the full amount
owned by such Pledgor) of the issued and outstanding shares of capital
stock owned by such Pledgor of each domestic Subsidiary (as set forth
on SCHEDULE A attached hereto) and, together with the certificates (or
other agreements or instruments), if any, representing such shares, and
all options and other rights, contractual or otherwise, with respect
thereto (collectively, together with the shares of capital stock
described in Section 2(b) and 2(c) below and the rights and privileges
described hereunder with respect thereto, the "PLEDGED SECURITIES"),
including, but not limited to, the following:

(i) all shares of securities representing a dividend
on any of the Pledged Securities, or representing a
distribution or return of capital upon or in respect of the
Pledged Securities, or resulting from a stock split, revision,
reclassification or other exchange therefor, and any
subscriptions, warrants, rights or options issued to the
holder of, or otherwise in respect of, the Pledged Securities;
and

(ii) without affecting the obligations of such
Pledgor under any provision prohibiting such action hereunder,
in the event of any consolidation or merger in which a Person
set forth on SCHEDULE A is not the surviving corporation, all
shares of each class of the capital stock of the successor
corporation formed by or resulting from such consolidation or
merger.
(b) Additional Securities. 100% (or, if less, the full amount
owned by such Pledgor) of the issued and outstanding shares of capital
stock owned by such Pledgor of any Person which hereafter becomes a
domestic Subsidiary, including, without limitation, the certificates
(or other agreements or instruments), if any, representing such shares.
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(c) Other Equity Interests. Any and all other equity interests
of each Pledgor in any domestic Subsidiary.
(d) Proceeds. All proceeds and products of the foregoing,
however and whenever acquired and in whatever form.
Section 3. Obligations Hereby Secured. This Agreement is made and given
to secure, and shall secure, the prompt payment and performance when due of (i)
(A) any and all indebtedness, obligations and liabilities of the Borrower to the
Secured Creditors, and to any of them individually, under or in connection with
or evidenced by the Credit Agreement, the Notes of the Borrower heretofore or
hereafter issued under the Credit Agreement, the obligations of the Borrower to
reimburse the Secured Creditors for the amount of all drawings on all Letters of
Credit issued pursuant to the Credit Agreement and under or in connection with
or evidenced by the Other Financing Documents and (B) any and all liability of
the Pledgors, and of any of them individually, arising under any guaranty issued
by it relating to the foregoing or any part thereof, in each case whether now
existing or hereafter arising (and whether arising before or after the filing of
a petition in bankruptcy and including all interest accrued after the petition
date), due or to become due, direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, and
howsoever evidenced, held or acquired and (ii) any and all expenses and charges,
legal or otherwise, suffered or incurred by the Secured Creditors, and any of
them individually, in collecting or enforcing any of such indebtedness,
obligations and liabilities or in realizing on or protecting or preserving any
security therefor, including, without limitation, the lien and security interest
granted hereby (all of the indebtedness, obligations, liabilities, expenses and
charges described above being hereinafter referred to as the "OBLIGATIONS").

Section 4. Covenants, Agreements, Representations and Warranties. Each
Pledgor hereby covenants and agrees with, and represents and warrants to, the
Secured Creditors that:
(a) Each Pledgor is and shall be the sole and lawful legal,
record and beneficial owner of its Collateral. Each Pledgor's chief
executive office is at the address listed under such Pledgor's name on
SCHEDULE A. Each Pledgor agrees that it will not change any location
set forth on the applicable Schedule hereto without at least 30 days'
prior written notice to the Agent (provided such locations shall be
within the United States of America). No Pledgor shall, without the
Agent's prior written consent, sell, assign, or otherwise dispose of
the Collateral or any interest therein. The Collateral, and every part
thereof, is and shall be free and clear of all security interests,
liens, rights, claims, attachments, levies and encumbrances of every
kind, nature and description and whether voluntary or involuntary,
except for the security interest of the Agent hereunder. Each Pledgor
shall warrant and defend the Collateral against any claims and demands
of all persons at any time claiming the same or any interest in the
Collateral adverse to the any Secured Creditor.
(b) Each Pledgor agrees to execute and deliver to the Agent
such further agreements, assignments, instruments and documents and to

do all such other things as the Agent may deem reasonably necessary or
appropriate to assure the Agent its lien and security interest
hereunder, including such assignments, acknowledgments, stock powers,
financing statements, instruments and documents as the Agent may from
time to time require in order to comply with the UCC. Each Pledgor
hereby agrees that a carbon, photographic or other
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reproduction of this Agreement or any such financing statement is
sufficient for filing as a financing statement by the Agent without
prior notice thereof to such Pledgor wherever the Agent in its
discretion desires to file the same. In the event for any reason the
law of any jurisdiction other than New York becomes or is applicable to
the Collateral or any part thereof, or to any of the Obligations, each
Pledgor agrees to execute and deliver all such agreements, assignments,
instruments and documents and to do all such other things as the Agent
in its discretion deems necessary or appropriate to preserve, protect
and enforce the lien and security interest of the Agent under the law
of such other jurisdiction.
(c) If, as and when any Pledgor delivers any securities for
pledge hereunder in addition to those listed on SCHEDULE A hereto, the
Pledgors shall furnish to the Agent a duly completed and executed
amendment to such Schedule in substantially the form (with appropriate
insertions) of SCHEDULE B hereto reflecting the additional securities
pledged hereunder after giving effect to such addition.
(d) None of the Collateral constitutes margin stock (within
the meaning of the Margin Regulations, as defined in the Credit
Agreement).

(e) On failure of any Pledgor to perform any of the agreements
and covenants herein contained, the Agent may, at its option, perform
the same and in so doing may expend such sums as the Agent deems
advisable in the performance thereof, including, without limitation,
the payment of any taxes, liens and encumbrances, expenditures made in
defending against any adverse claim, and all other expenditures which
the Agent may be compelled to make by operation of law or which Agent
may make by agreement or otherwise for the protection of the security
hereof. To the extent practicable, the Agent shall notify the Debtor in
advance of such performance by the Agent. All such sums and amounts so
expended shall be repayable by the Pledgors immediately without notice
or demand, shall constitute additional Obligations secured hereunder
and shall bear interest from the date said amounts are expended at the
rate per annum (computed on the basis of a year of 360 days, for the
actual number of days elapsed) determined by adding 2% to the Alternate
Base Rate from time to time in effect plus the Applicable Margin, with
any change in such rate per annum as so determined by reason of a
change in such Alternate Base Rate to be effective on the date of such
change in said Alternate Base Rate (such rate per annum as so
determined being hereinafter referred to as the "DEFAULT RATE"). No
such performance of any covenant or agreement by the Agent on behalf of
such Pledgor, and no such advancement or expenditure therefor, shall
relieve such Pledgor of any default under the terms of this Agreement
or in any way obligate any Secured Creditor to take any further or
future action with respect thereto. The Agent, in making any payment
hereby authorized, may do so according to any bill, statement or
estimate procured from the appropriate public office or holder of the
claim to be discharged without inquiry into the accuracy of such bill,
statement or estimate, or into the validity of any tax assessment,
sale, forfeiture, tax lien or title or claim. The Agent, in performing
any act hereunder, shall be the sole judge of whether the relevant
Pledgor is required to perform the same under the terms of this
Agreement. The Agent is hereby authorized to charge any depository or
other account of any Pledgor maintained with the Agent for the amount
of such sums and amounts so expended.
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Section 5. Special Provisions Re: Pledged Securities. Each Pledgor
hereby further covenants and agrees with, and represents and warrants to, the
Secured Creditors that:

(a) Each Pledgor has the right to vote the Pledged Securities
and there are no restrictions upon the voting rights associated with,
or the transfer of, any of the Pledged Securities, except as provided
by federal and state laws applicable to the sale of securities
generally and the terms of this Agreement.
(b) The certificates for all shares of the Pledged Securities
shall be delivered by the relevant Pledgor to the Agent duly endorsed
in blank for transfer or accompanied by an appropriate assignment or
assignments or an appropriate undated stock power or powers, in every
case sufficient to transfer title thereto. The Agent may at any time
after the occurrence of an Event of Default cause to be transferred
into its name or into the name of its nominee or nominees any and all
of the Pledged Securities. The Agent shall at all times have the right
to exchange the certificates representing the Pledged Securities for
certificates of smaller or larger denominations.
(c) The Pledged Securities have been validly issued and,
except as described on SCHEDULE A, are fully paid and non-assessable.
Except as set forth on SCHEDULE A, there are no outstanding commitments
or other obligations of the issuers of any of the Pledged Securities to
issue, and no options, warrants or other rights of any individual or
entity to acquire, any share of any class or series of capital stock of
such issuers. The Pledged Securities listed and described on SCHEDULE A
attached hereto constitute the percentage of the issued and outstanding
capital stock of each series and class of the issuers thereof as set
forth thereon owned by the relevant Pledgor. Each Pledgor further
agrees that in the event any such issuer shall issue any additional
capital stock of any series or class (whether or not entitled to vote)
to such Pledgor or otherwise on account of its ownership interest
therein, each Pledgor will forthwith pledge and deposit hereunder, or
cause to be pledged and deposited hereunder, all such additional shares
of such capital stock.
Section 6. Voting Rights and Dividends. Unless and until an Event of
Default hereunder has occurred and is continuing and thereafter until notified
by the Agent pursuant to Section 8(b) hereof:

(a) Each Pledgor shall be entitled to exercise all voting
and/or consensual powers pertaining to the Collateral of such Pledgor,
or any part thereof, for all purposes not inconsistent with the terms
of this Agreement, the Credit Agreement or any other document
evidencing or otherwise relating to any of the Obligations.

(b) Each Pledgor shall be entitled to receive and retain all
dividends and distributions in respect of the Collateral which are paid
in cash of whatsoever nature; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that such dividends
and distributions representing stock or liquidating dividends or a
distribution or return of capital upon or in respect of the Pledged
Securities or any part thereof or resulting from a split-up, revision
or reclassification of the Pledged Securities or any part thereof or
received in addition to, in substitution of or in exchange for the
Pledged Securities or any part thereof as a result of a merger,
consolidation or otherwise
-5shall be paid, delivered or transferred, as appropriate, directly to
the Agent immediately upon the receipt thereof by such Pledgor and may,

in the case of cash, be applied by the Agent to the Obligations,
whether or not the same may then be due or otherwise adequately secured
and shall, in the case of all other property, together with any cash
received by the Agent and not applied as aforesaid, be held by the
Agent pursuant hereto as part of the Collateral pledged under and
subject to the terms of this Agreement.
(c) In order to permit each Pledgor to exercise such voting
and/or consensual powers which it is entitled to exercise under
subsection (a) above and to receive such distributions which such
Pledgor is entitled to receive and retain under subsection (b) above,
the Agent will, if necessary, upon the written request of such Pledgor,
from time to time execute and deliver to such Pledgor appropriate
proxies and dividend orders.

Section 7. Power of Attorney. Each Pledgor hereby appoints the Agent,
its nominee, or any other person whom the Agent may designate as such Pledgor's
attorney-in-fact, with full power and authority, upon the occurrence and
continuation of an Event of Default, to ask, demand, collect, receive, receipt
for, sue for, compound and give acquittance for any and all sums or properties
which may be or become due, payable or distributable in respect of the
Collateral or any part thereof, with full power to settle, adjust or compromise
any claim thereunder or therefor as fully as such Pledgor could itself do, to
endorse or sign the Pledgor's name on any assignments, stock powers, or other
instruments of transfer and on any checks, notes, acceptances, money orders,
drafts, and any other forms of payment or security that may come into the
Agent's possession and on all documents of satisfaction, discharge or receipt
required or requested in connection therewith, and, in its discretion, to file
any claim or take any other action or proceeding, either in its own name or in
the name of such Pledgor, or otherwise, which the Agent deems necessary or
appropriate to collect or otherwise realize upon all or any part of the
Collateral, or effect a transfer thereof, or which may be necessary or
appropriate to protect and preserve the right, title and interest of the Agent
in and to such Collateral and the security intended to be afforded hereby. Each
Pledgor hereby ratifies and approves all acts of any such attorney and agrees
that neither the Agent nor any such attorney will be liable for any such acts or
omissions nor for any error of judgment or mistake of fact or law other than
such person's gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Agent may file one or
more financing statements disclosing its security interest in all or any part of
the Collateral without any Pledgor's signature appearing thereon, and each
Pledgor also hereby grants the Agent a power of attorney to execute any such
financing statements, and any amendments or supplements thereto, on behalf of
such Pledgor without notice thereof to such Pledgor. The foregoing powers of
attorney, being coupled with an interest, are irrevocable until the Obligations
have been fully satisfied and all commitments of the Secured Creditors to extend
credit to or for the account of the Borrower have expired or otherwise been
terminated.
Section 8. Defaults and Remedies. (a) The occurrence of any event or
the existence of any condition which is specified as an "EVENT OF DEFAULT" under
the Credit Agreement or a "CREDIT EVENT" under the Intercreditor Agreement
referred to in Section 9 below shall constitute an "EVENT OF DEFAULT" hereunder.

(b) Upon the occurrence and during the continuation of any Event of
Default, all rights of the Pledgors to receive and retain the distributions
which they are entitled to receive and
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retain pursuant to Section 6(b) hereof shall, at the option of the Agent cease
and thereupon become vested in the Agent which, in addition to all other rights
provided herein or by law, shall then be entitled solely and exclusively to
receive and retain the distributions which the Pledgors would otherwise have
been authorized to retain pursuant to Section 6(b) hereof and all rights of the
Pledgors to exercise the voting and/or consensual powers which they are entitled
to exercise pursuant to Section 6(a) hereof shall, at the option of the Agent
and upon not less than 5 days prior written notice from the Agent, cease and

thereupon become vested in the Agent which, in addition to all other rights
provided herein or by law, shall then be entitled solely and exclusively to
exercise all voting and other consensual powers pertaining to the Collateral and
to exercise any and all rights of conversion, exchange or subscription and any
other rights, privileges or options pertaining thereto as if the Agent were the
absolute owner thereof including, without limitation, the right to exchange, at
its discretion, the Collateral or any part thereof upon the merger,
consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization or other readjustment of the
respective issuer thereof or upon the exercise by or on behalf of any such
issuer or the Agent of any right, privilege or option pertaining to the
Collateral or any part thereof and, in connection therewith, to deposit and
deliver the Collateral or any part thereof with any committee, depositary,
transfer agent, registrar or other designated agency upon such terms and
conditions as the Agent may determine. In the event the Agent in good faith
believes any of the Collateral constitutes restricted securities within the
meaning of any applicable securities law, any disposition thereof in compliance
with such laws shall not render the disposition commercially unreasonable.
(c) Upon the occurrence and during the continuation of any Event of
Default, the Agent shall have, in addition to all other rights provided herein
or by law, the rights and remedies of a secured party under the UCC (regardless
of whether the UCC is the law of the jurisdiction where the rights or remedies
are asserted and regardless of whether the UCC applies to the affected
Collateral), and further the Agent may, without demand and without
advertisement, notice, hearing or process of law, all of which each Pledgor
hereby waives to the extent permitted by applicable law, at any time or times,
sell and deliver any or all of the Collateral held by or for it at public or
private sale, at any securities exchange or broker's board or at any of the
Agent's offices or elsewhere, for cash, upon credit or otherwise, at such prices
and upon such terms as the Agent deems advisable, in its sole discretion. In the
exercise of any such remedies, the Agent may sell the Collateral as a unit even
though the sales price thereof may be in excess of the amount remaining unpaid
on the Obligations. Also, if less than all the Collateral is sold, the Agent
shall have no duty to marshal or apportion the part of the Collateral so sold as
between the Pledgors, or any of them, but may sell and deliver any or all of the
Collateral without regard to which of the Pledgors are the owners thereof. In
addition to all other sums due any Secured Creditor hereunder, each Pledgor
shall pay the Agent and the Secured Creditors all costs and expenses incurred by
the Agent or the Secured Creditors, including reasonable attorneys' fees and
court costs, in obtaining, liquidating or enforcing payment of Collateral or the
Obligations or in the prosecution or defense of any action or proceeding by or
against the Agent or any Secured Creditor or any Pledgor concerning any matter
arising out of or connected with this Agreement or the Collateral or the
Obligations including, without limitation, any of the foregoing arising in,
arising under or related to a case under the United States Bankruptcy Code (or
any successor statute). Any requirement of reasonable notice shall be met if
such notice is personally served on or mailed, postage prepaid, to the Pledgors
in accordance with Section 14(b) hereof at least 10 days before the time of sale
or other event giving rise to the requirement of such notice; PROVIDED, HOWEVER,
no notification need be given to a Pledgor if such Pledgor has signed, after an
Event of Default has occurred, a statement renouncing any right to notification
of sale or other
-7-

intended disposition. The Agent shall not be obligated to make any sale or other
disposition of the Collateral regardless of notice having been given. Any
Secured Creditor may be the purchaser at any such sale. Each Pledgor hereby
waives all of its rights of redemption from any such sale. The Agent may
postpone or cause the postponement of the sale of all or any portion of the
Collateral by announcement at the time and place of such sale, and such sale
may, without further notice, be made at the time and place to which the sale was
postponed or the Agent may further postpone such sale by announcement made at
such time and place.

EACH PLEDGOR AGREES THAT IF ANY PART OF THE COLLATERAL IS SOLD AT ANY
PUBLIC OR PRIVATE SALE, THE AGENT MAY ELECT TO SELL ONLY TO A BUYER WHO WILL

GIVE FURTHER ASSURANCES, SATISFACTORY IN FORM AND SUBSTANCE TO THE AGENT,
RESPECTING COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES ACT OF
1933, AS AMENDED, AND A SALE SUBJECT TO SUCH CONDITION SHALL BE DEEMED
COMMERCIALLY REASONABLE.
EACH PLEDGOR FURTHER AGREES THAT IN ANY SALE OF ANY PART OF THE
COLLATERAL, THE AGENT IS HEREBY AUTHORIZED TO COMPLY WITH ANY LIMITATION OR
RESTRICTION IN CONNECTION WITH SUCH SALE AS IT MAY BE ADVISED BY COUNSEL IS
NECESSARY IN ORDER TO AVOID ANY VIOLATION OF APPLICABLE LAW (INCLUDING, WITHOUT
LIMITATION, COMPLIANCE WITH SUCH PROCEDURES AS MAY RESTRICT THE NUMBER OF
PROSPECTIVE BIDDERS AND PURCHASERS AND/OR FURTHER RESTRICT SUCH PROSPECTIVE
BIDDERS OR PURCHASERS TO PERSONS WHO WILL REPRESENT AND AGREE THAT THEY ARE
PURCHASING FOR THEIR OWN ACCOUNT FOR INVESTMENT AND NOT WITH A VIEW TO THE
DISTRIBUTION OR RESALE OF SUCH COLLATERAL ), OR IN ORDER TO OBTAIN ANY REQUIRED
APPROVAL OF THE SALE OR OF THE PURCHASER BY ANY GOVERNMENTAL REGULATORY
AUTHORITY OR OFFICIAL, AND EACH PLEDGOR FURTHER AGREES THAT SUCH COMPLIANCE
SHALL NOT RESULT IN SUCH SALE BEING CONSIDERED OR DEEMED NOT TO HAVE BEEN MADE
IN A COMMERCIALLY REASONABLE MANNER, NOR SHALL THE AGENT BE LIABLE OR
ACCOUNTABLE TO ANY PLEDGOR FOR ANY DISCOUNT ALLOWED BY REASON OF THE FACT THAT
SUCH COLLATERAL IS SOLD IN COMPLIANCE WITH ANY SUCH LIMITATION OR RESTRICTION.

(d) The powers conferred upon the Agent hereunder are solely to protect
its interest in the Collateral and shall not impose on it any duties to exercise
such powers. The Agent shall be deemed to have exercised reasonable care in the
custody and preservation of the Collateral in its possession if the Collateral
is accorded treatment substantially equivalent to that which the Agent accords
its own property, consisting of similar types securities, it being understood,
however, that the Agent shall have no responsibility for (i) ascertaining or
taking any action with respect to calls, conversions, exchanges, maturities,
tenders or other matters relating to any Collateral, whether or not the Agent
has or is deemed to have knowledge of such matters, (ii) taking any necessary
steps to preserve rights against any parties with respect to any Collateral, or
(iii) initiating any action to protect the Collateral or any part thereof
against the possibility of a decline in market value. This
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Agreement constitutes an assignment of rights only and not an assignment of any
duties or obligations of the Pledgors in any way related to the Collateral, and
the Agent shall have no duty or obligation to discharge any such duty or
obligation. By its acceptance hereof, the Agent does not undertake to perform or
discharge and shall not be responsible or liable for the performance or
discharge of any such duties or responsibilities. Neither the Agent nor any
Secured Creditor, nor any party acting as attorney for the Agent or any Secured
Creditor, shall be liable hereunder for any acts or omissions or for any error
of judgment or mistake of fact or law other than such person's gross negligence
or willful misconduct.
(e) Failure by the Agent to exercise any right, remedy or option under
this Agreement or any other agreement between any Pledgor and the Agent or
provided by law, or delay by the Agent in exercising the same, shall not operate
as a waiver; and no waiver shall be effective unless it is in writing, signed by
the party against whom such waiver is sought to be enforced and then only to the
extent specifically stated. The rights and remedies of the Agent and the Secured
Creditors under this Agreement shall be cumulative and not exclusive of any
other right or remedy which the Agent and any Secured Creditor may have.
Section 9. Application of Proceeds. The proceeds and avails of the
Collateral at any time received by the Agent upon the occurrence and during the
continuation of any Event of Default shall, when received by the Agent in cash
or its equivalent, be applied by the Agent in reduction of, or held as
collateral security for, the Obligations in accordance with the terms of the
Intercreditor Agreement among the Secured Creditors dated May 21, 1998. The
Pledgors shall remain liable to the Secured Creditors for any deficiency. Any
surplus remaining after the full payment and satisfaction of the Obligations
shall be returned to the Borrower, as agent for Pledgors, or as a court of
competent jurisdiction may direct.

Section 10. Continuing Agreement. This Agreement shall be a continuing
agreement in every respect and shall remain in full force and effect until all
of the Obligations, both for principal and interest, have been fully paid and
satisfied and the commitments of the Secured Creditors to extend credit to or
for the account of the Borrower shall have expired or otherwise terminated. Upon
such termination of this Agreement, the Agent shall, upon the request and at the
expense of the Pledgors, forthwith release all its liens and security interests
hereunder.

Section 11. Primary Security; Obligations Absolute. The lien and
security herein created and provided for shall stand as direct and primary
security for the Obligations. No application of any sums received by the Agent
in respect of the Collateral or any disposition thereof to the reduction of the
Obligations or any portion thereof shall in any manner entitle any Pledgor to
any right, title or interest in or to the Obligations or any collateral security
therefor, whether by subrogation or otherwise, unless and until all Obligations
have been fully paid and satisfied and all commitments to extend credit
constituting Obligations to the Borrower shall have expired or otherwise
terminated. Each Pledgor acknowledges and agrees that the lien and security
hereby created and provided for are absolute and unconditional and shall not in
any manner be affected or impaired by any acts or omissions whatsoever of any
Secured Creditor or any other holder of any of the Obligations, and without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, the lien and security hereof shall not
be impaired by any acceptance by the Agent, any Secured Creditor or any other
holder of any of the Obligations of any other security for or guarantors upon
any Obligations or by any failure, neglect
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or omission on the part of the Agent, any Secured Creditor or any other holder
of any of the Obligations to realize upon or protect any of the Obligations or
any collateral security therefor (including, without limitation, impairment of
collateral or failure to perfect security interest in collateral). The lien and
security hereof shall not in any manner be impaired or affected by (and the
Agent and the Secured Creditors, without notice to anyone, are hereby authorized
to make from time to time) any sale, pledge, surrender, compromise, settlement,
release, renewal, extension, indulgence, alteration, substitution, exchange,
change in, modification or disposition of any of the Obligations, or of any
collateral security therefor, or of any guaranty thereof, or of any instrument
or agreement setting forth the terms and conditions pertaining to any of the
foregoing. A Lender may at its discretion at any time grant credit to the
Borrower without notice to the other Pledgors in such amounts and on such terms
as such Lender may elect (all of such to consitute additional Obligations hereby
secured) without in any manner impairing the lien and security hereby created
and provided for. In order to realize hereon and to exercise the rights granted
the Agent and the Secured Creditors hereunder and under applicable law, there
shall be no obligation on the part of the Agent, any Secured Creditor or any
other holder of any of the Obligations at any time to first resort for payment
to the Borrower or any other Pledgor or to any guaranty of the Obligations or
any portion thereof or to resort to any other collateral security, property,
liens or any other rights or remedies whatsoever, and the Agent and the Secured
Creditors shall have the right to enforce this Agreement as against any Pledgor
or any of its Collateral irrespective of whether or not other proceedings or
steps seeking resort to or realization upon or from any of the foregoing are
pending.
Section 12. The Agent. In acting under or by virtue of this Agreement,
the Agent shall be entitled to all the rights, authority, privileges and
immunities provided in Article IX of the Credit Agreement and Section 7 of the
Intercreditor Agreement, all of which provisions of said Article IX and Section
7 are incorporated by reference herein with the same force and effect as if set
forth herein in their entirety. The Agent hereby disclaims any representation or
warranty to the other Secured Creditors or any other holders of the Obligations
concerning the perfection of the liens and security interests granted hereunder
or in the value of the Collateral.

Section 13. Representations and Warranties. In order to induce the
Secured Creditors to continue and extend the credit facilities and other
financial accommodations to the Borrower pursuant to the Credit Agreement, each
Pledgor makes the following representations and warranties, all of which shall
survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement.
(a) Such Pledgor (i) is a duly organized and validly existing
corporation (or limited liability company, as the case may be) in good standing
under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, (ii) has the power and
authority to own its property and assets and to transact the business in which
it is engaged and presently proposes to engage and (iii) is duly qualified as a
foreign corporation (or limited liability company, as the case may be) and in
good standing in each jurisdiction where the ownership of property or the
conduct of its business requires such qualification except where the failure to
be so qualified could not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse
effect on the business, operations, properties or financial or other condition
of such Pledgor.
(b) Such Pledgor has the power and authority to execute, deliver and
perform the terms and provisions of this Agreement and has taken all necessary
action to authorize the execution, delivery and performance by it of this
Agreement. Such Pledgor has duly executed and
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binding obligation enforceable in accordance with its terms, except to the
extent that the enforceability thereof may be limited by applicable bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws generally affecting
creditors' rights and by equitable principles (regardless of whether enforcement
is sought in equity or at law).

(c) Neither the execution, delivery or performance by such Pledgor of
this Agreement, nor compliance by it with the terms and provisions hereof, nor
the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein (i) will contravene any
material provision of any law, statute, rule or regulation or any order, writ,
injunction or decree of any court or governmental instrumentality, (ii) will
conflict or be inconsistent with or result in any breach of any of the terms,
covenants, conditions or provisions of, or constitute a default under, or (other
than pursuant to the Security Documents (as hereinafter defined)) result in the
creation or imposition of (or the obligation to create or impose) any Lien upon
any of the property or assets of such Pledgor pursuant to the terms of any
indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, credit agreement, loan agreement or any
other material agreement, contract or instrument to which any of the Pledgor or
its Subsidiaries is a party or by which it or any of its property or assets are
bound or to which it may be subject or (iii) will violate any provision of the
certificate of incorporation or by-laws (or the equivalent charter documents) of
such Pledgor. In this Agreement, the term "SECURITY DOCUMENTS" shall mean the
Security Agreement dated as of the even date herewith among the Borrower, its
domestic Subsidiaries and The Bank of New York, as Agent, this Agreement and
documents and instruments delivered hereunder and thereunder.
(d) No order, consent, approval, license, authorization or validation
of, or filing, recording or registration with (except as have been obtained or
made on or prior to the date hereof and which remain in full force and effect),
or exemption by, any governmental or public body or authority, or any
subdivision thereof, is required to authorize, or is required in connection
with, (i) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by such
Pledgor or (ii) the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability of this
Agreement.
Section 14. Miscellaneous. (a) This Agreement cannot be changed or
terminated orally. This Agreement shall create a continuing lien on and security
interest in the Collateral and shall be binding upon each Pledgor, its
successors and permitted assigns, and shall inure, together with the rights and
remedies of the Secured Creditors hereunder, to the benefit of the Secured
Creditors, and their successors and assigns; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that no Pledgor

may assign its rights or delegate its duties hereunder without the Agent's prior
written consent. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and subject
to the provisions of the Credit Agreement and the Intercreditor Agreement, any
Secured Creditor may assign or otherwise transfer any indebtedness held by it
secured by this Agreement to any other person, and such other person shall
thereupon become vested with all the benefits in respect thereof granted to such
Secured Creditor herein or otherwise.

(b) All communications provided for herein shall be in writing, except
as otherwise specifically provided for hereinabove.
(c) No Secured Creditor (other than the Agent, subject to the terms and
provisions of the Intercreditor Agreement) shall have the right to institute any
suit, action or proceeding in equity or at law for the foreclosure or other
realization upon any Collateral subject to
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appointment of a receiver, or for the enforcement of any other remedy under or
upon this Agreement; it being understood and intended that no one or more of the
Secured Creditors (other than the Agent) shall have any right in any manner
whatsoever to affect, disturb or prejudice the lien and security interest of
this Agreement by its or their action or to enforce any right hereunder, and
that all proceedings at law or in equity shall be instituted, had and maintained
by the Agent in the manner herein provided for the benefit of the Secured
Creditors.

(d) In the event that any provision hereof shall be deemed to be
invalid or unenforceable by reason of the operation of any law or by reason of
the interpretation placed thereon by any court, this Agreement shall be
construed as not containing such provision, but only as to such jurisdictions
where such law or interpretation is operative, and the invalidity or
unenforceability of such provision shall not affect the validity of any
remaining provision hereof, and any and all other provisions hereof which are
otherwise lawful and valid shall remain in full force and effect. Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, in the event that this Agreement shall
be deemed to be invalid or otherwise unenforceable with respect to any Pledgor,
such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the validity of this
Agreement with respect to the other Pledgors.
(e) In the event the Secured Creditors shall at any time in their
discretion permit a substitution of Pledgors hereunder or a party shall wish to
become a Pledgor hereunder, such substituted or additional Pledgor shall, upon
executing an agreement in the form attached hereto as SCHEDULE C become a party
hereto and be bound by all the terms and conditions hereof to the same extent as
though such Pledgor had originally executed this Agreement and, in the case of a
substitution, in lieu of the Pledgor being replaced. Any such agreement shall
contain information as to such Pledgor necessary to update Schedule A with
respect to it. No such substitution shall be effective absent the written
consent of Agent nor shall it in any manner affect the obligations of the other
Pledgors hereunder.
(f) Each Pledgor hereby submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of
the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York and of
any New York state court sitting in The City of New York for purposes of all
legal proceedings arising out of or relating to this Agreement, the other Credit
Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby. Each Pledgor
irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any objection which
it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such proceeding
brought in such a court and any claim that any such proceeding brought in such a
court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. EACH PLEDGOR AND EACH SECURED
CREDITOR HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY
LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY OTHER CREDIT
DOCUMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY.
(g) This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance

with, the laws of the State of New York applicable to contracts made and to be
performed entirely within the State of New York.
-12(h) This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by
different parties hereto on separate counterpart signature pages, each
constituting an original, but all together one and the same instrument.

[THE NEXT PAGE IS THE SIGNATURE PAGE]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each Pledgor has caused this Agreement to be duly
executed and delivered as of the date first above written.
PLEDGORS:
APOGEE ENTERPRISES, INC.
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
7900 Xerxes Avenue South
Suite 1800
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55431
Attention:

APOGEE WAUSAU, INC.
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
1415 West Street
Wausau, Wisconsin 54401
Attention:
THE GLASS DEPOT, INC
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
4000 Olson Memorial Highway
Suite 600
Minneapolis, MN 55422-5334
Attention:

-14VIRACON, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
500 Park Drive
Owatonna, MN 55060
Attention:
HARMON GLASS COMPANY
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
4000 Olson Memorial Highway
Suite 600
Minneapolis, MN 55422-5334
Attention:
AMERICAN MANAGEMENT GROUP
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
4000 Olson Memorial Highway
Suite 600
Minneapolis, MN 55422-5334
Attention:
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Acknowledged and agreed to in New York, New York as of the date first
above written.
THE BANK OF NEW YORK, as Agent for
the Secured Creditors
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
---------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
One Wall Street
New York, New York 10286
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SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY AGREEMENT

dated as of
May 21, 1998

among

THE GUARANTORS PARTIES HERETO

and
THE BANK OF NEW YORK,

as Agent
for the Guaranteed Creditors

================================================================================
SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY AGREEMENT (the "GUARANTY"), dated as of May 21,
1998, by the parties who have executed this Guaranty (such parties, along with
any other parties who execute and deliver to the Agent hereinafter identified
and defined an agreement in the form attached hereto as EXHIBIT A, being herein
referred to collectively, as the "GUARANTORS" and individually, as a
"GUARANTOR") in favor of The Bank of New York ("BNY") acting as agent hereunder
for the Guaranteed Creditors hereinafter identified and defined (BNY acting as
such agent and any successor or successors to BNY in such capacity being
hereinafter referred to as the "AGENT").
WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, each of the Guarantors is a direct or indirect subsidiary of
Apogee Enterprises, Inc., a Minnesota corporation (the "BORROWER"); and
WHEREAS, the Borrower and BNY, individually and as administrative
agent, letter of credit issuer and saving line lender (BNY acting as such agent
and any successor or successors to BNY in such capacity being hereinafter
referred to as the "ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT") have entered into a Credit Agreement,
dated as of May 21, 1998 (such Credit Agreement as the same may from time to
time hereafter be modified, amended or restated being hereinafter referred to as
the "CREDIT AGREEMENT") pursuant to which BNY and such other lenders from time
to time parties thereto (BNY, as a lender, the letter of credit issuer and the
swing line lender, and such other lenders being hereinafter referred to
collectively, as the "LENDERS" and individually, as a "LENDER") have extended
various credit facilities to the Borrower (the Administrative Agent, the Lenders
and the Other Lenders and Creditors being hereinafter referred to, collectively,
as the "GUARANTEED CREDITORS" and individually, as a "GUARANTEED CREDITOR"). As
used herein, the "OTHER LENDERS" and "CREDITORS" shall mean those Others Lenders
and Creditors party to, and defined in, the Intercreditor Agreement, dated the
date hereof.
WHEREAS, the Borrower provides each of the Guarantors with substantial
financial, management, administrative, and technical support; and
WHEREAS, as a condition to extending the credit facilities and other
financial accommodations pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Guaranteed
Creditors have required, among other things, that the Guarantors execute and
deliver this Guaranty; and
WHEREAS, each Guarantor will directly and substantially benefit from
credit and other financial accommodations extended and to be extended by the
Guaranteed Creditors to the Borrower; and
NOW, THEREFORE, FOR VALUE RECEIVED, and in consideration of advances
made or to be made, or credit accommodations given or to be given, to the
Borrower by the Guaranteed Creditors from time to time, each Guarantor hereby
makes the following representations and warranties to the Guaranteed Creditors

and hereby covenants and agrees with the Guaranteed Creditors as follows:
Section 1. All capitalized terms used herein without definition shall
have the same meanings herein as such terms have in the Credit Agreement.
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Section 2. Each Guarantor hereby jointly and severally guarantees, for
the ratable benefit of the Guaranteed Creditors, the due and punctual payment
when due of (i) any and all indebtedness, obligations and liabilities of the
Borrower and the Guarantors, and of any of them individually, to the Guaranteed
Creditors, and to any of them individually, under or in connection with or
evidenced by the Credit Documents whether now existing or hereafter arising (and
whether arising before or after the filing of a petition in bankruptcy and
including all interest accrued after the petition date), due or to become due,
direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, and howsoever evidenced, held or
acquired and (ii) any and all expenses and charges, legal or otherwise, suffered
or incurred by the Guaranteed Creditors, or the Agent and any of them, in
collecting or enforcing any of such indebtedness, obligations and liabilities or
in realizing on or protecting or preserving any security therefor. The
indebtedness, obligations and liabilities described in the immediately preceding
clauses (i) and (ii) are hereinafter referred to as the "INDEBTEDNESS HEREBY
GUARANTEED". In case of failure by the Borrower or any Guarantor punctually to
pay any indebtedness hereby guaranteed, each Guarantor hereby jointly and
severally agrees to make such payment or to cause such payment to be made
punctually as and when the same shall become due and payable, whether at stated
maturity, by acceleration or otherwise. All payments hereunder by any Guarantor
shall be made in immediately available funds in the same currency in which the
indebtedness hereby guaranteed is payable, without setoff, counterclaim or other
defense or withholding or deduction of any nature.

Section 3. Each Guarantor further jointly and severally agrees to pay
on demand all reasonable expenses, legal and/or otherwise (including court costs
and reasonable attorneys' fees), paid or incurred by any Guaranteed Creditor in
endeavoring to collect the indebtedness hereby guaranteed, or any part thereof,
or in enforcing or endeavoring to enforce any Guarantor's obligations hereunder,
or any part thereof, or in protecting, defending or enforcing this Guaranty in
any litigation, bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings or otherwise.
Section 4. Each Guarantor agrees that, upon demand, such Guarantor will
then pay to the Agent, for the benefit of the Guaranteed Creditors, the full
amount of the indebtedness hereby guaranteed then due whether or not any one or
more of the other Guarantors shall then or thereafter pay any amount whatsoever
in respect to their obligations hereunder.

Section 5. Each of the Guarantors agrees that such Guarantor will not
exercise or enforce any right of exoneration, contribution, reimbursement,
recourse or subrogation available to such Guarantor against any person liable
for payment of the indebtedness hereby guaranteed, or as to any security
therefor, unless and until the full amount owing to the Guaranteed Creditors of
the indebtedness hereby guaranteed has been fully paid and satisfied and each of
the commitments by the Guaranteed Creditors to extend any indebtedness hereby
guaranteed shall have expired or otherwise terminated. The payment by any
Guarantor of any amount or amounts to the Guaranteed Creditors pursuant hereto
shall not in any way entitle any such Guarantor, either at law, in equity or
otherwise, to any right, title or interest (whether by way of subrogation or
otherwise) in and to the indebtedness hereby guaranteed or any part thereof or
any collateral security therefor or any other rights or remedies in any way
relating thereto or in and to any amounts theretofor, then or thereafter paid or
applicable to the payment thereof howsoever such payment may be made and from
whatsoever source such payment may be derived unless and until all of the
indebtedness hereby guaranteed and all costs and expenses suffered or incurred
by the Guaranteed Creditors in enforcing this Guaranty have been paid and
satisfied in full and each of
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the commitments by the Guaranteed Creditors to extend any indebtedness hereby
guaranteed shall have expired or otherwise terminated and unless and until such
payment in full and termination, any payments made by any Guarantor hereunder
and any other payments from whatsoever source derived on account of or
applicable to the indebtedness hereby guaranteed or any part thereof shall be
held and taken to be merely payments in gross to the Guaranteed Creditors
reducing pro tanto the indebtedness hereby guaranteed.

Section 6. To the extent permitted by the Credit Agreement and the
Intercreditor Agreement among the Lenders, dated as of May 21, 1998 (the
"INTERCREDITOR AGREEMENT"), each Guaranteed Creditor may, without any notice
whatsoever to any of the Guarantors, sell, assign, or transfer all of the
indebtedness hereby guaranteed, or any part thereof, or grant participations
therein, and in that event each and every immediate and successive assignee,
transferee or holder of all or any part of the indebtedness hereby guaranteed,
shall have the right through the Agent pursuant to Section 18 hereof to enforce
this Guaranty, by suit or otherwise, for the benefit of such assignee,
transferee or holder, as fully as if such assignee, transferee or holder were
herein by name specifically given such rights, powers and benefits; but each
Guaranteed Creditor through the Agent pursuant to Section 18 hereof shall have
an unimpaired right to enforce this Guaranty for its own benefit, as to so much
of the indebtedness hereby guaranteed that it has not sold, assigned or
transferred.
Section 7. This Guaranty is a continuing, irrevocable, absolute and
unconditional guaranty of payment and not of collection, and shall remain in
full force and effect until any and all of the indebtedness hereby guaranteed
shall be fully paid and satisfied and each of the commitments by the Guaranteed
Creditors to extend any indebtedness hereby guaranteed shall have expired or
otherwise terminated. The Guaranteed Creditors may at any time or from time to
time release any Guarantor from its obligations hereunder or effect any
compromise with any Guarantor and no such release or compromise shall in any
manner impair or otherwise affect the obligations hereunder of the other
Guarantors. No release, compromise, or discharge of any one or more of the
Guarantors shall release, compromise or discharge the obligations of the other
Guarantors hereunder.

Section 8. In case of the dissolution, liquidation or insolvency
(howsoever evidenced) of, or the institution of bankruptcy or receivership
proceedings against the Borrower or any Guarantor, all of the indebtedness
hereby guaranteed which is then existing shall immediately become due or accrued
and payable from the Guarantors. All payments received from the Borrower or on
account of the indebtedness hereby guaranteed from whatsoever source, shall be
taken and applied as payment in gross, and this Guaranty shall apply to and
secure any ultimate balance that shall continue to remain owing to the
Guaranteed Creditors.
Section 9. The liability hereunder shall in no way be affected or
impaired by (and the Guaranteed Creditors are hereby expressly authorized to
make from time to time, without notice to any of the Guarantors), any sale,
pledge, surrender, compromise, settlement, release, renewal, extension,
impairment, indulgence, alteration, substitution, exchange, change in,
modification or other disposition of any of the indebtedness hereby guaranteed,
either express or implied, or of the Credit Agreement or any other contract or
contracts evidencing any thereof, or of any security or collateral therefor or
any guaranty thereof. The liability hereunder shall in no way be affected or
impaired by any acceptance by the Agent or the Guaranteed Creditors of any
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security for or other guarantors upon any of the indebtedness hereby guaranteed,
or by any failure, neglect or omission on the part of the Agent or the
Guaranteed Creditors to realize upon or protect any of the indebtedness hereby
guaranteed, or any collateral or security therefor (including, without
limitation, impairment of collateral and failure to perfect security interest in
any collateral), or to exercise any lien upon or right of appropriation of any

moneys, credits or property of the Borrower or any Guarantor, possessed by the
Agent or any of the Guaranteed Creditors, toward the liquidation of the
indebtedness hereby guaranteed, or by any application of payments or credits
thereon. The Guaranteed Creditors shall have the exclusive right to determine
how, when and what application of payments and credits, if any, shall be made on
said indebtedness hereby guaranteed, or any part of same. In order to hold any
Guarantor liable hereunder, there shall be no obligation on the part of the
Agent or the Guaranteed Creditors, at any time, to resort for payment to the
Borrower or to any other Guarantor, or to any other person, its property or
estate, or resort to any collateral, security, property, liens or other rights
or remedies whatsoever, and the Agent and the Guaranteed Creditors shall have
the right to enforce this Guaranty against any Guarantor irrespective of whether
or not other proceedings or steps are pending seeking resort to or realization
upon or from any of the foregoing are pending.
Section 10. In the event the Guaranteed Creditors shall at any time in
their discretion permit a substitution of Guarantors hereunder or a party shall
wish to become Guarantor hereunder, such substituted or additional Guarantor
shall, upon executing an agreement in the form attached hereto as EXHIBIT A,
become a party hereto and be bound by all the terms and conditions hereof to the
same extent as though such Guarantor had originally executed this Guaranty and
in the case of a substitution, in lieu of the Guarantor being replaced. No such
substitution shall be effective absent the written consent of the Guaranteed
Creditors delivered in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement and the
Financing Documents, nor shall it in any manner affect the obligations of the
other Guarantors hereunder.
Section 11. All diligence in collection or protection, and all
presentment, demand, protest and/or notice, as to any and everyone, whether or
not the Borrower or the Guarantors or others, of dishonor and of default and of
non-payment and of the creation and existence of any and all of said
indebtedness hereby guaranteed, and of any security and collateral therefor, and
of the acceptance of this Guaranty, and of any and all extensions of credit and
indulgence hereunder, are expressly waived.

Section 12. No act of commission or omission of any kind, or at any
time, upon the part of the Agent or the Guaranteed Creditors in respect to any
matter whatsoever, shall in any way affect or impair this Guaranty.

Section 13. The Guarantors waive any and all defenses, claims and
discharges of the Borrower, or any other obligor or Guarantor, pertaining to the
indebtedness hereby guaranteed, except the defense of discharge by payment in
full. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Guarantors will not
assert, plead or enforce against the Agent or the Guaranteed Creditors any
defense of waiver, release, discharge in bankruptcy, statute of limitations, res
judicata, statue of frauds, anti-deficiency statute, fraud, incapacity,
minority, usury, illegality or unenforceability which may be available to the
Borrower, or any other Guarantor or person liable in respect of any of the
indebtedness hereby guaranteed, or any set-off available against the Guaranteed
Creditors to the Borrower or any such other person, whether or not on account of
a
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related transaction. The Guarantors agree that the Guarantors shall be and
remain jointly and severally liable for any deficiency remaining after
foreclosure or other realization on any lien or security interest securing the
indebtedness hereby guaranteed, whether or not the liability of the Borrower or
any other obligor for such deficiency is discharged pursuant to statute or
judicial decision.

Section 14. If any payment applied by the Guaranteed Creditors to the
indebtedness hereby guaranteed is thereafter set aside, recovered, rescinded or
required to be returned for any reason (including, without limitation, the
bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of the Borrower or any other Guarantor
or obligor), the indebtedness hereby guaranteed to which such payment was
applied shall for the purposes of this Guaranty be deemed to have continued in

existence, notwithstanding such application, and this Guaranty shall be
enforceable as to such of the indebtedness hereby guaranteed as fully as if such
application had never been made.

Section 15. The liability of the Guarantors under this Guaranty is in
addition to and shall be cumulative with all other liabilities of the Guarantors
after the date hereof to the Guaranteed Creditors as a Guarantor of the
indebtedness hereby guaranteed, without any limitation as to amount, unless the
instrument or agreement evidencing or creating such other liability specifically
provides to the contrary.
Section 16. Any invalidity or unenforceability of any provision or
application of this Guaranty shall not affect other lawful provisions and
applications hereof, and to this end the provisions of this Guaranty are
declared to be severable. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any
invalidity or unenforceability against any Guarantor of any provision or
application of the Guaranty shall not affect the validity or enforceability of
the provisions or application of this Guaranty as against the other Guarantors.
Section 17. Any demand for payment on this Guaranty or any other notice
required or desired to be given hereunder to any Guarantor shall be in writing
(including, without limitation, notice by telecopy) and shall be given to the
relevant party at its address or telecopier number set forth on the appropriate
signature page hereof, or such other address or telecopier number as such party
may hereafter specify by notice to the Agent given by United States certified or
registered mail, by telecopy or by other telecommunication device capable of
creating a written record of such notice and its receipt. Each such notice,
request or other communication shall be effective (i) if given by telecopier,
when such telecopy is transmitted to the telecopier number specified in this
Section and a confirmation of such telecopy has been received by the sender,
(ii) if given by mail, five (5) days after such communication is deposited in
the mail, certified or registered with return receipt requested, addressed as
aforesaid or (iii) if given by any other means, when delivered at the addresses
specified in this Section 17.
Section 18. No Guaranteed Creditor (other than the Agent subject to the
terms and provisions of the Intercreditor Agreement) shall have the right to
institute any suit, action or proceeding in equity or at law in connection with
this Guaranty for the enforcement of any remedy under or upon this Guaranty; it
being understood and intended that no one or more of the Guaranteed Creditors
(other than the Agent) shall have any right in any manner whatsoever to enforce
any right hereunder, and that all proceedings at law or in equity shall be
instituted, had
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and maintained by the Agent in the manner herein provided and for the benefit of
the Guaranteed Creditors.
Section 19. THIS GUARANTY SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTS MADE
AND TO BE PERFORMED ENTIRELY WITHIN THE STATE OF NEW YORK and may not be waived,
amended, released or otherwise changed except by a writing signed by the
Guaranteed Creditors. This Guaranty and every part thereof shall be effective
upon delivery to the Agent, without further act, condition or acceptance by the
Guaranteed Creditors, shall be binding upon the Guarantors and upon the legal
representatives, successors and assigns of the Guarantors, and shall inure to
the benefit of the Agent or the Guaranteed Creditors, their successors, legal
representatives and assigns. The Guarantors waive notice of the Agent's or the
Guaranteed Creditors' acceptance hereof. This Guaranty may be executed in
counterparts and by different parties hereto on separate counterparts each of
which shall be an original, but all together to be one and the same instrument.
Section 20. The Guarantors' obligation hereunder to make payments in
the currency specified in the Credit Agreement (the "OBLIGATION CURRENCY") shall
not be discharged or satisfied by any tender or recovery pursuant to any
judgment expressed in or converted into any currency other than the Obligation

Currency, except to the extent that such tender or recovery results in the
effective receipt by the Guaranteed Creditors of the full amount of the
Obligation Currency expressed to be payable to the Guaranteed Creditors under
this Guaranty. If for the purpose of obtaining or enforcing judgment against any
Guarantor in any court or in any jurisdiction, it becomes necessary to convert
into or from any currency other than the Obligation Currency (such other
currency being hereinafter referred to as the "JUDGMENT CURRENCY") an amount due
in the Obligation Currency, the conversion shall be made at the rate of exchange
(as quoted by the Agent or if the Agent does not quote a rate of exchange on
such currency, by a known dealer in such currency designated by the Agent)
determined, in each case, as of the day immediately preceding the day on which
the judgment is given (such business day being hereinafter referred to as the
"JUDGMENT CURRENCY CONVERSION DATE"). If there is a change in the rate of
exchange prevailing between the Judgment Currency Conversion Date and the date
of actual payment of the amount due, the Guarantors covenant and agree to pay,
or cause to be paid, such additional amounts, if any (but in any event not a
lesser amount) as may be necessary to ensure that the amount paid in the
Judgment Currency, when converted at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date
of payment, will produce the amount of the Obligation Currency which could have
been purchased with the amount of Judgment Currency stipulated in the judgment
or judicial award at the rate or exchange prevailing on the Judgment Currency
Conversion Date. For purposes of determining any rate of exchange for this
Section 20, such amounts shall include any premium and costs payable in
connection with the purchase of the Obligation Currency.
Section 21. Each Guarantor hereby submits to the nonexclusive
jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the Southern District of
New York and of any New York State court sitting in The City of New York for
purposes of all legal proceedings arising out of or relating to this Guaranty or
the transactions contemplated hereby. Each Guarantor irrevocably waives, to the
fullest extent permitted by law, any objection which it may now or hereafter
have to the laying of the venue of any such proceeding brought in such a court
and any claim that any such proceeding brought in such court has been brought in
an inconvenient forum.
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EACH OF THE GUARANTORS, THE AGENT AND THE GUARANTEED CREDITORS HEREBY
IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS GUARANTY OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED
HEREBY.
Section 22. In order to induce the Guaranteed Creditors to continue and
extend the credit facilities and other financial accommodations to the Borrower
pursuant to the Credit Agreement and Financing Documents, each Guarantor makes
the following representations and warranties, all of which shall survive the
execution and delivery of this Guaranty.
(a) Such Guarantor (i) is a duly organized and validly existing
corporation (or limited liability company, as the case may be) in good standing
under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, (ii) has the power and
authority to own its property and assets and to transact the business in which
it is engaged and presently proposes to engage and (iii) is duly qualified as a
foreign corporation (or limited liability company, as the case may be) and in
good standing in each jurisdiction where the ownership of property or the
conduct of its business requires such qualification except where the failure to
be so qualified could not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse
effect on the business, operations, properties or financial or other condition
of such Guarantor.

(b) Such Guarantor has the power and authority to execute, deliver and
perform the terms and provisions of this Guaranty and has taken all necessary
action to authorize the execution, delivery and performance by it of this
Guaranty. Such Guarantor has duly executed and delivered this Guaranty, and this
Guaranty constitutes its legal, valid and binding obligation enforceable in
accordance with its terms, except to the extent that the enforceability thereof
may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium

or other similar laws generally affecting creditors' rights and by equitable
principles (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in equity or at law).

(c) Neither the execution, delivery or performance by such Guarantor of
this Guaranty, nor compliance by it with the terms and provisions hereof, nor
the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein (i) will contravene any
material provision of any law, statute, rule or regulation or any order, writ,
injunction or decree of any court or governmental instrumentality, (ii) will
conflict or be inconsistent with or result in any breach of any of the terms,
covenants, conditions or provisions of, or constitute a default under, or (other
than pursuant to the Security Documents (as hereinafter defined)) result in the
creation or imposition of (or the obligation to create or impose) any Lien upon
any of the property or assets of such Guarantor pursuant to the terms of any
indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, credit agreement, loan agreement or any
other material agreement, contract or instrument to which any of the Guarantor
or its subsidiaries is a party or by which it or any of its property or assets
are bound or to which it may be subject or (iii) will violate any provision of
the certificate of incorporation or by-laws (or the equivalent charter
documents) of such Guarantor. In this Guaranty, the term "SECURITY DOCUMENTS"
shall mean the Security Agreement dated as of the even date herewith among the
Borrower, its domestic Subsidiaries and The Bank of New York, as Agent, the
Pledge Agreement dated as of the even date herewith among the Borrower, certain
of its domestic Subsidiaries and The Bank of New York, as Agent, and documents
and instruments delivered thereunder.
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(d) No order, consent, approval, license, authorization or validation
of, or filing, recording or registration with (except as have been obtained or
made on or prior to the date hereof and which remain in full force and effect),
or exemption by, any governmental or public body or authority, or any
subdivision thereof, is required to authorize, or is required in connection
with, (i) the execution, delivery and performance of this Guaranty by such
Guarantor or (ii) the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability of
this Guaranty.
[THE NEXT PAGE IS THE SIGNATURE PAGE]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Guarantors have caused this Guaranty to be
executed and delivered as of the date first above written.
GUARANTORS:

HARMON, INC.
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
-------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:

919 Fifth Avenue, NW
Suite 100
New Brighton, MN 55112-2702
Attention:
VIRACON/CURVELITE, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
--------------------------------

Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer

Address:
500 Park Drive
Owatonna, MN 55060
Attention:
NORMENT INDUSTRIES, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
-------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
3224 Mobile Highway
Montgomery, AL 36108-0129
Attention:
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APOGEE WAUSAU GROUP, INC.
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
-------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
1415 West Street
Wausau, WI 54401
Attention:

MILCO CONTRACTING, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
-------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
1415 West Street
Wausau, WI 54401
Attention:

THE GLASS DEPOT, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
-------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:

4000 Olson Memorial Highway

Suite 600
Minneapolis, MN 55422-5334
Attention:

THE GLASS DEPOT OF NY, INC.
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
--------------------------------

-10Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer

Address:

4000 Olson Memorial Highway
Suite 600
Minneapolis, MN 55422-5334
Attention:
NORSHIELD CORPORATION

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
-------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
3224 Mobile Highway
Montgomery, AL 36108-0129
Attention:

VIRACON, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
-------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
500 Park Drive
Owatonna, MN 55060
Attention:
VIRATEC THIN FILMS, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
-------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
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2150 Airport Drive
Faribault, MN 55021-7798
Attention:
TRU VUE, INC.

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
-------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
1315 North Branch Street
Chicago, IL 60622
Attention:

HARMON GLASS COMPANY
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
-------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:

4000 Olson Memorial Highway
Suite 600
Minneapolis, MN 55422-5334
Attention:
AMERICAN MANAGEMENT GROUP
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
-------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:

4000 Olson Memorial Highway
Suite 600
Minneapolis, MN 55422-5334
-12Attention:
DOVER GLASS COMPANY

By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
-------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:

4000 Olson Memorial Highway
Suite 600

Minneapolis, MN 55422-5334
Attention:

HARMON, LTD.
By: Michael A. Bevilacqua
-------------------------------Name: Michael A. Bevilacqua
Title: Treasurer
Address:
2001 Killebrew Drive, #400
Bloomington, MN 55425
Attention:

-13Accepted and agreed to in New York, New York as of the date first above written.
THE BANK OF NEW YORK, as Agent for the
Guaranteed Creditors
By: Richard A. Raffetto
-------------------------------Name: Richard A. Raffetto
Title: Vice President

Address:
One Wall Street
New York, New York 10286
Attention:

Telephone:
Facsimile:

-14-

(212) ____-______
(212) 635-6365 or 6366
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SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

The Company is the owner of all of the issued and outstanding stock of the
following corporations, except as noted below.
Name of Subsidiary
- ------------------

Apogee Enterprises International, Inc.
Prism Assurance, Ltd.
W.S.A., Inc.
Harmon, Inc.
Norment Industries, Inc.
Harmon Contract, Inc. (1)
Norshield Corporation
Harmon Contract Asia, Ltd. (2)
Harmon Contract Asia Sdn Bhd (3)
Harmon Contract U.K., Limited (4)
Harmon Europe S.A. (5)
Harmon LTS (6)
Milco Contracting, Inc. (7)
Viracon, Inc.
Viratec Thin Films, Inc. (8)
Viratec International, Inc. (9)
Viracon/Curvlite, Inc.
Tru Vue, Inc.
Harmon Glass Company
First Call, Inc. (13)
American Management Group (10)
Apogee Sales Corporation (10)
Harmon Glass of Canada Ltd. (10) (13)
The Glass Depot, Inc.
The Glass Depot of New York, Inc. (11)
Apogee Wausau Group, Inc.
Dover Glass Co. (12)
Adams Glass Co. (12) (13)
Glass Distributors, Inc. (12) (13)
Berlin Glass Co. (12) (13)
Harmon CFEM Facades (UK) Ltd. (14)
Harmon/CFEM Facades S.A. (15)
Harmon Facalu S.A. (15)
Harmon Sitraco S.A. (15)
Harmon Voisin S.A. (15)

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)

State or Country of
Incorporation
------------Barbados
Vermont
Minnesota
Minnesota
Delaware
Minnesota
Alabama
Minnesota
Malaysia
United Kingdom
France
France
Wisconsin
Minnesota
Minnesota
Barbados
Minnesota
Illinois
Minnesota
Florida
Maine
South Dakota
Canada
Minnesota
Minnesota
Wisconsin
Maine
Maine
Maine
Maine
United Kingdom
France
France
France
France

Owned by W.S.A., Inc.
Owned by Harmon Contract, Inc.
Owned by Harmon Contract Asia, Ltd.
99.99% owned by Harmon Contract, Inc. and .01% by Apogee Enterprises, Inc.
70% owned by various Apogee entities
99.5% owned by Harmon Europe S.A.
Owned by Apogee Wausau Group, Inc.
Owned by Viracon, Inc.
Owned by Viratec Thin Films, Inc.
Owned by Harmon Glass Company
Owned by The Glass Depot, Inc.
Owned by American Management Group
Inactive
99.99% owned by Harmon Europe S.A. and .01% by Apogee Enterprises, Inc.
Owned by Harmon Europe S.A.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' CONSENT

The Board of Directors
Apogee Enterprises, Inc.:
We consent to incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos.
33-60400, 333-20979, 333-32437, 33-13302, 33-66574 and 33-35944) on Forms S-3
and S-8 of Apogee Enterprises, Inc. of our report dated April 8, 1998, except
for Note 6 as to which the date is May 22, 1998, relating to the consolidated
balance sheets of Apogee Enterprises, Inc. and subsidiaries as of February 28,
1998 and March 1, 1997 and the related consolidated results of operations and
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended February 28,
1998, which report appears in the February 28, 1998 annual report on Form 10-K
of Apogee Enterprises, Inc.

KPMG Peat Marwick LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
May 29, 1998

<ARTICLE> 5
<MULTIPLIER> 1,000
<PERIOD-TYPE>
<FISCAL-YEAR-END>
<PERIOD-START>
<PERIOD-END>
<CASH>
<SECURITIES>
<RECEIVABLES>
<ALLOWANCES>
<INVENTORY>
<CURRENT-ASSETS>
<PP&E>
<DEPRECIATION>
<TOTAL-ASSETS>
<CURRENT-LIABILITIES>
<BONDS>
<PREFERRED-MANDATORY>
<PREFERRED>
<COMMON>
<OTHER-SE>
<TOTAL-LIABILITY-AND-EQUITY>
<SALES>
<TOTAL-REVENUES>
<CGS>
<TOTAL-COSTS>
<OTHER-EXPENSES>
<LOSS-PROVISION>
<INTEREST-EXPENSE>
<INCOME-PRETAX>
<INCOME-TAX>
<INCOME-CONTINUING>
<DISCONTINUED>
<EXTRAORDINARY>
<CHANGES>
<NET-INCOME>
<EPS-PRIMARY>
<EPS-DILUTED>

12-MOS

FEB-28-1998
MAR-02-1997
FEB-28-1998
7,853
0
152,072
6,951
64,183
262,244
264,124
134,187
464,121
177,768
0
0
0
9,151
100,450
464,121
912,831
912,831
733,430
137,109
0
1,428
7,334
(62,601)
(12,425)
(51,055)
0
0
0
(51,055)
(1.84)
(1.84)

<ARTICLE> 5
<RESTATED>
<MULTIPLIER> 1,000
<PERIOD-TYPE>
<FISCAL-YEAR-END>
<PERIOD-START>
<PERIOD-END>
<CASH>
<SECURITIES>
<RECEIVABLES>
<ALLOWANCES>
<INVENTORY>
<CURRENT-ASSETS>
<PP&E>
<DEPRECIATION>
<TOTAL-ASSETS>
<CURRENT-LIABILITIES>
<BONDS>
<PREFERRED-MANDATORY>
<PREFERRED>
<COMMON>
<OTHER-SE>
<TOTAL-LIABILITY-AND-EQUITY>
<SALES>
<TOTAL-REVENUES>
<CGS>
<TOTAL-COSTS>
<OTHER-EXPENSES>
<LOSS-PROVISION>
<INTEREST-EXPENSE>
<INCOME-PRETAX>
<INCOME-TAX>
<INCOME-CONTINUING>
<DISCONTINUED>
<EXTRAORDINARY>
<CHANGES>
<NET-INCOME>
<EPS-PRIMARY>
<EPS-DILUTED>

12-MOS

MAR-01-1997
MAR-03-1996
MAR-01-1997
4,065
0
211,556
7,297
58,261
305,194
243,278
124,479
500,964
176,621
0
0
0
9,294
162,855
500,964
950,777
950,777
798,976
102,388
0
2,917
6,964
39,532
13,802
26,220
0
0
0
26,220
.96
.93

<ARTICLE> 5
<RESTATED>
<MULTIPLIER> 1,000
<PERIOD-TYPE>
<FISCAL-YEAR-END>
<PERIOD-START>
<PERIOD-END>
<CASH>
<SECURITIES>
<RECEIVABLES>
<ALLOWANCES>
<INVENTORY>
<CURRENT-ASSETS>
<PP&E>
<DEPRECIATION>
<TOTAL-ASSETS>
<CURRENT-LIABILITIES>
<BONDS>
<PREFERRED-MANDATORY>
<PREFERRED>
<COMMON>
<OTHER-SE>
<TOTAL-LIABILITY-AND-EQUITY>
<SALES>
<TOTAL-REVENUES>
<CGS>
<TOTAL-COSTS>
<OTHER-EXPENSES>
<LOSS-PROVISION>
<INTEREST-EXPENSE>
<INCOME-PRETAX>
<INCOME-TAX>
<INCOME-CONTINUING>
<DISCONTINUED>
<EXTRAORDINARY>
<CHANGES>
<NET-INCOME>
<EPS-PRIMARY>
<EPS-DILUTED>

12-MOS

MAR-02-1996
FEB-26-1995
MAR-02-1996
7,389
0
165,140
6,772
54,484
258,559
174,227
95,742
386,136
142,477
0
0
0
4,506
134,415
386,136
871,147
871,147
752,624
80,369
149
0
5,697
26,611
9,820
17,835
0
0
0
17,835
.66
.65

Exhibit 99
LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995
CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS

The following discussion contains certain cautionary statements regarding
Apogee's business and results of operations which should be considered by
investors and others. These statements discuss matters which may in part be
discussed elsewhere in this Form 10-K and which may have been discussed in other
documents prepared by the Company pursuant to federal securities laws. This
discussion is intended to take advantage of the "safe harbor" provisions of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The following factors should
be considered in conjunction with any discussion of operations or results by the
Company or its representatives, including any forward-looking discussion, as
well as comments contained in press releases, presentations to securities
analysts or investors, or other communications by the Company.

In making these statements, the Company is not undertaking to address or
update each factor in future fillings or communications regarding the Company's
business or results, and is not undertaking to address how any of these factors
may have caused changes to discussions or information contained in previous
filings or communications. In addition, any of the matters discussed below may
have affected Apogee's past results and may affect future results, so that the
Company's actual results for first quarter fiscal 1999 and beyond may differ
materially from those expressed in prior communications. Though the Company has
attempted to list comprehensively these important cautionary factors, the
Company wishes to caution investors and others that other factors may in the
future prove to be important in affecting the Company's business or results of
operations.
INDUSTRY CONDITIONS
The Company is divided into three segments, each serving different markets.

The Glass Technologies segment (GT) serves the high-performance architectural
glass, computer, optical imaging and picture framing glass industries, which are
very competitive, highly responsive to new products and price sensitive.
Further, the products offered by Viracon are affected by changes in the
commercial construction industry and in general economic conditions. The
companies of this segment have been solidly profitable with rapidly growing
revenues, especially in the international markets. There can be no assurance the
current growth experience by the segment will continue or that the introduction
of new products or competitors will not significantly change market conditions.
The Auto Glass segment (AG) serves the repair and replacement auto glass
market which tends to be cyclical in nature and is influenced by a variety of
factors, including new car sales, speed limits, road conditions, the economy,
weather and average annual number of miles driven. This market's pricing
structure has changed significantly in recent years as insurance companies seek
volume pricing at discounted rates from historical levels and attempt to enter
into preferred or exclusive provider arrangements with a limited number of
providers. As a result, margins have narrowed at the retail level and, to a
lesser extent, at wholesale and manufacturing levels. There can be no assurance
that the Company will be able to improve or maintain its margins or that it will
be selected by insurance companies as a provider of replacement and repair auto
glass on a regional or national basis.
The Building Products and Services segment (BPS) serves certain sectors of the
United States nonresidential construction, institutional, detention and security
building markets, which tend to be cyclical in nature and sensitive to changes
in general economic conditions. Nonresidential construction, particularly the
domestic office building segment, declined significantly in the early to
mid-1990's. As a result of the declining market, the Company experienced reduced

margins and operating losses for the segment in recent years. In fiscal 1998,
the Company decided to close or exit its European and Asian curtainwall
operations. See "Exit of International Curtainwall Operations" below. In fiscal
1998, industry conditions for the domestic nonresidential construction market
improved, though there can be no assurance regarding future market conditions.
BPS is subject to normal subcontractor's risks, including material and wage
increases, construction and transportation work stoppages and contractor credit
worthiness, in addition, office vacancy rates, tax laws concerning real estate
and interest rates are important factors which affect nonresidential
construction markets.

COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT

The Company's business segments operate in industries that are highly
competitive and that, other than the industry in which GT's Viratec Thin Films
unit competes, are fairly mature. In addition, the barriers to entry for several
of these industries are not significant. Therefore, the Company expects its
markets to remain highly competitive. The Company faces competition from other
major contractors, subcontractors, manufacturers, fabricators, wholesalers,
retailers and installers in each of its markets, certain of which may have
greater financial or other resources than the Company.
The Glass Technologies segment competes with several large integrated glass
manufacturers and numerous smaller specialty fabricators. Product pricing and
service are the primary competitive factors in this market. The markets for the
products of this segment are also characterized by frequent refinement and
enhancement, new product introductions and by declining average selling prices
over product life cycles.

The Auto Glass segment competes with other auto glass shops, glass
distributors, car dealers, body shops and fabrication facilities on the basis of
pricing, national coverage and customer service. Its competition consists of
national and regional chains as well as significant local competition.

Competitive factors have contributed to declines in sales volumes in BPS' New
Construction unit. The curtainwall subcontractor business is primarily price
competitive. The Architectural Products unit competes against several major
aluminum window manufacturers. The Architectural Products unit primarily
services the custom portion of this market in which the primary competitive
factors are product quality, reliable service and the ability to provide
technical engineering and design services.
There can be no assurance that the Company will continue to be able to compete
effectively in its markets.

EXIT OF INTERNATIONAL CURTAINWALL OPERATIONS
During fiscal 1998, the Company made the strategic decision to close or exit
its European and Asian international curtainwall operations in order to focus
more selectively on higher-margin domestic curtainwall business. As a result of
such restructuring, the Company recorded nonrecurring pre-tax charges of $26.0
million and $35.9 million in the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 1998,
respectively. While the Company believes these restructuring charges are
adequate to cover all expenses the Company has incurred or will incur in order
to close or exit such operations, there can be no assurance given that
additional charges will not be required to be made in future periods. The
Company faces related risks and uncertainties, including the inability to
effectively manage restructured business units and the inability to effectively
manage costs or difficulties related to the operation of the businesses or
execution of restructuring or exit activities. The occurrence of one or more of
such events may have a material adverse effect on the business, financial
condition or results of operations of the Company.
YEAR 2000 ISSUE

The Company is reviewing the potential impact of the "Year 2000" date change

which involves the inability of certain software and hardware systems to
properly recognize and process date information relating to the Year 2000. The
Company has assigned a team to evaluate the nature and extent of the work
required to make the Company's systems, products and infrastructure Year 2000
compliant. A number of existing systems projects are either underway or under
review within the Company's various business units to incorporate Year 2000
compliance, the cost of which has not been determined. The Company continues to
evaluate the estimated costs associated with these efforts to ensure that such
systems, products and infrastructure are Year 2000 compliant. While these ongoing efforts will involve additional costs, the Company believes, based on
available information, that it is and will continue to effectively manage the
Year 2000 transition without any material adverse effect on the Company's
business, results of operations or financial condition. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, there can be no guarantee that the Company's efforts will completely
mitigate the Year 2000 issue.

In addition to issues relating to internal Year 2000 compliance, the Company
is dependent upon third party suppliers and large customers to remedy their own
Year 2000 problems. There can be no guarantee that the systems of other
companies on which the Company's systems rely will be timely converted, or that
failure to convert by another company, or a conversion that is incompatible with
the Company's systems, would not have a material adverse effect on the Company.
PLANNED CAPITAL EXPENDITURES (GT SEGMENT)

The GT's segment's continued growth depends to a significant degree on its
ability to expand its production facilities and to minimize the disruption
caused by this expansion. In response to continued strong demand for the GT
segment's high-performance architectural glass products, the Company has
undertaken a capital investment program, the primary purpose of which is to
increase production capacity and productivity of its GT segment. Pursuant to
this plan, the segment's Viracon unit is expected to complete construction of a
new architectural glass fabrication complex in Statesboro, Georgia in fiscal
2000, the Tru Vue unit is expected to move to a new facility in fiscal 1999 and
Viratec's Optium line is expected to move in fiscal 1999 to a location closer to
the flow of customers' computer monitor supply chains. This plan contemplates
the expenditure of an amount that is approximately three times larger than that
of any other annual capital expenditure plan in the Company's history. The
Company believes that completion of these expansion plans on time and within
budget will be important in enabling the GT segment to continue to satisfy the
demand for its products and services. Although the Company believes it has the
capital and managerial resources to execute these plans, there can be no
assurance that the planned expansions and moves will be completed on time or
that, once completed, will produce the improved operating and financial results
expected by the Company.

CONSOLIDATION OF AUTO GLASS INSTALLATION INDUSTRY (AG SEGMENT)
The auto glass installation industry is consolidating in response to insurance
companies' growing preference to interact with only a few major providers that
are capable of offering efficient claims management services throughout a large
geographic region. During fiscal 1998, the auto glass installation industry's
two largest companies merged, resulting in a company with more than 20% of the
U.S. auto glass installation market. While this merger resulted in the Company's
AG segment becoming the second largest repair and replacement auto glass
company, it created a stronger competitor for AG and may precipitate further
industry consolidation. If the Company's AG segment is unable to grow quickly
enough, whether internally or through acquisitions, it may not be able to remain
a viable competitor in this industry. Further, the consolidation of this
industry may change the scope of services traditionally offered by auto glass
providers. For example, this consolidation may result in insurance companies
requiring auto glass providers (1) to offer a broader array of claims management
services such as standardized reporting of replacement claims or (2) to provide
collision repair services and process collision claims for types of automotive
repairs traditionally served by autobody companies. The failure by the AG
segment to timely respond to such changes could have a material adverse effect
on its, and the Company's, business, financial condition or results of

operations.
DEPENDENCE ON CERTAIN CUSTOMERS; CLAIMS MANAGEMENT (AG SEGMENT )
During fiscal 1998, the AG segment's five largest customers accounted for
approximately 20% of such segment's sales. No customer accounted for more than
10% of the AG segment's sales during fiscal 1998. The Company is highly
dependent on recurring revenues generated by the AG segment's insurance company
customers and could be adversely affected by changes in such insurance
companies' policies concerning coverage for auto glass repair and replacement
claims. Failure by insurance companies to cover auto glass repair and
replacement claims or the imposition of increased deductibles with respect to
coverage of such claims could significantly reduce the AG segment's sales
generated through its insurance company customers. Many of the AG segment's
arrangements and relationship with its insurance company customers are not
evidenced by written contracts and are therefore terminable at any time. A
significant decrease in business from the AG segment's insurance company
customers would have a material adverse effect on the AG segment's operations
and, therefore, could have material adverse effect on the Company's business,
financial condition or results of operations.
Further, the repair and replacement auto glass industry's pricing structure
has changed significantly in recent years as insurance companies seek volume
pricing at discounted rates from historical levels and attempt to enter into
preferred or exclusive provider arrangements with a limited number of providers.
As a result, the ability of auto glass service providers to handle insurance
company claims quickly and efficiently is becoming more and more important in
the auto glass business. If the AG segment is unable to provide competitive
claims management service to its insurance company customers, it could have a
material adverse effect on the AG segment's operations and, therefore, could
have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition or
results of operations.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION (AG SEGMENT)
Many states have statutes or regulations prohibiting certain referral
practices by insurers. Approximately 30 states currently have statutes or
regulations that prohibit an insurance company from requiring a policyholder to
use a particular vendor. In addition, new laws or regulations relating to the
referral practices of insurance companies may be adopted in these or other
states. The AG segment does not enter into arrangements with insurance companies
pursuant to which such insurance companies require policyholders to use the AG
segment for auto glass replacement or repair services. Although the Company does
not believe that existing government regulation of insurance company referral
practices will have a material adverse effect on the Company, no assurance can
be given that future regulation of such referral practices will not have a
material adverse effect on its, and the Company's, business, financial condition
or results of operations.
EFFECT OF WEATHER CONDITIONS (AG SEGMENT)

The severity of weather has historically affected the AG segment's sales and
operating income, with severe weather generating increased sales and income and
mild weather resulting in lower sales and income. Accordingly, mild weather
conditions may adversely affect the AG segment's results of operations.

